Council

AGENDA

Kent County Council

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL

Wednesday, 12th November, 2008, at 2.00 Ask for: Andrew Tait
pm

Medway Room, Sessions House, County Telephone 01622 694342
Hall, Maidstone

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

1. Membership
Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), Mr | S Chittenden,

Mr J A Davies and Mr | T N Jones.

2. Declarations of Interest by Members for Items on the agenda

3. Application to add two public footpaths at Grasmere Pastures, Whitstable to the
Definite Map of Public Rights of Way (Pages 1 - 30)

4. Application to register land known as Barton Playing Field, Canterbury as a new
Town Green (Pages 31 - 118)

EXEMPT ITEMS

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services and Local Leadership
(01622) 694002

Tuesday, 4 November 2008



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 3

Application to add two Public Footpaths at Grasmere Pastures,
Whitstable to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s Regulation
Committee Member Panel on Wednesday 12™ November 2008.

Recommendation: | recommend that the County Council makes a Definitive Map
Modification Order to modify the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way (and
accompanying Statement) by adding two Public Footpaths over land known as
Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable, as shown at Appendix A to this report.

Local Members: Mr. M. Harrison and Mr. M. Dance Unrestricted item

Introduction

1.

The County Council has received an application from local resident Mrs. E. Watkins (“the
applicant”) for a Definitive Map Modification Order to modify the legal record of Public
Rights of Way, known as the Definitive Map and Statement, by adding two Public
Footpaths (“the claimed routes”) over land known as Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable,
as shown at Appendix A to this report.

Procedure

2. The County Council is the ‘surveying authority’ for the purposes of public rights of way

and is responsible for holding and keeping up to date a map showing all the recorded
public rights of way in the county. This map is a legal document and is known as the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way. Under section 53(2) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”), the County Council has a legal duty to keep the
map under continuous review and to make such modifications to it as appear requisite in
consequence of certain events.

Under section 53(5) of the 1981 Act, anyone may make an application to the County
Council for a modification to be made to the Definitive Map and/or Statement. Such an
application must be made in the form specified in the Wildlife and Countryside (Definitive
Maps and Statements) Regulations 1993 and might consist of a request to record a new
Public Right of Way, to delete an existing Public Right of Way, to upgrade or downgrade
the status of a route already shown on the map, or to amend any particulars contained
within the statement accompanying the Definitive Map.

As a standard procedure set out in the Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act, the County Council
has a duty to investigate the matters stated in the application, to consult with every local
authority whose area includes the land to which the application relates and, as soon as
practicable after determining the application, to give notice of the decision by serving a
copy of it on the applicant and any known owners or occupiers of the land in question.

The Countryside Access Objectives and Policy document (dated July 2005) sets out the

County Council’'s own priorities for keeping the Definitive Map and Statement up to date.
The main priorities are:

Page 1



A. The investigation and determination of outstanding applications to modify the
Definitive Map;

B. The resolution of anomalies and mapping errors where essential for the effective
management of the PROW network; and

C. The publication of Definitive Maps and Statements for those areas excluded from
the original Definitive Map.

Definitive Map modification cases will normally be investigated in order of receipt, except
in any of the following circumstances, where a case may be investigated sooner:
e Where it satisfies one of the key principles set out in paragraph 11.1 of the
Countryside Access Policy;
e Where the physical existence of the route on the ground is threatened by
development; or
e Where investigation of a case would involve substantially the same evidence
as a route currently under investigation or about to be investigated.

Applicant’s submission

6.

The application has been made on the grounds that the paths concerned have been
used ‘as of right’ over a period in excess of 20 years. In support of the application, the
applicant submitted 61 user evidence forms demonstrating use of the claimed routes.

Description of claimed routes

7.

The claimed routes run across a field known locally as Grasmere Pastures which is
situated in Whitstable and lies immediately adjacent to the Chestfield parish boundary.
The field is bounded to the south by the rear of properties in Grasmere Road and to the
west by the rear of properties in Richmond Road. To the east, the field is bounded by
other fields (separated by vegetation) and the rear of properties in Laxton Way. To the
north of Grasmere Pastures is a route known as ‘Ridgeway’ which is recorded on the
County Council’s Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way as Bridleway CW40. Beyond
‘Ridgeway’ lies the John Wilson Business Park and a large supermarket.

In this case, there are two claimed footpaths; the first, which shall be referred to as
‘claimed path A’ runs from Grasmere Road in a generally northerly direction for
approximately 465 metres to a junction with Ridgeway, whilst the second, which shall be
referred to as ‘claimed path B’ runs from Richmond Road in a generally easterly
direction for approximately 335 metres to a junction with claimed path A. The claimed
routes are shown on the plan at Appendix A.

Background information

9.

Members should be aware, for information only, that the land over which the claimed
routes run, Grasmere Pastures, was the subject of a separate application made under
the Commons Registration Act 1965 to register the land as a new Village Green on the
basis of the recreational usage of the land by the local inhabitants for a period of over 20
years ‘as of right'. The matter was considered by a Regulation Committee Member
Panel meeting held on 30" April 2007 at which it was resolved to reject the application
on the basis that those using the land for recreational purposes had ‘deferred’ to the
landowner’s agricultural activities on the land.

Page 2



Summary of mapping evidence

10.When dealing with applications to modify the Definitive Map, the County Council has a

11.

duty to investigate the matters stated in the application1. As a standard procedure which
forms part of the investigative process, Officers will therefore research whether there is
any evidence of the claimed route(s) having been identified on historic mapping (i.e.
those maps that precede the publication of the first Definitive Map in 1952). For
example, the depiction of a route on the First Edition Ordnance Survey maps (c1840) as
a ‘public road’ can provide good supporting evidence of its status as a public right of
way. Indeed, in some cases the mapping evidence is so strong that it is possible to
conclude that a public right of way is reasonably alleged to subsist on mapping evidence
alone; this is because there is a well established legal maxim which states ‘once a
highway, always a highway®.

In this case, there is no mapping evidence in support of the application and the historic
maps consulted do not show any evidence of the existence of the claimed routes.

Summary of documentary evidence

12.The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 requires that when investigating such

applications, the County Council must consider ‘all other relevant evidence available’. In
this respect, | have considered the evidence which was put forward in the recent
application to register the land at Grasmere Pastures as a new Village Green. Although
this was an application concerning another area of legislation (the Commons
Registration Act 1965), relevant evidence was provided during the course of the
determination process in respect of the claimed footpath.

13.An objection to the Village Green application was lodged on behalf of the same objectors

in the present case. Included within the objection bundle were witness statements from

relevant parties and appropriate extracts are reproduced below:

e Mr. M. Lewer, director of O.W. Presland Ltd, states at paragraph 24 of his witness
statement: ‘Similarly, with walking, the site grew hay for part of the year, but like all
farming land, it lay un-cultivated for part of the year. | knew that some local people
used to walk on the path on the periphery of the site, with or without dog, and others
used a track across the site [shown on an attached plan, roughly corresponding with
claimed path A], as a shortcut. Walkers usually kept to the tracks on the periphery of
the site and the track across the site...

e Mr. P. Watkins, Strategic Land and Planning Manager of Kitewood Estates Ltd,
states at paragraphs 2 and 3 of his statement: ‘/ visited the site in the 1990 — 1996
period on a number of occasions, at these visits | only saw people walking along
paths on the periphery of the site, some with dogs... | visited the site on a number of
occasions in the period 2000 — 2004 and only saw people walking the tracks on the
periphery of the site and on [other tracks, including one roughly corresponding with
claimed path AJ .

e Mr. K. Goldsmith, tenant of the site between 1984 and 2004, states at paragraphs 2
and 3 of his statement: ‘during the time that | rented the site, the hay crop extended
over all of the site and there were tracks on the perimeter of the site and one track
which crossed the site [roughly corresponding with claimed path A]... in the autumn

! wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 — Schedule 14, paragraph 3(1)(a)
% From Dawes v Hawkins [1860] 8 CB (NS) 848, but note that an established highway may cease to be a
highway if closed by statutory process (e.g. a Public Path Extinguishment Order)

Page 3



of 1989, | ploughed the field in its entirety, including the perimeter track. The only
track that | left when | ploughed the field was [claimed path B]... After this process
was complete, | reinstated the perimeter edging’. He adds, at paragraph 5 of his
statement, ‘during the period that the hay was growing, people who came onto the
site kept to the tracks and did not disturb the hay.’.

14.1 have also consulted the County Council’s records for available aerial photographs of

the site taken during the last 20 years. There are two aerial images available:

e The first, taken in 1999 (attached at Appendix B), clearly shows the existence of
defined tracks, across and around the perimeter of the field. The claimed paths (A
and B) are both clearly identifiable.

e The nextimage, taken in 2003 (attached at Appendix C), is of particular interest as it
actually shows the harvesting of the hay taking place with farming machinery and hay
bales clearly visible. Despite the fact that the harvesting is in progress, it is still
possible to see the tracks over the field which indicates that they were of a well-
defined, well-used and near-permanent nature.

User evidence

15.Included with the application were 61 user evidence forms. These forms demonstrate

use of the claimed routes on foot over a long period, with the earliest use dating back to
1959. Of those 61 witnesses, over half (36) have used the claimed route(s) for over 20
years (as at the date of application) for purposes such as dog walking, recreational
walking or access to shops and other facilities in Chestfield. Many of the witnesses have
used the claimed route(s) on a daily basis and nearly all of the witnesses state that they
had used the claimed route(s) freely and unchallenged until 2004 when fencing was
erected across the path thereby preventing access. Some witnesses also recall two
notices being erected at the same time as the fencing appeared, containing wording to
the effect of 'private property - no trespassing’, along ‘Ridgeway’ to the north of the site
(although it is unclear as to the exact location of these notices and whether they were
placed at the entrance of claimed path A onto Grasmere Pastures).

16.1n addition to the user evidence forms submitted with the application, the applicant also

identified a number of other people with evidence of use during the course of the
investigation process. In total, 21 withnesses were interviewed (including the applicant) in
order to gain a more detailed understanding of the history of the claimed routes and to
ensure that there had been actual use of the claimed routes as public rights of way
rather than general wandering at will over the wider area of Grasmere Pastures. In
addition to the evidence provided in the user evidence forms, those interviewed
confirmed that the route had always been clearly visible on the ground (having become
well worn and defined through heavy usage) and that the route was in regular usage by
other walkers.

17.The conclusion to be drawn from the user evidence (a summary of which is attached at

Appendix D) is that there is a substantial body of user evidence from a large number of
people which confirms use of the claimed routes over a period well in excess of 20
years.

Page 4



Consultations

18.Consultations have been carried out with local Councils (as required by the 1981 Act)
and, in addition, local Councillors and the Ramblers’ Association have been contacted
for their views. Chestfield Parish Council has written in support of the application. No
other responses have been received.

Landowner

19.The land over which the claimed routes run is owned by O.W. Presland Ltd. In
additional, Mr. N. Sands is a tenant of the land and Kitewood Estates have an option to
purchase the land. Collectively, these three parties have lodged an objection to the
application (“the objectors”). The objection contains a statement setting out the grounds
of objection (attached at Appendix E) and is supported by witness statements from Mr.
Michael Lewer CBE QC (director of O. W. Presland Ltd.) and Mr. Norman Sands (a
tenant of the land since 2004).

20.The main substance of the objection is that ‘the applicant has failed to identify the
necessary period of 20 years by reference to any commencement or termination date,
and has failed to demonstrate the use of the paths by the public as a right without any
interruption’. This is based on the following grounds:

e That a fence was erected around Grasmere Pastures by the tenant on 5 October
2004 and on 6™ October 2005 a bund and trench were created around the boundary
of the site. The fence, bund and trench have been breached and torn down in places
and therefore the use of the paths was by force and not ‘as of right'.

e That any use of the claimed paths would have been interrupted on an annual
frequency since 1984 due to the taking of a hay crop and as such the applicant has
not shown that the land has been used for a full period of 20 years.

Legal tests

21.Section 56 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Definitive Map and
Statement shall be conclusive evidence of the routes shown and section 53 of the same
Act also places a general duty on the County Council to keep the Definitive Map and
Statement under continuous review and to make such modifications as appear requisite
in consequence of certain ‘events’. One such event, contained in section 53(3)(c)(i)
refers to ‘the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all
other relevant evidence available to them) shows that a right of way which is not shown
in the statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over the land in the area to
which the map relates...’.

22.In considering an application to add routes to the Definitive Map, it is also necessary to
take into account section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 which states that ‘where a way
over any land, other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not
give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years, the way is
to be deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it'. The period of twenty years
referred to is to be calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to
use the way is brought into question.

Page 5



23.Alternatively, a Public Right of Way may be established over a shorter period of time
under Common Law. In the case of Mann v. Brodie (1885), Lord Blackburn considered
that where the public had used a route “for so long and in such a manner that the
[landowner]... must have been aware that members of the public were acting under a
belief that the right of way had been dedicated and had taken no steps to disabuse them
of them belief, it is not conclusive evidence, but evidence which those who have to find
the fact may find that there was a dedication by the owner whoever he was”, i.e. the
dedication of a way as a Public Right of Way can be implied by evidence of use by the
public (no minimum period is required) and of acquiescence of that use by the
landowner.

Analysis

24.As there is no substantive mapping or documentary evidence in support of the claim the
case relies entirely upon the user evidence presented and the statutory principles set out
in section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980.

Date of Challenge

25.The first step to identify the date upon which the right of the public to use the route was
first brought into question (“the date of challenge”). There is no precise definition of what
constitutes ‘bringing into question’ the public’s right to use a particular route, but in a
recent House of Lords case known as Godmanchester’, Lord Hoffman quoted with
approval the words of Lord Denning (in a previous case) who said this: “... | think that, in
order that the right of the public should have been ‘brought into question’, the landowner
must challenge it by some means sufficient to bring it home to the public that he is
challenging their right to use the way, so that they may be apprised of the challenge and
have a reasonable opportunity to meeting it... whatever the public do, whether they
oppose the landowner’s action or not, their right is ‘brought into question’ as soon as the
landowner puts up a notice or in some way makes it clear to the public that he is
challenging their right to use the way.’.

26.In his statement, Mr. M. Lewer (the landowner) explains that, in 2000, his company (O.
W. Presland Ltd) entered into an option agreement with Kitewood Estates Ltd (a
developer) who were concerned to stop trespass onto the site and this led to the
erection of fencing and notices together with the creation of trenches and a bund.
However, this is at odds with the evidence of his tenant, Mr. N. Sands, who completed a
grazing agreement for the land in 2004. He states: ‘my intention is to use the land for
grazing... clearly, in order to use the site for grazing, it had to be secured. Consequently,
on 8" October 2004, | erected fencing on the site... [and] | also dug a ditch’.

27.Despite this obvious conflict as to the purpose of the fencing (i.e. whether it was put
there to keep the public out or to prevent the egress of grazing animals), it is clear from
the evidence of the applicant that the effect of the fencing was to challenge the public’s
right to use the land. It was also the evidence of Mr. Sands, that he had verbally
challenged those entering Grasmere Pastures and placed ‘no trespassing’ signs on the
newly erected fencing®.

R (on the application of Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and
Rural Affairs [2007] UKHL 28

* The witness statement of Mr. Sands reads: ‘whilst the fence was being erected, | stopped everyone | saw
attempting to come on to the site and told them that they were trespassing. | also asked for their names and

Page 6



28.Although it appears that the effect of the fencing and trench was short lived (insofar as
some parts of the fencing were quickly broken down and makeshift bridges over the
trenches were created) and that use of the land resumed without considerable delay, it is
clear that the erection of the fencing was more than a mere temporary interruption to
use, and constituted an overt action on behalf of the landowner intended to exclude the
public from using the land that clearly brought the right of the public to use the claimed
paths into question; indeed, it was the fencing which appears to have triggered the
application to record the claimed routes.

29.1 have therefore taken 2004 as the date of challenge and have considered very carefully
the period 1984 to 2004 (the 'material period') in my investigation. Despite the objectors’
assertion to the contrary, it should be noted that there is no requirement for the applicant
to specify the date of challenge or material period upon which s/he relies; the County
Council can consider evidence of use over any 20 year period®.

Evidence of use ‘as of right’

30.In order to satisfy the provisions of section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980, it is
necessary to demonstrate that use of the claimed routes has been ‘as of right’, or
without force, secrecy or permission®. Following interviews with a number of local
people, it is clear that there has been regular use of the claimed routes on foot for a full
period of 20 years between 1984 and 2004; this is illustrated in the user evidence table
and interview summaries provided at Appendix D.

31.There is no evidence from any of the users that their use was by force, that it was
secretive or that they had obtained permission to use the claimed routes. There is,
however, evidence that the claimed routes were in regular usage and the existence of
the claimed routes was common local knowledge. There are several instances where
users were first told about the routes by the vendors of their properties when they first
moved to the area and all of those interviewed stated that they had regularly witnessed
use by others. This is evidenced by the defined tracks shown on the aerial photographs
in 1999 and 2003.

32.The onus is on those denying the existence of the right of way to prove compulsion,
secrecy of license’. Although fencing (and possibly notices) were erected in 2004, the
objectors have not been able to produce evidence indicating that they attempted to
exclude the public and/or had no intention to dedicate a public right of way prior to that
time, despite the fact that O.W. Presland Ltd appears to have owned the land since
1959. It does not appear that there have been any challenges to use during the material
period and indeed none of the witnesses recall any notices or obstructions to prevent
their use of the path during the material period.

addresses, but none would supply those details. Every person that | requested to leave the site did so. At the
same time as | had the fence erected, | erected ‘no trespassing’ signs’.

®Thisis a subtly different situation to that of Village Green applications where the twenty-year period is
normally (subject to certain limited exceptions) the twenty years immediately preceding the date of application.
® R v Oxfordshire County Council and another, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 2 All ER 385

" Jones v Bates [1938] 2 All ER 237

Page 7



Recreational use of the land

33.There is another issue, related to ‘as of right’, which concerns the type of use of the
claimed routes. As mentioned above, the land over which the claimed routes run was
subject to a previous (unsuccessful) application to register the whole of the field as a
Village Green on the basis of recreational usage. A public right of way is a right to pass
and re-pass along a particular route from A to B and there is therefore a need to
distinguish between this type of direct linear usage and any use of the route that was
incidental to other activities which may have taken place on the land (i.e. kite flying,
blackberry picking etc.).

34.A similar situation arose in a case known as Dyfed8 in which an application to record a
circular route around a lake as a Public Footpath was considered. In that case it was
held that ‘if... there had been use by the public of a footpath for pure walking (i.e. not
merely ancillary to the recreational activities such as sunbathing, fishing and swimming),
in my judgement such evidence was capable of founding a case of deemed dedication of
the footpath whether or not such walking was itself purely recreational as opposed to
walking for business purposes. There is no rule that use of a highway for mere
recreational purposes is incapable of creating a public right of way’.

35.At Grasmere Pastures, it is clear that some of the use of the claimed routes would have
been ancillary to other recreational activities which took place on the land but that is not
to say that if a person were walking their dog along a defined route, their use was not
characteristic of someone exercising a public right of way along a defined route as
opposed to a general right of recreation.

36.There is also strong evidence that a significant proportion of the use that did take place
was not attributable to other those other recreational activities. Several of the witnesses
refer to use of the route as access to shops (there is a Sainsburys and B&Q located on
the nearly John Wilson Business Park) or to other facilities in the village of Chestfield,
such as the Medical Centre or as a shortcut to visit friends. These are all legitimate uses
that it would normally be expected to find a public right of way being used for.

37.As confirmed in recent case law, ‘it is also well established that a highway should have a
defined route...subject to such a clearly established usage, the route of a highway can
and should be defined with some precision’g. In this case, the evidence of the users and,
in particular, the aerial photographs (which taken several years apart) clearly confirm
that defined routes were walked over the field.

Interruptions to use

38.1t is the case of the objectors that use of the claimed paths did not continue ‘without
interruption’ during the material period due to the use of the land for agricultural
purposes. In his witness statement, Mr. Lewer (company director) provides a detailed
account of the history of the land and its various uses. He explains that from 1984, the
land has been farmed by tenants who would take a hay crop on an annual basis and, in
1989, the land was ploughed, harrowed and re-seeded.

8 Dyfed County Council v Secretary of State for Wales (1990) 59 P&CR 275
°R. (on the application of Gloucestershire County Council) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport
and the Regions and the Ramblers’ Association [2000]

Page 8



39.Clearly, the agricultural use of the land would have led to temporary and relatively minor

interruptions (in the context of 20 years) to use whilst such activities took place. Hence,
the question to be considered is whether the agricultural use of the land sufficiently
interrupted use of the claimed routes to the extent that the users of the claimed routes
would have been aware that their use was being challenged.

40.In the Fernlee Estates’ case, the issue of temporary interruptions caused by the

41

intermittent dumping of building materials on a claimed bridleway was considered. The
judge in that case held that interruptions of a temporary nature that were not placed with
the intention of preventing use of the way did not constitute an interruption to use for the
purposes of s31(1) of the Highways Act 1980; he concluded that an interruption ‘must be
some physical and actual interruption which prevents enjoyment of the way rather than
merely acts which challenge the user while allowing it to go on’ and added ‘a mere
absence of continuity in the de facto user will not stop time running [as] there must be
interference with the enjoyment of a right of passage’. In support of this, he further stated
‘the circumstances of and the intention with which the barring of the way takes place are
relevant. For example, the blocking of a road by a broken down vehicle would not
amount to a relevant interruption’.

.In the present case, the agricultural use of the land was a use which co-existed with the

use of the claimed routes but it does not appear to have interfered with the walkers’ use
of the route, save for relatively short periods on a seasonal basis whilst agricultural
operations and machinery occupied the land over which the claimed paths run. Any
interruptions to use that did take place were as a result of the tenant’s agricultural
operations and not as a result of direct actions by the landowner to challenge public use
of the land.

Lack of intention to dedicate

42.Mr. Lewer, in his statement, asserts that ‘when this [the ploughing, harrowing and

seeding of the land] took place, there could have been no doubt in the mind of anyone
who tried to use the field in that period that the owner of the site, through his farmer, had
no intention to dedicate any part of the site permanently to them as a footpath or
otherwise.’. It is the objector's case, therefore, that the agricultural use of the land was,
in itself, sufficient to bring to the attention of the users that the landowner had no
intention to dedicate the claimed routes as Public Footpaths.

43.The owner's lack of intention to dedicate was considered in some detail in the

Godmanchester case. On this point, Lord Hoffman made the following comments: ‘/ think
that upon the true construction of s 31(1), ‘intention’ means what the relevant audience,
namely the users of the way, would reasonably have understood the landowner’s
intention to be... not what the owner subjectively intended nor what particular users of
the way subjectively assumed, but whether a reasonable user would have understood
that the owner was intending... to ‘disabuse [him]’ of the notion that the way was a public
highway'. Lord Scott, in the same case, agreed and provided some practical examples:
‘Acts blocking passage along the path by, for example, the padlocking of gates would be
likely to be sufficient. Regular challenges to users of the path might suffice. But
expressions of intention never disclosed or circulated privately would not, in my opinion,
be ‘sufficient’. The reason they would not is that they would do nothing to curb the public

"% Fernlee Estates Ltd v City and County of Swansea and another [2001] All ER 237

Page 9



user of the path, or to disabuse users of the path of any belief that they had a right to
use it, or to make clear to those users who did not care or give a thought to whether or
not they had a right to use the path that they were trespassers’.

44.The essence of Godmanchester was therefore to make it clear that overt and
contemporaneous acts are required in order to show a lack of intention to dedicate and,
in addition, that such acts must be communicated to users of the claimed routes so that
they may reasonably understand the landowner's intention. It is clear from the
submission of the objectors in relation to the Village Green application that the
landowner and his tenant were aware of the use of the tracks over the field; indeed, the
tenant himself admits that he went so far as to leave claimed path B and reinstate the
perimeter track when he ploughed the field in its entirety in 1989.

45.No evidence has been presented (either by the applicant or the objectors) to suggest
that any acts were undertaken during the material period (until, of course, the erection of
the fencing in 2004) to demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate the claimed routes,
either by wholly preventing or, at the very minimum, by challenging the use of the routes
by walkers.

Conclusion

46.In Norton and Bagshaw”, it was held that there is a distinct difference between the
wording of section 53(3)(c)(i) and that in deciding whether a Public Right of Way exists,
two tests must be applied; whether a right of way subsists (known as 'test A') and
whether a right of way is reasonably alleged to subsist ('test B'). It was also held that for
test B to be met, it is necessary to show whether a reasonable person, having
considered all the relevant evidence available, could reasonably allege a public right of
way to exist. In Emery12, the Court of Appeal held that it was possible to make an Order
provided that the lower test (test B) had been met, and that in cases where there was
credible evidence of public use over a twenty-year period, it would be appropriate to
make the Order.

47.Therefore, having carefully considered the evidence and for the reasons cited above, |
consider that there is a credible body of user evidence to show that the claimed routes
has been used for a period of twenty years and little evidence to show that the
landowner had, prior to 2004, directly challenged this use or demonstrated a lack of
intention to dedicate the claimed routes. | have thus concluded from my investigations
that, on a balance of probabilities, a public right of way on foot is at least reasonably
alleged to subsist along the routes claimed.

Recommendation

48.1 recommend that the County Council makes a Definitive Map Modification Order to
modify the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way (and accompanying Statement) by
adding two Public Footpaths over land known as Grasmere Pastures at Whitstable, as
shown at Appendix A to this report.

"Rv. Secretary of State for the Environment ex parte Norton and Bagshaw (1994) 68 P&CR 402
'2 R v. Secretary of State for Wales ex parte Emery [1998] 4 All ER 367

Page 10



Further details on procedure for information only

49.The effect of the refusal of this application would simply be that the County Council
would take no action to recording the claimed routes as Public Footpaths on the
Definitive Map. However, the applicant would have a right of appeal against the County
Council’s decision to the Secretary of State and this may result in the County Council
being directed to make a Definitive Map Modification Order.

50.The effect of accepting the recommendation would be for a Definitive Map Modification
Order to be made to add the claimed routes to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of
Way. This Order would then be subject to a formal public consultation and, if no
objections are received to the Order, the County Council itself has the power to confirm
the Order and modify the Definitive Map accordingly. However, in the event of objections
being received would be sent to the Planning Inspectorate for determination, most likely
by way of a local Public Inquiry.

Accountable Officer:

Dr. Linda Davies — Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk

Case Officer:

Miss. Melanie McNeir — Tel: 01622 221511 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Environment and Waste Division,
Environment and Regeneration Directorate, Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please
contact the case officer for further details.

Background documents

APPENDIX A — Plan showing claimed routes at Grasmere Pastures
APPENDIX B — Aerial photograph dated 1999

APPENDIX C — Aerial photograph dated 2003

APPENDIX D — Summary of user evidence

APPENDIX E — Objectors’ statement

Page 11




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



1 66500.000000

APPENDIX A:
Plan showing claimed footpaths
At Grasmere Pastures, Whitstable

v
W
W
N
i
166

John Wilson |
Business|Park _

/
/i I
Claimed path B - I
from Richmond Road I :
to claimed path A ! \ .
! {'. \
/ ) ' Loy ol :.ﬂ \
¥ oo \ | | ClaimedpathA- .p
. ] - —— 1 from Grasmere Road )
2 B = ~ to The Ridgeway 8
2 \‘-," . - - — [\ Al
% Il & .Z’{fﬁ, o LW
1 7
! L
J . / :
SN / ‘ i
R AShERE~TY, v
04p
=) =
X o 11m
X oy} ¥ \
e /S i
g)— D - ' ‘é
‘ ' 2\ Cricket :
7
S 2 Y] % = | Ground
Ao
e '~
Pai‘h ==
Y N
A
L
& \
¢
c, A : :
:é //wz‘ 1 . " ] CHERRY DHOHAI-?DB é .
& i = = 2
S e FB N =OEEF PR 8
8 A N g RY L &
61300002000
N
W Claimed footpaths at Grasmere Pastures, Whitsable
(shown in bold dashed lines)
S

Scale 1:5000

Page 13




- oo0000 082219

goo000000€ 19

i

166000 900900

166000 000000

APPENDIX B:

Aerial photograph showing Grasmere
Pastures dated 1999

[~1]
=3
N
~
o
<
Q
or
o
o
ol
a8

000000‘0008 I’g

o000 092E L9




-002¢ - :
000000 19 oooooc001€ vm.w ,888 000€L9 000000006219 ooonao 008219 - 000000004219
o
£
/7]
&
e
£ 2
:
o o E
L o e
w (o]
k*}
bl
553
= 5]
X0o7©
A<
z o2
W 3 2
:% 8

ooocoo 001991

ooooas 002991

oooos 001991

ooo000 002991

sooooo-00EE 19 oooo0o002E L9 : conooc00LELS oo00c-000€ 19 000000006219 000000008219 000000002219




APPENDIX D

ser evidence

ising u

Table summar

m:o,_ AloA 10} @sn SpuaLl BuiIsSIA :
dojs 10U pip g ‘Y002 ‘uleg syj 0} ssaooe aquwiood
ul yoyp pue Bulous ouoN | ‘Bunjjem [euoijeaiosy 1004 Ao m (91) 800¢ — 8861 g+Y | "SIN pue "I,
Bupiiem BoQ jo04 Aieq gz | ¥00Z—L86lL q | deued d "IN
asialaxa Aiep olppen
SuoN SUON % Bupjem Bog j004 | usy} ‘Apea €| ¥00Z—1002 a+v 1SS
dois snq
(urepeoun aep) Sim pue uieg ay; ‘sdous umolg
pagieq pue ssyoual] BUON ‘qnio Jjob 0} sse00Y 1004 | Apjeem aoim] (91) 800¢ — 8861 a+v ‘A SN,
$002 pejoale sseo0e bunjjem [euonesiosl
Bunpppolq sepeoieq pue gn2 1@ouo ‘gnd , emaig
pue Butousd ‘sdoys |eo0] 0} $§802Y joo4 peilejs 10N e #00C — 0861 Y d N
Bulpl | asloy uo
BUON SUON esioy @ Bupjiem Bog | 101004 Aeq e 002 — 0002 g+vy | eolo|g "d 'S
~ pisisayd
1e jyled pue sAingsuies pleuieg
002 HO paxoold 01 ssaooe ‘Bupjjem Boq jo04 Areq 9 002 — 8661 v TN
BUON SUON Bupjiem Bog j004 Areg 0¢ 002 — 7261 g+v | Jemed d dg
asn (v002) S
pauwinsel pue usyoiq | Buoj|ise| jou pip Jeu}
uSUl SeMm 80Us) INg | 90U [|BUIS B SEM — peoy (uoouseye
$00Z 190/das Buunp | pue| sjeaud, Buiels slowsels) Uf SpusLy pue Bujulow) sbbeq
pley esn jou pid | AemeBprd je SeoNON Bumisia ‘Bupjiem Boq joo4 Aep eoim L (02) 800¢ — 7661 a+v "0 "SI
$00c Wl ¥00g Ul ,pajnossold sAingsuleg
Buiousy pue sayouall aq |im siessedsal} 0} Apjaem
dasp 0} anp ajnol —1no desy, Buyels sAingsuleg o0} ss$8008 . ‘Bupjem uolejddy
Buisn woly pausidq | Aemabpry uo 820N pue Bupjiem Boq 1004 Bop Jo Ajleq (ge) 8002 — 6961 a+v ‘Q SIN.
002 Ut 4o padus}
1ng pebusjieyd asoiquiy
Ajjeqian JoAsN asiosexa pue Bupjiep 1004 | Apieam 1o Ajleq 0z +00Z - 7861 Y ‘A CCSIN
mmom puowiyoiy
yym uopoun|je
RemaBpry uo pajosis Bunjjem |euoneslosal
ubis Buissedsaly pue (sAingsuies) (spuaoam Asqay T
00z w Bnp youal ] ou, — 00z 1deg sdoys 0} $s820Y 1004 1e) Apjee (e1) | 800z 1661 g+v | "SIN pue "IN,
SAONITIVHO {wonjoy Bupjlem | ISN 4O | (ePeldAe uo) | SUVIA asn aasn .
ISNOLLONYLSEO S30110N "6°9) 3SOd¥Nd | SNVIN | ADNINDIU4 | 40 "'ON do0goad | (s)HLvd d3asn




Ajqiuows

$00Z — 9961

002 psiosls SadllON Bupjiem BoQ jood uay} Apeam 8¢ V| PPED DN
. QoUBIUS
pajoale pEOCY pUoWIYdRY 1B yed o} uaipjiyopueib Josely
souey anm paqueg | dnind subis yo1des | | edel g Bubjiem Bog jood] . Areq L ¥002Z -£661 ga+v "M SIN
plemsayd aunyo
#00¢ ul pedus} pjsid Ul 4yoanyo 03 s8830y jo04 Apteap 8¢ $00C — 961 v d 'SiN
$00¢ pejoae neise|d
Butousy anm pagied #00¢ ul 830N Buniiem Boq 1004 Aeq 61 00C — 6861 V | "SIN pue N
#00¢ pleseyd
1snBny w1 Aemabpry pue uouaue |
Buoje peoale | YINog ueasmiaq ssadde
sopou Hujssedsal) ‘Bupjjem jeuoeaiosd
ou ‘ajeAud, ‘Bupjiem BoQ joo4 Area Zz| v00T—1286L a| Aend dIn
pejoaio buissedsad .
ou ‘alenld, sAingsuleg pue uojburie
Bnp sayouan — /00Z | Bunels s910N - $002 aylosiEMg 0} SS9D0Y jood Apream (£2) +¥002 - L/6) V | "SIN PUB 1A
§S800E pojuarald o
alim pagieq - BUON Buniiem Boa joo4 Area 4} ¥00Z — 2661 a+v | nueAs L Ing
sdoys , a-
0] 889908 puebupjiem .
pabusjieyo JersN jeuoesidosy "j004 Areg ¥e 002 — 0861 g | uslnd 'd 1IN
Aiebing s10100Q
pue sfingsuies ‘0gd
v00Z, ‘aquan Ajunwiwio)
yooz ut | ul Aemebpry je ejeb USIA O} S4Jijo9[eMS : usjind
s8yousl} pue sedus Aq peroaie seoioN | o ssedoe ‘Bunjiem Bog 1004 Aeq ve) +00Z — 0861 a+v T USHAL
9sioloxXy jood Ajjeuoisea00 1474 $00C — 0961 A4 9xXop T
asi0loxa 1o} bupjjem
‘plesey) Ul uleg sy}
: 0] $S999® ‘plalisayn 8A0D Y
¥00Z Bnp sayousil SUON ur Ajwiey Buisin 1004 | Apieom som] (ve) 8002 — 0461 a+v | SN puB U,
‘PEOY SIoWISBID
OJUO 1IX8 SSOIOE aliM 200z W Apadoid plewisayn ul Ajiuey
pue Zp0g Ul seyousl] a1eAld Bune)s usiA o} Aemabpiy uebion
pue Bugpous pajoels SeoioN | O3 sseooe ‘Bunjiem Bog 1004 Apiosp (v2) 8002 — 0861 v 'S "SI,




ayon

pabusjjeyo JoneN Bupjiem Boq o0 Apieam oe ¥00Z — ¥.161 g ‘W SIN
4 abpuaAoT]
asioJexe ‘Bupjiem BoQ 1004 Area 09 ¥00C — vv6lL A4 TsIN
, SUONONIISqO : _
punole Aem B punoj uones ‘sAingsuies
Apjoinb Ing $00Z 0} ss800e ‘AB M
Aemabpry 1e ssyosusly 8S0JLL Ul Spusiy pseuusT d
pue Burouad BUON Busia ‘Butiiiem BoQ jo04 Arep som | (61) 800Z — G861 a+v | "SIV pue I,
pabusjjeyo JareN Bupjiem BoQ 1004 Apep eouy | 9¢| 866l —296l \/ os7'g'd
, sdoys ysijusyy
BUON auoN | o1 sseooe ‘Bupjiem Bog 1004 Aireq G $00Z — 2002 a+v O "SI
(uped
pauwiejo uo jou jng)
00z Ut Buissedsan Bupusy | qnjo Agbni pue A1ebins
aJom pjo} pue | yum $00z lequsides s10100p ‘sAingsules SUyoINH
ueusy Aq pebusjieyd ur pajoalg | o} sseooe ‘Bupjjem Boa jo04 Area (1) #002-€002 g+v 1 "SIN.
g anusn [eoipayy/dors . e
snq /oeg/shingsules o
o] Jnouoys ‘Bupjjem saybn
pabusjjeyo JoAeN Bop ‘esioy Buisiolex3 1004 Ajep som | 0z $00Z — 7861 g a .mh_w%
‘Puissedsan -
ou ‘Auedoud X
. 002 ajeald Buels . asnoH
peals sialueg paieadde sodlloN Bupjiem Boq 1004 Ajep 9o1m | oz ¥00Z — P86} al -synpue N
_ SSOUIOH
pabus|ieyo JeASN Bupjiem 6og Jood Aire@ 8z | ¥00Z—9.6) v "0 'S
dn jnd Isieq
SS300B Py Slowsels) py alowseln
‘alim pagieq wol} Aemabpry )}o0oSIH
ss900E Aemabpiy SUON 8Ly} 0] $5900Y 1004 Apeq S 002 — 1002 a+v v CIN
uso mmnmo::M . SaRIioe} JoLo/jEalpsl 00 Apream aom . 00Z — 986 usigqiH 'a I
q sey pueT /IIE181 0} SS90y jood b ! 8L 002 — 9861 g _. aQiH
peoy puowyor
. pue Aemabpry pio4 soom Jod sewl
seyouasn pue | uo subis Buissedsan PIO Ui spusli) Builisia ©/Z.sewWeuwos pauweH Y
Buiousy — 00z 1des ou ‘puej ajeAud, | ‘Bupjiem jeuoneslosy 1004 gUEHIITESIT (92) ¥00¢ — 8.6l g | "SIV pue




700z perosss |

Buiousy aum pegleq | ¥00Z PS1O8IS SBJON Buijiem Boa joo4 Areq lg| $00Z— €86l v | ydied A
#00¢ Ut Buouay 1004 [EUOISBIO0O 114 ¥00Z — ¥861 g lemod 'S
BUON 8UON sdoys 0} ss800Y 1004 Alyyuopy g ﬁoom — 6661 a+v Isod N
Aep
Bupyem Boq joo4 Jad sewi /2 Ll ¥002 — /861 g aMfid "o "IN
pnul Jo sdijiiud
so|id ‘dn jusm 8ou84 (s18p OU) S8 | ©sI0Iexe ‘Bupjiem BoQ 10044 FANEETY ee $00Z — 116} a+v D S
Auadoid
ou ‘syeAud, bupnels
002 PEOY puowydly uo soe|jdyiom/sdoys
ul pasoojped peoy | sejeb e pejosis ubls 0] SS8008. sSUsMmQ
puowiory 1e sajes) | meu — 00z 1des/Bny pue Bupjiem Boq 1004 Areg 8 002 — 9861 g | "SI pue N
Aemabpry ’
Buoje pajosals seojjou
Buissedseal; ou , =
— Auedoud sjeand, g Bupjiem Boq 1004 Area gz | V00T —9.6l v 1eN.O "
asiolaxe a
pue pecy piesayo
piey jo abps punose uo yied Aeid usin 0} Aojopy
Bnp youp — 9002 SuoN |  uaipjiyopuelb Bupiel Joo Apream (¥) | 800z - 0002 g+v 'a Sy
SBU0)S
puR |i0S JO punowl
Aq pus py puowyory anuan [BopaiN uByole
1e peyoo|q souenug pue sdoys 0} $s900Y 1004 Ajyiuoy z $002 — 2002 a+v’ 1IN
) - uByOIEIN
asn 0} pabusjieys oN Bupiem BoQ joo4] Aea 8L ¥00Z — 9861 \4 'S 'SIN
00z Ul peoniisqo
. $S900E pue . ) By
pajoaie aim pagieg Bupjiem BoQ ‘1004 Areq 81 $00C — 9861 A4 O
pieiisayd 03 INoHoYs JeisieiN
007 Ui Jjo psous pue Bupjiem BoQ 1004 Area 9c 00C — 8161 d TN
$00¢ - punow 002
yues pue pay ui Auedoud sjeand upnPoBRN
punole aim pagieg Buijels SeONON | UOBSIOS) PUB SS820Y 1004 Areq R $00Z — €961 v

‘g "SI




seyoual] pue

pleuisay) 0} SSa09e ¥

buiayem

D

aum pagieq - 0 jdes auoN | ‘Bupjiem Bop ‘esiolex3 jood Airea 4 002 — 2661 g+v “1°sIN
Miem aInsig| ‘uleg au}
G0z xoidde 0] SS8008 ‘pjaysayn wbiupoy
Buiouay pue youalj BUON Ul Spusi JsIA j004 B 83UQ (62)- 800 — 6.6l a+v | uems rip.
| Bupous) pue sauoualy | Bupjem bop ‘A1ebins _ SUOABIS
UUM paxoojd | 8Inol pawielo Uo JON | S.10j00p ‘exleulsdng 1004 AVEETT (12) $002Z — €861 v TN
Bupjiem
ysiqqnd Bop pue Aiebins
YlIMm pus peoy siojo0p “exyjewadns SUBAS]S
aJaLUSEIS) 1B PaXyo0id pabusjjeyo JansN 0] SS90y 1004 FAREETTY W $00Z — £861 v ' "SI
uSIpliyo ypm ‘ ileubuds
#00Z Ul Jjo paouad Aeyd ‘sBop ssiolex3 jo04 Apteam Ll ¥00Z — /861 v o IN
yues
Jo spunouwl abig]
yum Bnp psyoualy
pue payoealq AsebBins si0100p
alom Aay] -pojoeis . pue sdoys ‘qnjo 183210 Joouadg 1
ssous} — $00Z 1des BUON ‘pIoKIsayd O} §s800Y 1004 Are@ (¥€) ¥00C — 0161 g+V | "SI PUB N~
Aep 4 MU
Bupyiem BoQg joo4 Jad sawy $-¢ 6¢g ¥00¢C — G961 V| uynws 9 ING
(1enieq e wayl EEYNEEY sieah &
JapIsSU0d Jou saop Bunisia x Buiddoys 1o} Ll 1se| Aep uouueysg
8y 1nq) Bnp sayoua auoN | Aemebpry o} 1nd LOYs 1004 | uayy g Apjea 0e| v00Z- L6l g+v TIN
SaAne[el JISIA Joeq
01 yBnoJy} 1no ‘Buipul -98I0Y uouueysg
pabus|jeyo 1oAsN asloy ‘Bupjiem BoQ ‘j004 Areg ge | ¥00Z — 6/8961 g "D SIN
‘uouaue ]
YInog wiod} piayissyd slopueg
002 se1eb pexooT 0} 8jnod ybnoay L joo Areq Lz | 00Z—€86L g WIN
$00Z Ul spunow — pupjem
yuies pue alim Bop pue sAingsulesg sapoyy
pagieq ‘Jo pedus ‘pieyisay) 0} s8800Y 1004 Area 9¢ +00Z —~ 8961 A4 v CIN
ERD
shep mej Bop ‘sAingsuies )
e Jo} @sn pajusnald {(sjueBesmau "69)
Ajuo 1ng g0z "xoidde playisay 1e sanijioe} ydey
Bnp psyoual] SUON abejjin 0} $5820Y oo Area (g2) 800¢C — 6161 a+v W SIN,




“p00Z Ul SWIO} pajejduod oym siesn _mﬁo oy} ypm uosuedwon sjendoidde einsus 0} si SIYL "S}9MOBIq Ul UMOYS S pue AJuo $00g Iiun dn asn jo sieak jo

JoQUINU U} SMOYS LIWIN|oD ,s128A Jo *ou, 8y} uf 8Bl sy} Ing (pamairaiul a1em Asuy) Jeak ay1) 800z 1UN S80I PALLIEID BU} 8SN 0} PSNULND SABY PamelAIBIL) 9SOy L

‘a]ep SIy} puoAag panupuod sey asn Jieyy 1ey Ajoxi st 3t “Jsrsmoy ‘(peje|dioD a1am S0y

ay} Jeak au) $00Z IUN UMOYS si Sesed Jo Ajuolew ay} ul puej 8y} Jo esn souay ‘(,sBusiieyo Jo siep, sy} osje s USIUM) $00Z Ul papiwgns sem uopneoydde |euibuo ay L

‘puey 8y} Jo asn Jiay BuipieBal 10010 DD B AQ pamalaIsiul 819m , UE UM PadIewW s1asn

‘ssaoo0ud uonebnseaul sy} Buunp jueoydde sy Aq payiiuspl a1em sassaulm g JSULINg e pue uoneoldde ayj yum payjiligNs alom SULIO)
SOUBPIAG Josh |,g ‘B10} U "Solfe)l Ul umoys asouy) jJdeoxas uolesldde [eulbuo sy} yim PSS 818M Jeu) SULIoJ SOUSPIAS 18sn papiaoid sjge} sy} Ul palsy| s1esn iy

UOSIiM
pabusjieyo JoAsN Bupiiem BoQ 1004 Aep som . e $00Z — 0861 N/ "N CSIN
_ dn ayeAud
JUSM 8oUB} B yues sem pue| Bugels
YUM pa)o0lg alem Remabpry Buoje ualpliyopuelb ypm uosIiM
sjuiod sseooe Iy | subis Z - #00¢ 1des Aeid g Bupjiem BoQ jood Ajep som | € ¥00Z — 100Z a+v "d "SIN
ybnouiy}
SUON SUON 10 % Bunjem Bog j004 Are@ . #00Z — 0002 g+V | uoSUBIIA "IN
qnjo m
19010 pue 8sinod jjob m.a
(poe)s ‘plaiisay) ui uleg ay} suiBBIm 1
jou sjep) Bnp sayauq suoN | pue yed Leid o} sile M j004 AVEET (62) 8002 — G961 a+v | SN pue N,
yues @ a1m pagieq SMOPPIM
Uim Jjo pasjoold SUON Bunjie p j004 Aluiuopy g #00Z — 6661 g+v NN
(ured | wsauyy paloubi ejdosd
paWIB|o Uo Jou Ing) 1SOL OS [BIoIo
Auedoud ajeand sem 300] J0U pIp INg AieBins sioyop ‘gnpo
pue| pio} ‘$00Z W femaBpry uo seeb | Agbni ‘sdoys o) sseooe SIONOIM
ueusy] Aq pabusjieyd Aq peyosie seonoN | ‘esiouexe ‘Bupjiem Boq jo04 Areg (2) 002 — 0002 g+v ‘W SN«
Bupjjem bop pue =T 121808 M\
002 Pexo0|q $S820Y sAingsujes 0} ss890Y j004 | Jod sewl G- 17 #00Z — 6561 L/ "a 'ssiN
G600z xo.dde Ul uleg ay} ‘eaiyo
jueua) Aq pabusjieyn 1sod ‘Aiabins si0joop
'GoQz xoidde ‘o%Rg ‘sfingsuieg supiep
ut Bnp sayoual] o} sseooe ‘Bupijem BoQ jo04 Arep @o1m | (9) 8002~ 8661 g+v ERLM
(urenaoun ajep) aam bupjem Bop pue ulegq ‘ ERETELY
peqJeq pue sayoual | suoN | ay; ‘qnjo yjob o} ssa00y 1004 | Apjeem som) (¥2) 800Z — 0861 ga+v 'S SW.




IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION FOR M
"CONCGERNING LAND AT GRASMERE PAS

APPENDIX E:
Copy of Objectors’ statement

STATEMENT OF OBJECTION

1 Introduction

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

M-2161516-2

This is the Statement of Objection of OW Presland Limited, Kitewood Estates
Limited and Mr Norman Sands (the Objectors) to én application by Mrs. E. Watkins
of 28 Richmond Road, Whitstable, Kent CT5 3HS (the Applicant) under section
53(2) of The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to modify the Kent Counfy Council
Definitive Map and Statement made on 20 November 2004 (the Application).

There are two applications:

a. Footpath A — running from Grasmefe Road to'Ridgeway across Grasmere
Pasture; '
b. Footpath B — running from Richmond Road to join Grasmere path to

Ridgeway across Grasmere Pasture

It is noted that the witness statements submitted in support of the Application do nbt

- solely refer to Footpath A and Footpath B as described above and it is not clear

whether the Applicant is seeking a modification of the Definitive Map so as to
include the additional routes indicated, alternatively whether these have been drawn
in error but were intended to reflect Footpath A and B as drawn by the Ap.plicant
For the avoidance of doubt it.is hereby confirmed that this Statement of Objection
relates to all and any footpafhs indicati{/ely shown within the Application and

supporting witness statements.

For ease of reference the alleged footpaths referred to in the Application are all

shown on the Plan attached as Appendix 1

Page 22




i

1.5 The first objector is the registered proprietor of Grasmere Pasture under Title No.
K503254. ‘The second objectorhias an option to purchase Grasmere Pasture and -
the third objector haé a tenancy of Grasmere Pasture (herein referred to collectively
as the Objectors). '

1.6 The Objectors are represented by Sarah Taylor of Bevan Brittan LLP, Solicitors, of
Fleet Place House, 2 Fleet Place, Holborn Viaduct, London EC4M 7RF to whom all

correspondence and communications should be sent.

1.7  This Statement of Objection refers to documents and witness statements annexed

hereto all of which shall be regarded as incorporated herein and form part of this .

~ objection within the meaning of the Commons Registration (New Land) Regulations
1969.

The Law

2.1 Without any admission as to the validity thereof the Application appears to rely on
the paths being Public Rights of Way and proposes a modification to the Kent
County Council Definitive Map and Stat.ement under section 53 (2) of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981 (the 19871 Act). '

2.2  Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act reads as follows:-
“(2) As regards every definitive map and statement, the surveying authority shall —

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable after the commencement date, by order
make such modfﬁcations to the map and stétement as appear to them'to be
requisite in consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of the
events specified in subsection (3); and |

(b) as from that date, keep the map and staterhent under continuous review and
as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence, on or after that date,
of any of those events, by order male such modifications to the map and

- statement as appear to them to be réquisite in consequence of the

occurrence of that event.

M-2161516-2 Page 23




: '.:_;.)_

&

i

P

e

M-2161516-2

'

(3) The events referred to in subsection (2) are as follows —

(a)

(b)

LS e o

the coming into operation of any enactment or instrument, or any other

event, whereby-

® a highway shown or required to be shown in the map and statement
has been authorised to be stopped up, diverted, widened or

extended;

(i) a highway shown or required to be shown in the map and statement
as a highway of a particular description has ceased to be a highway
of that description; or '

(iii) a new right of way has been created over land in the area to which
the map related; being a right of way such that the land over which

the right subsists is a public path

the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the map relates of
any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that
period raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public

" path;

the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other

relevant evidence available to them) shows- ;

Y

(i)

(i)

that a tht of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or
is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map
relates, being a right of way to which this Part applies;

that a highway shown fn the map and statement as a highway of a-particular
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different descriptiqn;

or
that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and

statement as a highway of any description, or any bther particulars

contained in the map and statement require modification.

Page 24 |




2.3

s e

2.4

"
s

.
gt J

“§

shemd

=

!

2.5

M-2161516-2

The Applicant must therefore establish that the rights of way by way of footpath

-+ ‘'subsist -or are -reasonably alleged to subsist over Footpaths A and B across

Grasmere Pasture in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(1) of the 1981 Act.

Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (as amended) (the 1980 Act) provides:-

“(1)  Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of

it by the public could not give rise at common law to any présumpz‘ion of

dedication, has been actually enjoyed by fhe public as of right and without.

interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have
been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence z‘héz‘ there
was no intention during that period to dedicate it. ,

(2) The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be ca/é‘ulaz‘ed
retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the way is
brought into question, whether by a notice such as is mentioned in
subsection (3) below or otherwise. |

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes-
(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible to persons using the

way a notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a

highway, and

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1st Janua/y 1934, or any later
date on which jt was erected,

the notice, in absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient evidence

to negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highwéy. Y
The Application states that the alleged footpaths have become rights of way
pursuant to Section 31 of the 1980 Act. This means that the Applicant must prove
the following 3 limbs of the test provided by section 31 of the 1980 Act:
(1) the date when the right of way has been brought into question;.

(2) that there has been use of a way by the public as of right;

(3) use of the way has been enjoyed retrospécﬁvely for 20 years without

interruption

Page 25




I
R
:

g

3 Summary of the Objectors’ objection

3.1

3.2

4
4.1
4.2
4.3
5
5.1
M-2161516-2

The Objectors contehd that the Applicant has failed to identify the necessary period
of 20 years by reference to any commencement or termination date, and has failed

to demonstrate the use of the paths by the public as a right without any interruption.

The Objectors now show why the Application fails to satisfy the requirements in
section 31 of 1980 Act.

Date when the right of way has been brought into Question

Evidence submitted in support of the Applicatioh for Footpath A refers to the
blocking of the access and erection of a barbed wire fence .in September 2004 as
well as the erection of ‘trespass signs’ (see the witness statement of L E O’Neil).-
These notices are stated by the witness to include the statement ‘Private Property

No Trespassing’.

In relation to Footpath B the evidence submitted in support of the Application refers

to the erection of a fence in September 2004,

It is therefore the case that the Applicant would need to establish 20 years

continuous use of both Footpaths before September 2004.

Use of a way by public as of right

Lord Hoffmann in the decision of the House of Lords in R v. Oxfordshire County
Coungil, ex parté Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 All ER 385 clarified the

reference to use of a way ‘as of right’ where he stated:

“It became established fhét such user had fo be, in the latin phrase, nec Vi, nec
clam, nec precario: not by force, nor stealth, nor the licence of 'i‘he owner... The
unifying element in these three vitiating circumstances was that each constituted a
reason why it would not have been reasonable to expect the owner to resist the
exercise of the right — in the first case, because rights should not be acquired by he
use of force, in the sécond because the owner would not have known of the user
and in the third because he had consented to the user, but for a limited period.”
([2000] 1 AC 335 at 350H-351B) '

Page 26



E

| E— Ty

fomrmar

52

The presumption upon which the creation of a way by prescription is based is the

= —eembination of the fact of use coupled with acquiescence by the Landowner to this

53

5.4

5.5

M-2161516-2

use. It is this that gives rise to a presumption that the Landowner intended to
dedicate the use of the way to the public. The Applicant has to prove that the nature

of the user was such that throughout the relevant period the owners of the land

knew of the use of the way or ought to have known of such use and did nothing to
stop it (see Lord Hoffman at p354 in the decision of the House of Lords in R v.

-Oxfordshire County Coungil; ex parte Sunningwell Parish Councii).

Forcible user vitidtes any claim to entitlément as of right. Forcible user includes not
merely the violent exercise of user (e.g. the removal of an obstruction) but also any
insistence upon a particular user in the face of continuing protest by the owner (see
Newnham v Willison (1988) 56 P&CR 8 at 19).

A fence was ‘erected around Grasmere Pasture by the Mr Sands on 5th October
2004. A year later, on 6th October 2005, a bund and trench was created on the
boundary of the site. The fence, bund and trench have been breached and torn

down in places. Any activities that are carried out by force are not nec vi, that is

without force. If the local inhabitants continue to use the Footpéths across.

Grasmere Pasture by force, they do not do so as of right. The Objectors therefore
contend that in the present case the local inhabitants did not pass through Footpath

A and B “as of right”.

The Objectors contend that there cannot be use of the land as public rights to way
by way of footpath “as of right” and without interruptions in the circumstances of
Grasmere Pasture havihg regard to the farming activities that have taken place over
the years. The Objectors rely upon the witness statements ahnéxéd hereto at
Appendix 3 of Norman Sands and Neil William Strand as to these farming activities.
(It should be noted that these witness statements were prepared in connection with
the Objectors’ response to the Applicant’s separate application seeking registration
of Grasmere Pastures as a town or village green. The content of thosé two witness
statements is however equally applicable to the application for mpdiﬁcaﬁon of the

" Definitive Map.) As can be seen from these statements, Grasmere Pasture was put-

down to arable cropping until 1984 when peas and other crops were cultivated.
Since 1984 an annual hay crop has_been taken and every Spring the area is

fertilised and sprayed. Witness statements in support. of the Application'

Page 27

B et G e




Lizros

P 3 s o P

[ SR 3

5.6

5.7

acknowledge that the land was leased as pasture (see the statement of Mr Dewis
Hiblen): - : e

Judicial interpretation on whether the useof land by public can be indulged “as of
right”, where the relevant land is also used for farrﬁing purposes, was given by
Sullivan J. in R (Laing Homes Limited) v. Buckinghamshire County Council [2003]
EWHC 1578; [2003] 3 PLR 60, where he was concerned with the use of some fields

for taking an annual hay crop. He said (at paragraph 82) that:

~ “Thus, the proper approach is not to examine the extent to which those using the

land for recreational purposes were interrupted by the landowner’s agricultural
activities, but to ask whether those using the fields for recreational purposes were
interrupting [the landowners’ licensee’s] agricultural use of the land in such manner,
or to such an extent, that [z‘hé Jandowners] should have been aware that the
recreational users believed that they were exercising a public right. If the starting
point is, ‘how would the matter have appeared to [the landowners]’ it would not be
reasonable to expect [the landowneré] to resist the recreational use of their field so
long as such use did not interfere with their licensee’s ... use of them, for taking an

annual hay crop.”

It is quite clear from the evidence of the persons making statutory declarations and
the answers to the questionnaires by the local residents, in support of the
Application, that they recognise that the agricultural activities which have been
repea;ced annually have always had priority over, and their use of the path’s.havé
béen subject to, these agricultural activities. Further, the witness sta;tements
annexed hereto, and referred to aboVe, also make clear that the agricultural
activities have never been subject to the use of the alleged footpaths by public,
rather the agricultural activities have always had pricrity. The Objectors therefore
contend that the local inhabitants have never enjoyed the paths “as of right” without
interruptions as against the Objectors’ use of Grasmere Pasture. It is therefore

quite plain that there has not been any use “as of right”.

Enjoyed Retrospectively for 20 years Without Interruption

6.1

M-2161516-2

The evidence presented must establish that those accessing the land used the
exact line of the footpaths claimed for a period of 20 years and without interruption.

Page 28



g-:.:} .

sy

!

()

6.2.

e et s o

6.3

6.4

The Objectors contend that 20 years of use of the precise alignment of the footpaths

" claimed cannot and has not been demonstrated tu have existed by the Applicant.

The Objectors contend that the use of the alleged footpaths has been interrupted on
an annual frequency since 1984 in the feftilis’ing and spraying of the lénd every
spring, and in the harvesting every summer as the Applicants stayed out of the way
of the agricultural machinery and allowed the process to take place without
challenge. They did not assert they had a right of way by foot on the land and in
doing so supported the notion that the Objector’s use of land took priority over their
use and interrupted their use. In particular in 1989 and thus within the 20 year
period, there is contemporaneous evidence that the entire field, including the
perimeter, was cropped, ploughed, harrowed and reseeded during the year and so
would have prevented all access whilst the hay grew. This is inconsistent with any

intention by the owner to dedicate a footpath.

A recent application by thevApplicant to register Grasmere Pasture as village green
was dismissed on the grounds that the field was agricultural land and had been

actively used for this purpose.

7 Conclusion and other matters

7.1

7.2

M-2161516-2

The Objectors therefore contend that the requirements' of a public right ‘of way within
the meaning of section 31 of the 1980 Act are not satisfied.

In conclusion the Objectors would state that

(a) the use of the footpaths conflicts with the farming activities historically and

currently conducted at Grasmere Pastures;

(b) the use of the footpaths by force of'ehtry cannot be “as of right”;-

(c) Without prejudice to the contention at (b) above, the other requirement is not
satisfied in any event. The Applicant has provided insufficient evidence to

show uninterrupted use of the footpaths for 20 years commencing with the
date when the way was first brought into question.

Page 29




i

7.3 In the circumstances, the Applicant has not satisfied the three limb test contained in
o - sectiory 3tof the 1980 Act and-therefore the Application should be refused: = = me--

BEVAN BRITTAN LLP
29 AUGUST 2007

M-2161516-2 - A Page 30 , Ol




Agenda ltem 4

Application to register land known as Barton Playing Field
at Canterbury as a new Town Green

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s Regulation
Committee Member Panel on Wednesday 12™ November 2008.

Recommendation: | recommend that the County Council endorses the advice received
from Counsel that a non-statutory Public Inquiry be held into the case to clarify the issues.

Local Members: Mr. M. Northey Unrestricted item

Introduction

1. The County Council has received an application to register land known as Barton
Playing Field as a new Town Green from local resident Dr. S. Bax (“the applicant”). The
application, dated gt May 2007, was allocated the application number 595. A plan of
the site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a copy of the application form is
attached at Appendix B.

Procedure

2. The application has been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 and
regulation 3 of the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim
Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007. These regulations came into force on the
6™ April 2007.

3. Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 enables any person to apply to a Commons
Registration Authority to register land as a Town or Village Green where it can be
shown that:

‘a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

4. In addition to the above, the application must meet one of the following tests:
» Use of the land has continued ‘as of right’ until at least the date of application
(section 15(2) of the Act); or
» Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended no more than two years prior to the date
of application, e.g. by way of the erection of fencing or a notice (section 15(3) of
the Act); or
- Use of the land ‘as of right’ ended before 6™ April 2007 and the application has
been made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’ ended (section 15(4) of
the Act).

5. As a standard procedure set out in the regulations, the County Council must notify the
owners of the land, every local authority and any other known interested persons. It
must also publicise the application in a newspaper circulating in the local area and put
up notices on site to publicise the application. The publicity must state a period of at
least six weeks during which objections and representations can be made.

Page 31



The Case

6.

The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of a large
playing field situated in the St. Martin’s area of the city of Canterbury, which is known
locally as Barton Playing Field. The application site forms a rectangular shape that is
bounded on all sides by adopted highways known as Spring Lane, Pilgrims Road and
Pilgrims Way (part of which is recorded on the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way
as Byway Open to all Traffic CC41).

The application has been made on the grounds that the application site has a long
history as a space for public recreation which pre-dates the use of the site by the
schools which began in 1960. The applicant asserts that there is extensive evidence of
recreational use ‘as of right’ by local residents for a period well in excess of twenty
years.

Included in the application were a detailed statement in support, 28 signed user
evidence questionnaires and a CD-ROM containing audio recordings of the interviews
along with a video of the field showing recreational use. A table summarising the
evidence of use was also provided by the applicant and this is attached at Appendix
C. Additionally, a further 14 signed user evidence questionnaires were submitted by the
applicant prior to the commencement of work on the application.

Consultation

9.

Consultations have been carried out as required. A number of responses, both in
support of and in objection to the application, have been received. These are
summarised below.

10.A number of local residents (20 in total) wrote in support of the application, adding their

evidence of use to that already provided by the applicant. The local County member,
Mr. M. Northey, also wrote in support of the application on the grounds that the land
has been used on a daily basis for a variety of purposes ‘as of right’ and there has
always been a general belief locally that the land was for common use.

11. Objections to the application were received from the following:

e Canterbury City Council objects on the grounds that Town Green status may
severely impact upon any future improvements and enhancements to the site for
the benefit and enjoyment of the children, public and wider community that it
serves.

e Eight local residents have written in objection to the application. These appear to
have been written in response to the local distribution of a flyer entitled ‘save Barton
field’ by the applicant. The gist of these letters is that the field has not been open for
public use for many years and indeed was originally fenced off when the land was
given to the schools in the 1960s. The fence has been broken down through acts of
vandalism but was repaired on occasions. Local residents have only gained access
to the land through damage to the fence and never has use been ‘as of right’. A
smaller field nearby was widely used for recreational purposes for many years, but
in recent times it has not been maintained, therefore making it unsuitable for
informal sporting activities.

e The local KCC Education Officer, Maggie Gregory, has objected to the application
on the grounds that the land is private land designated as sports pitches for Barton

Page 32



Court Grammar School and Chaucer Technology College. She adds that access to
the site by local residents has not been unhindered for the last twenty years due to
the existence of a fence and therefore any access that did occur was via acts of
vandalism to the fence. She further adds that, in her view, if the land is registered
as a Town Green, it is likely to become impossible, or at least very dangerous, for
the schools to continue to use the sports pitches.

Landowners

12.There has been some confusion regarding the ownership of the site, with the applicant
asserting that the County Council was part-owner along with Barton Court Grammar
School and Chaucer Technology College. The applicant had concerns that the County
Council’s alleged interest in the land would seriously impede the County Council’s
ability to make an impartial decision on the application.

13.However, inspection of Land Registry documentation along with modern base maps
has revealed that the County Council, in fact, has no interest in the application site. It
would appear that the land was originally owned by the County Council but was
transferred to the schools when they acquired Grant Maintained status during the
1990s. No part of the playing field remained in KCC ownership, although the highways
to the south and east (Pilgrims Way and Pilgrims Road) are owned by the County
Council. Therefore, despite assertions to the contrary, the County Council has no
current interest in the application site and the ownership is as shown on the plan
attached at Appendix D.

14.The current landowners, Barton Court School and Chaucer Technology College, have
both objected to the application. The schools are concerned that private land
designated as school playing fields is being considered for Town Green status. Their
objections are made on the grounds that use of the field by local residents has not
been ‘as of right’ as force has been used to gain access by vandalising fencing which
has been in place since the late 1960s. The schools assert that they use the fields on a
weekly basis for school activities and for extra curricular activities beyond these hours
and, as such, the claimed continuous use by the local residents is not a valid one. The
illegal use of the field has led to children being injured by broken glass and metal drinks
cans and PE staff have found needles on the field which is a serious cause for
concern.

15.1n addition, the schools argue that the legislation does not permit the type of dual or
shared usage envisaged by the applicant; use as a Town or Village Green must be ‘as
of right’” at all times and the legislation does not permit the sort of joint venture whereby
the local residents use the land when the owner does not require it. In support of this,
the schools state that the evidence shows that use has been mostly during school
holidays and at weekends when there is no one in the school to prevent access and
further add on a general point that the fact that the residents are aware that the land is
a school playing field means that their use cannot have been ‘as of right'.

Applicant’s response to the objections
16.The applicant has taken the opportunity to extend his arguments in two further detailed

submissions. He argues that the objections are mainly misguided and entirely
insubstantial, and the objectors have misunderstood many elements of the application.

Page 33



In his view, the objectors make bold assertions and yet offer no evidence to support
them, thereby painting a false picture of the situation. In addition, evidence given by
some of the objectors shows a woeful ignorance of the schools and the local area.

17.The applicant then sets out in detail the requirements for registration of land as a Town
Green and discusses each requirement in turn:

Significant number — the applicant argues that despite assertions from an objector
that use of the application site was by others from outside (i.e. it was by scattered
individuals and in some cases by scattered groups) evidence from surveys and user
evidence statements he has submitted show regular use by a large number of
residents.

Locality and local people — the applicant refutes the assertion by the objectors
that the ecclesiastical parish of St Martins and St Pauls is unacceptable as a locality
for the purposes of complying with registration. The statement by an objector that
predominant use is by others from outside of the parish is also refuted on the basis
that submitted evidence clearly upholds the fact that use is clearly shown by local
residents not only living close to the site but from right across the parish.

Lawful sports and pastimes — In this respect, the assertion made by the objectors
that some of the activities listed in the application are outside the scope of
‘recreational’ activity is accepted by the applicant yet at the same time he takes the
opportunity to reiterate that there are many other listed activities which do come
very firmly within the legal definition. Furthermore, all of those activities had taken
place over the requisite twenty year twenty year period.

Without permission — The applicant is of the view that, despite assertions to the
contrary from the objectors, there is no evidence to suggest that during the twenty
year qualifying period that any one received permission to use the field. He further
argues that the objectors have confused licence and acquiescence and submits that
the school never gave permission (licence) but in effect acquiesced in the public
use of the field thus promoting an impression that use was as of right. To add
weight to this argument the applicant refers to adduced evidence that indicates that
many of his witnesses were not in fact aware of who actually owned the land
anyway and so therefore could not seek permission from anybody even, | assume,
if they had wanted to. As further emphasis of this point further argument is given
that even from the schools evidence there are statements indicating that no
permission was granted and he cites relevant examples.

Without Force — With regard to the question as to whether use was without force,
the applicant argues this is perhaps the heart of the case. In defence against
accusations from the objectors that the local residents only gained access to the
site by breaking down and vandalising boundary fencing the applicant asserts there
is no actual evidence to substantiate this. He further argues that there is authority in
reference text to the fact that if persons enter a field through a gap created by
others then those persons are not guilty of entering the field with force. He points
out it is not important whether the field was fenced or not. What is important he
argues is whether local people continue to use the field. He points out the field was
not completely fenced. There were many gaps. Gates were left open or unlocked.
There was no real evidence of the erection of visible and effective signs. Use was
therefore without force.

Without secrecy — The applicant argues that there is evidence from the objectors
themselves which support their knowledge that the field was being used by local
residents. He disputes the assertion by the objectors that use was at weekends only
and thus in secret because school staff were not there to witness such use.

Page 34



Counsel’s advice

18.Given the complexity and emotiveness of the matter, Counsel’s advice on this issue

has been sought. Counsel was of the view that, on the face of it, the application should
be rejected on the grounds that the evidence presented by the applicant suggests that
the maijority of local users deferred to use of the application land by the schools. This
issue was considered by the Laing Homes' case which dealt with the impact of
agricultural activities in respect of applications to register land as a Town or Village
Green and clarified that local inhabitants moving out of the way to enable the
landowner to carry out such activities creates an interruption to the required twenty-
year period of use. This is known as the ‘deference issue’ and, in essence, means that
recreational user which defers to use by the landowner is not ‘as of right’ because it
does not appear to the landowner to be the assertion of a right.

19.Regulation 6(3) of the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim

Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007 states: ‘the registration authority... shall not
reject the application without giving the applicant a reasonable opportunity of dealing
with the matters contained in the statements of [objection] and with any other matter in
relation to the application which appears to the authority to afford possible grounds for
rejecting the application’. As such, a letter was sent to the applicant informing him that
there may be possible grounds for recommending to the Member Panel that the
application should be rejected, and providing an opportunity for him to respond
accordingly. A copy of this letter (“the regulation six letter’), which summarises the
evidence received from Counsel, is attached at Appendix E for reference.

Applicant’s response to “regulation six” letter

20.A copy of the applicant’s response is attached at Appendix F. In the main, the

21.

applicant offered new arguments in relation to the issue of deference and distinguishes
the current application with the circumstances in the Laing Homes case. The
applicant’s view is that there was no deference in the current application because there
is a significant difference in the circumstances in the present case compared to those
that were relevant in the Laing Homes case.

In the present application, the applicant argues that the issues relating to deference do
not, in his view, apply to this application. This is because the schools were fully aware
of the use of the land by local residents and rather than either party ‘deferring’ to the
other’s use of the land, there has been shared use of the field between the schools and
the residents. Furthermore, he argues there is no evidence that the landowners’ use in
practice actually conflicted with that of the local residents. The applicant also states
that it was impossible for recreational users to defer since they did not know or
acknowledge that anyone else owned the land or had any prior right to use the land; if
they did not know who owned the land, they could not correctly be deferring.

22.In the applicant’s view, the fact that the land concerned is also a school playing field is

irrelevant as there is no legal impediment in law or practice to registering such land as
a Town or Village Green and even if the land were to be so registered, the schools
would, according to the applicant, have the legal right to continue to use the land as
playing fields for their own purposes.

"R (Laing Homes Ltd) v. Buckinghamshire County Council (2003)

Page 35



23.The applicant also attempts to draw parallels between the present case and other, in
his view, similar Village Green applications both in Kent and other parts of the country.
It is not necessary for the purposes of this report to go into detail regarding these, save
to say that the vast majority of Village Green applications are, by their very nature,
complex and rely upon a very specific area of law. Indeed, the circumstances in each
case are nearly always unique and hence each case must be treated on its own merits;
despite the applicant's assertion to the contrary, there is no such thing as a
‘straightforward’ application to register land as a Town or Village Green.

Further advice from Counsel

24 Following receipt of the applicant's comments in relation to the original advice from
Counsel, and in response to a threat from the applicant of Judicial Review action in the
event of the application being rejected, the County Council sought a second opinion
from different, more senior Counsel.

25.Counsel’s view was that since the application turns primarily on the issue of deference
and the evidence of use is a matter of fact and degree (i.e. it concerns the inter-
relationship between the landowner and the recreational users), it is necessary to
establish the exact facts of the case before applying the relevant legislation. Counsel
was also of the view that the evidence presented could not, under the circumstances,
be taken at face value and requires cross-examination in order to obtain a better
understanding of the patterns of use of the field by the various parties.

26.There is also a further issue in that a recent High Court case known as Redcar?, which
related to an application to register part of a golf course as a Village Green and
approved the principle set out in the Laing Homes case, is due to be heard in the Court
of Appeal before the end of the year. Counsel’'s advice was that any decision in the
current case should not be made until the outcome of the Redcar appeal is known.

Conclusion

27.The issue of a school playing field being registered as a Town or Village Green is not
one which has previously arisen in this county. Members of the panel, and indeed
members of the public, may well be deeply concerned to see such an application being
considered by the County Council. However, it is important to recognise that it is not for
the County Council, in its quasi-judicial role as Registration Authority, to distinguish
between those types of land that it is considered desirable to register and those which
it is not; case law from the House of Lords has established that there is no identifiable
‘type’ of land that should be registered as a Town or Village Green. Instead, the County
Council has no option but to be guided solely by the legal tests set out in the Commons
Act 2006 (and associated case law).

28.1In this case, it is considered that the question as to whether there was deference or not
(as has been argued by the parties involved) cannot be resolved on paper and can only
be properly examined by way of testing that evidence through the non-statutory Public
Inquiry process. This practice has been approved by the courts, most recently in the
Whitmey® case in which Lord Justice Waller said this: ‘the registration authority has to

’R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (2008)
* R (Whitmey) v Commons Commissioners (2004)

Page 36



consider both the interests of the landowner and the possible interest of the local
inhabitants. That means that there should not be any presumption in favour of
registration or any presumption against registration. It will mean that, in any case where
there is a serious dispute, a registration authority will almost invariably need to appoint
an independent expert to hold a public inquiry, and find the requisite facts, in order to
obtain the proper advice before registration’.

29.In my view, before any decision is taken, the County Council should heed Counsel's
advice to hold a non-statutory Public Inquiry to explore the issues further. The
application is evidently very emotive locally and acceptance or rejection of this
application will have a significant impact upon the future management of Barton
Playing Field and it is important for all concerned that the true status of the application
site be determined based upon all of the information available.

Recommendations

30.1 recommend that Members endorse the advice received from Counsel and that a non-
statutory Public Inquiry be held into the case to clarify the issues.

Accountable Officer:

Dr. Linda Davies — Tel: 01622 221500 or Email: linda.davies@kent.gov.uk

Case Officer:

Miss. Melanie McNeir — Tel: 01622 221628 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk

The main file is available for viewing on request at the Countryside Access Service,
Environment and Waste, Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the case
officer for further details.

Background documents

APPENDIX A — Plan showing application site

APPENDIX B — Copy of application form

APPENDIX C — Table summarising user evidence (supplied by applicant)
APPENDIX D - Plan showing ownership of application site

APPENDIX E — Copy of “regulation six” letter (dated 29/05/08)

APPENDIX F — Applicant’s response to “regulation six” letter (dated 28/08/08)

Page 37




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



616000™ | APPENDIX A:

\

FF7,

Canterbury)

Plan showing application site
(land known as Barton Playing Field at

St Martin’s
llege <5 Spr
/iy

Field

King George's

\ j [:[;l_ﬂ-lh“'-‘\lc-_—;’ e
AN
WA
O -
m "

D QS D

157500 S=

31 L
2 ,
Uniyersify College™
AN AR TS
/\ N fof the'Creative Arts g
oy A ",“E- D hh"
N ETINE S nom; Sﬁ
WL L
)
Jd O
4
% @oqg’ 0
, &
' fo«\&' ‘ o Allotment
2\ Z Gardens
AR\ o5
- / AN SN (4,41/ q:.
® O\ 2 ONTE Schiool "Qz?',
N N7 i 7,
v o 0 ‘\( )/ ’ 5 W‘é‘( N 5
x SR |
- . ‘ , _ |2
g Sch , ) X Playing g
i /; ; Ay &N\ Field o
2}3&% on) % bahalf A /@9;« copyi ight /’\. SdnRace Su & be QO
. ’ 61 600‘},5&!‘;0".\:
N Land subject to
Town Green /
W 5 application at /
Canterbury
S
Page 39
Scale 1:4500




- registration

- APPENDIX B:
Copy of application form
Commons Act 2008: Section 15

Application for the registrat

Village Green

Ofﬁcial‘stamp of registration aﬁthority _ i
indicating valid date of receipt: ‘ Application number: | 59 5
- COMMONS ACT 2006. Register unit No(s):
I/ KENT COUNTY COUNGIL sgister unit No(s)
— -REGISTRATION AUTHORITY. .
i0 MAY 2007 VG number allocated at registration:
o ‘) (CRAto compiete only if application is successiul)

Applicants are advised to read the ‘Guidance Notes for the completion of an Application for the Registration of
land as a Town or Village Green’ and to note the following:

*  All applicants should complete questions 1-6 and 10-11.

« Applicants applying for registration under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act should, in addifion, complete questions 7-8.
Section 15(1) enables any person to apply to register land as a green where the criteria for registration in section
15(2), (3) or (4) apply.

= Applicants applying for voluntary regisiration under section 15(8) should, in addition, complete question 9.

1: Registration Authority

Note 1 . To the
) insert name of

authority.

KENT  CouvTyY  CounNcli

Page 40




Note 2

ffthere is more than
one applicart, fist all
names. Please use g
separate sheet if
necessary. State the
full title of the
organisetion If & body
corporate or
unincarporate.

If question 3 is not

completed aff

comespondence and

notices will be sentto

the first named
appiicant.

Mote 3

This guestion should
be completed if a
soifcitor is instructed
for the purposes of the
application. If so alf
corespondence and
notices wilf be sentto
the person or firm
named here.

2. Name and address of the applicant

Name: STE/Q/,/EN g H/V

Full postal address:

VF SBINT RUGCWTINES 12490
C AN 7EWM}’/ /C'F)(/T.
postcode C /7 K1

Telephone number: . '
anel. Ftonal dialling code) 01277 #2510k

Fax number:

[ ——

{incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address: S (OH)( @) C’ﬂwfff,/éé{/zf. Aac., M/(

3. Name and address of soliciter, if any

N gnil
Name:
Firm:
Full postal address:

Post code

Telephone number:
{incl. national dialling code)

Fax number:
{incl. natienal dialling code)

E-mail address:

Page 41




Nofe 4

For further advice on
the criteria and
qualifying detes for .
registration please see
section 4 of the
Guidance Notes.

* Section 15(6}
enables any period of

B 3 statutory ciosure

where geeess o the
land is denled to be
disregardadin
determining the 20
year period.

4. Basis of application for registration and qualifying criteria

If you are the landowner and are seeking voluntarily to register your land
please tick this box and movae to question 5.

Application made under section 15(8): D

If the application is made under section 15(1) of the Act, please tick one of

the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and qualifying

criterion applies to the case.

v

Section 15(2) applies:

Section 15(3) applies:

L]

[]

If section 15(3) or (4) applies please indicate the date on which you consider
that use as of right ended.

Section 15(4) applies:

If section 15(6)* applies please indicate the period of statutory closure (if
any) which needs to be disregarded.

Page 42




)

Note 5

The accompanying
map must be at &
scale of at least
1.2,500 and show the
fand by distinctive
cofouring to enable o
it to be clearly
dentified.

" Only complete if the
fand is aiready
registered as common
fand.

Note 6

it may be possibfe to
indicate the Jocalily of
the green by reference
to an administrative
area, stich as a parish
or efectoral ward, or
other area stfficiently
defined by name (stich
as a village or street).
Ifthis is not possible &
map should be

. provided on which a

- focality or

nelghbourhood is
marked clearly.

| 5. Description and particulars of the area of land in respect of which

application for registration is made

Name by which usually known:

Gl (b e (ki e

Y
\_;—/

Rowton {o/agzg

Location: ,
Narill f T, M 4 af (7. P (M@d oA
SW%L % rli- e, Ca,w?[&/éc

- Muf// ﬂ%f7ﬂé7 3

Miher - K998373 )473/(;?7 77684
' 7 1oy é

Shown in colour on the map which is marked and attached to the statutory
declaration.

Cormmon land register unit number (if relevant) *

8. Locality or neighbourhood within a locality in respect of which the
application is made

Please show the locality or neighbourhood within the locality to which the
claimed green relates, either by writing the administrative area or
geographical area by name below, or by attaching a map on which the area is
clearly marked:

Pparl af 0t Mati aed ST Vmé &WZ&@%

Tick here if map attached\[z/ % ,\/Lu(é e ?

Page 43




Mofe 7

Applicarits should
provide a summary of
the casa.for
regisirgtion here and

enclose & separate Al ||

statement and all other
evidenecs inclirding any
witnoss statements i
suppoft of the
application,

This information is not
needed i @ landowner
Is applying to register |
the land as. g green
under section 15(8).

7. Justiication for application te ragister the land as a town or village
graen :

The playing field to which this-application relates was known
historically as 'the Cricket Meadow' and has a long history as
a space for public recreation and right of way. Indeed it was
crossed for centuries By part of the historic Pilgrims Way,
shown on maps as early as the 1600s.

In the 1960s it was given over to two schools as playing fields,
but significant niimbers of local residents continued to use it
openly for recreation, and have done so ever since, with the
acquiescence of the schools.

This application offers extensive evidence from many residents
of over twenty years of recreational use of the field 'as of right'.
The evidence comprises a survey of long-standing residents and
some of more re'cént. arrival, an observational survey of use of
the field, and a user survey to identify where users live.

The application is supported by signed affidavits from 28 local
residents, audie recordings of the interviews on a CD-Rom
(which also includes a video of the field showing recreational
use), and a full Supporting Statement showing how the field
meets the requirements for Registration as a Town or village
green.

Please see the Statement appended to this form, and related
Exhibits as itemised in Section 10 below.

CPAgeAd



Mofe 8
Please use g separate
sheet if necessary.

Where refevant include
reference o tithe
numbers in the regisier
of litle held by the

{.end Registry.

if no one has been
identified in this
section you should
write “none”

This information is not
needed if a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a gresen
under section 15(8).

Mote 8

List alf such
declarations that
aecompany the
application. If none is
required, write “nong”.

This information is not
needed if an ‘
application is being
made to register the
fand as a green under
section 15(7).

Mote 10
_ ) Listall supporting

~ documents and maps
aocompanying the
application. If none,
write “nong”

Please use g separate
sheet if necessary.

8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant believes to be
an owner, lesses, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to
be a town orvillage green '

Owni( |
G’OWVM 7?4%7 4 Zdrﬁh [M/L (romsar § %ﬁ///

L/Vj lL [M&/@wj cr) 1P
7. &’Wm\l/ Pids 4 Chawe 75&1:@74@/ Lchn/ %j [ave,

Caddwy, Lo, 7 100
2. //M [aw@ [m(m( (anty Hal] Muhie, W

MEIE |XQ

g. Voluntary registration — deciarations of consent from ‘relevant
leaseholder’, and of the proprietor of any ‘relevant charge’ over the land

Nfo

10. Supporting documentation

bt X Mﬂ]c JZ TL¢ V/W@ |
Dbt (o U7—/ZWL_ il vidts and witl
Cludio M(M(/th/ Jg e -WLAL&/V[&/)f

Page 45




11. Any other information relating to the application

Note 11

ifthere are any other
matters which shoufd C——
be brought to the
attention of the
registration authority
{(in perticitarif a
person interested in
the fand is expected to
challenge the
application for
registration). Full
details should be given
here or on a separate
sheet If necessary.

L

Note 12 A —
The application must Date: 9 / rs / 1007
be signed by each : 7
individual applicant, or
by the authorised , . .
officer of en applicarnt Signatures:

which is @ body - )
corporate or
unincorporete. ‘ /J

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

/You are advised to keep a copy of the application and all associated documentation.

Applicants should be aware that signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement
of truth in presenting the application and accompanying evidence. The making ofa false
statement for the purposes of this application may render the maker liable to prosecution.

Data Protection Act 1998

The application and any representations made cannot be treated as confidential. To determine the
application it will be necessary for the regisiration authority fo disclose information received from
you to others, which may include other local authorities, Government Departments, public bodies,
other organisations and members of the public. ’

Page 46




1 insert full name
(and address if not
given in the
application form).

2 Defste and adapt
as necessary.

3 insert name if
| Applicable

*y
J

4 Complete onlyin
S the case of

-/ voluntary
registration (strike
through if this is not
refevant)

Statutory Declaration In Suppoit

To be made by the appiicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his of
their soficitor, or, if the applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate,
by its soficitor, or by the person who signed the application.

STEPHEH THMES ,
Lo B4 ! solemnly and sincerely declare as follows.—

1.2 | am ({the person {(ere-oithe-persons) who (has) thave) signed
the foregoing application)) (fhe-soliciter-te-tthe-applicant) ¢ one-oithe.

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my
knowledge and belief fully and truly stated and | am.not aware of any
other fact which should be brought to the attention of the registration
authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those (if any) mentioned in
parts 10 and 11 of the application. ‘

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map
referred to in part 5 of the application.

4.4 | hereby-apply-undersection 15(8) of the-Commens-Act-2006 to

raqister as a green the land indicated-en-the-map-and-thatTisTin my

ownership_| have previded-the-fellowing-necessary-declarations of
consent:.

(e declaration-of cwnership-ef-the-land; _
(i-a deslaration-that-alirnecessary-consents from-the-relevant
leaseholder or preprietor-of-any-relevant-charge-overthe-land-have

Conlf

Page 47




o

4 Continued meM%dwmmmn or
(lllmﬁmwmmmmmd—meﬁfaﬂeﬂ%ihai—eﬁect

And l make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the
same to be frue, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835.

=

Signature of Declarant

Declared by the said STE® Liery
TOMES RA X

at 26 STATLONS ZaAn LeEsT
(AN TEZAUT - EBNT (7T 840

this E(GTH dayof M AN
20071

Nt S, Vst” Nt Vol Vet N st ot

rema v
hY

L)
Bafore me * Nt L O LAY
GAZ oA THLER

Signature: T
, P

Address. 26 STATIoM Raa D WESA

C AT TERRURM ZEroT T2 €A

Qualification: ol jcita

/

*  The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the psacs, pracﬂsmg
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Ploase initial alf afterations and mark any map as an exhibif

Page 48



o
Q.
-
Q)
2
D

(2

N

Sur\/ey@ OS Sitemap“

(=] o (3 (] [++] (=]
- o N - e - —
[4)) [&)] D (o] fo2] [o>]
[oe] (] o Pacd N N
@ 8 8 8 8 o
3 3 3 3 3 3
157634m

157634m
Hagiow Colitgn of Apriadiure anc Horiculiurs.
i (Horicuusstting)

157600m

157600m

King Gearge's Field

Fiaying Fieht

157500m

157500m

King Gaorye's Fieid

157400m T
157300m I / S e
o %%@gmmnm
S Srmaa B T
T
/ 1
S K |
e N o~ A 157234m

Produced 03.05.2007 from the Ordnarice Survey National
Geographic Database and incorporating surveyed revision Playing field
available at this date. ® Crown Copyright 2007. )
Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the
prior permission of Ordnance Survey. Metres
i 0 20 40 60 80 100 -

Ordnance Survey and the OS Symbol are registered e e m—— m— St Augustine's Road
trademarks and OS Sitemap is a trademark of .
Ordnance Survey, the national mapping agency Scale 1:2500
of Great Britain.

Supplied by: Qutlet User Canterbury
The representation of a road, track or path is no Serial number: 00066700
evidence of a right of way. Centre coordinates: 616015 157434
The representation of features as lines is no evidence Further information cap ke found on the .
of a property boundary. OS Sitemap nag‘atiggeaﬂet or the CTTIXR

: Ordnance Survey wéb site: ‘
www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk




of

shud
T
-3 87
o o .
O3
S0
3£
ot
w ® ’
[T .
Sa
o
D ©
=
-0
N C -~
= .
G828
£ o ’ -
XETO SOk «TO8ONL, [(P1oY
o35 8=% ,
Z 035 w JME[ 3L | Ol 9ABQ] O} PISU NOA " "ABS
w oo g .
os 0 oA oM | Apoghue prp] .1 Sumpiem peoy
M _m oL Aouy 10 31 Sugpjosred oq 01 JoipmopueIs g, ou
JO 1599 pareedde Apoqou suls 10 £007 | 1eYoLID pue o “AJ[BUOISEID0 nsngny 13T
pue uyo[ | oY1 0} SO, SODII0U O 910M 21311 “ON],, ON ON. - 6661 [12q100] £1oa ‘sa K, s1eok €7 1S 0¢ | pue UYor SIMMTH &
P4
. Aresnoy SI9punol .
jou pJot sureq KpogAue uoss oL .
seue)) op 10 1O PIeSY ISASU 94 SM pue Asno [BULIOTUT peoy
QUNSLIYD 7O PIO] USQ JIASU A SN BaIB usdo ~nuyuon | ‘ssued Jjeq Jo1ySneppurig : s,5u sorIR)
7 10[Ae], sIeak ‘7O PO} ueaq 10 ‘Apoghue uodo Axaa | usaq shempe £00Z | Apruaey Aerd pue seysnep nsngny 3p QUNISIN))
Koy TT—S9A U995 JOASU 9A ] PUR TONL, | B S ‘ON., S .1 “ONL, ~ 6861 ung yjesm snid ‘syuspuodsayy s1mak 77 1S 65 29 Aoy “JolAR],

2007 Aoy xog usydag

piay Swdvid uorivg



6c

osoddns .Sde3 jmetrertiad
1 ‘wontpen Jo pupyjo Supjrem -
2100 . Are Burses 2 Surmor[o] $10[ U92q 9ARY 21901 (L007) ‘G peoy _.M_..
BLIB]N IOQUISTSI ], TED oI3M oM -~trodo sfeme 100p jusserd 4noqe TTeq s oupsniny  BLIRJN PUE m.m
pue 1194 SO X I.. [¢sudis] ~10aaN 1q3nots oM ‘0N, ' SBM 919T1,, ‘ON -:6861 © Sumyory] SHOS ‘S8 X s180k 77 18907 1999 ‘9100
1708 ‘s30p ,
Sunjem spuoryy snjd sTR9A
‘so1 Sy waIp[mopuels 1§ TR 9101
(£002) ‘Teqio0L { PUe USIPTHO BoIE TOMEY
20 IO juaserd -sprods ¢ "TOIP[IYO ur ‘Aep 291 11D
pue 19194 S9X. ON ~¢L61 | Josyos Ew PUE SBAJSS s1eak 7€ stoaSig By pue 19324 99

1007 Copy “og uaydais

prayf Buidoyd uopng



0¢

.Ssa00® Aaxpooyg
skemIe Sem ‘G’
2101} ‘uaoIq ‘dnf
skemye sem 8uoy
.. OTO ST} Qouy oL, | ‘SOuS[UI®
preies 18 10T INq “PIoTf IS0 34 Treqio0} prOy
[eIjos 18 SUFIS 9IoM OIST[], "SI 0} A[snonmmue 03[OLIO TUSIP[TO s ounsndny yeijog pue
pUE UIIos S9 X dn sures 1042 ApOQOu ‘0N, oN ON 1002 — 6861 .| “1odg CIB ‘S9X smeok 77 18 91 umrog ‘preien
QEIsy
(sreok syrods oue Suadg
steok uado 17) uasexd Ajrurey Aroney ‘peoy
sem 11 “ON Treqiood o} pue oI ‘S9 X [ 1A ‘zedoo)

01—-9861

1edoo) [

£007 4oy xog 1uayd2ig

S—

pjayf Surdvyd uorwg




[§3

e
Tp[IopueId
opeM, THSL] RO 22q5Ly osye pue (0861
‘SMOIPUY " | ssoooe 108 01 9[qR ‘5010198 ‘ST JO 9ATY aours peo Ut SWIATY)
10194 , ‘ 10U 9I9M IOAST ‘gotmed - Jipasn peod apBM THSIT
‘SMaIpUY IoAaN USIS 9 Mo A £007) 18q 93OLI0 18 24 5M,, , | s ounsndny ‘smaIpUY I919d m
wjoo[eINL ‘SO X 2 IOAST ‘0N, 4SUSIS 'ON ON ON juasoxd — 9861 “qreqiood ‘sa X steak /T 1S 16 ooTRIN ‘SMaIPUVY
OS[o S8y
o[y OS ST 21T T{BGMOUS
osneoaq ATHSWE ‘FmIpals sTERk
jureytodt UV, | ‘feq sTms} Gz 107 ‘peod
so1d Apemmjosqe . “3[EeIq TNOTYIM 4930110 TOIP[ID s, ounsnsny 3014 Of
of pue prae( ‘S0 (SUBTS MBS 10AST aoZLQ ON ‘50T — 5861 ‘Treqiood steak 77 1SS pused JPId

1007 {op wg usydals . pey MS““«EQ U0



[4*

9oug] oY} T  $35ex[ealq S1oMm 91oT),,
1661 TIUm /86T 90UIS . 'S94 “eoustiodxe
K I PIo1y 1B} OFUT S0TURNUD
e waaq SeY 19T Kes skem]e pmoMm T,
* .ONL,, 166561 S0UIs 9010 10 udis Auy

,, "SIG}SEU ST} A drgsuorefal poos ©

Page 54

(pergB1s pey oY " A31[E00] 93 JO [oored pue 11ed
Aqrenred s1ogs | [[e Seam JTosnEIq 41 uIsn ‘tun Jo preye ou
se ) ATd ST 1,T0ToM NOK “Tim 'Tm *** 9[qRORUE ‘70 SIBME peoy
JO J[ereq 0o 70 110 & 2ymb peq 9 "T9ONEYD oﬁ 30 | sem1jeq) 6261 SPUSL M sounsndny Kompury
xeq ueydalg 10m10A03 B Sem pueqsny AIAL, “(mos) $9% | 30U ‘ON eqIo0g (mos) sa . ‘steak Y 18 69 (Aneg) ‘A1A

1007 oW xog uaydal§

proyf Buidod uopng



€e

. osnoy oy SmAng st TonoemIe
e sea T O PUE P[aLy o3 Pasn A5

e paleoIpul [SI9TUMO snoraard]

SUeySYOmID ‘g[qesn sem T 18y} STIPUEISISPUN PIog Lo
gerogs( saonou ou 11 Sursn [ue seam o1ety] ‘o101 SBM PIoT,, 91} SO0JI2A0 peoy SJTRYSYOMID _.M
pue faxyef ‘GOYROIPUL OU | SISM SISUHO ST 3T} mﬁmoa oY) 78U} PO} 910/ 9 ISNOT ST g8noq | Armuel asnoy sounsndny yeioqe(] pue DMm
9381090) pooi8y | s ON | 1B 1qS1Aep proIq ‘ON ON L om moy Ay “s8op Supj[em Q001 ‘nog '~ STUOLI /, 1S v 981000 ‘Aamgef
peoyd
steok soupsnsny
ON. Q€ 1AQ 18 1€ T2I0(T TIAET

2007 oy “og voydals




14"

1%
1B 10U “ON],, ‘HOISSTIIIRd
.po8emoous
sem PIoY o . 2PIS ST} Tog Sumem
JO asn”*" "p[oy otf osn - L1y ured sfemye pmod . Fop ‘sona[mie d
01 ojdoad pagemodus NOK,, o Tod0 skeme ‘Furoho _.M.
- Ajoanoe of] pue AT[e20] o1om A p STTIB[id TMOp Fuerowrooq Dmu
POAT] 191SBUIPBAT] ‘sSumyno sse1d yo ofid 28re] ‘Burhyy
TOSWES ot 183 PlO} Sem ] 3197 o pue pays (003 oY ‘St L00T o1 o3[O spusLy (tes)
wreg pue DOAOIL [ TS M, *SUSIS PaYs o 2197M so1e8 oy L, MOU THUR ‘gTopumOoI pue s193po] s1eek €7 prOY wostmes
SUO)SISUTINE] isn Uo0S IOAST A J T3S ‘ Jbodo srom PYGT 20UIS: ‘Furkerd snyd Ajroey | pue (osmoT) soupsngny | eS pue asmo]
98O Y IOAST A ] ‘OTL,, — SUBIS $I00(] "0} Po9L ON "ON, ‘Kirem3ay “Foroumy g ‘saf s1eak GT 18 6§ “QTIO}STATIIIIE]

2007 (oW xog uaydai§

proyf Surdvyd uorng




33

1sed 9ALIp .and 95101
0} pasn SwA1] o 107
s1oddoo oq, Keyd 01 PasTL O M, Spuayo9M
£1ep (wos) Jq8rAep «PE86T T I pue [00Yos ULIP[H[O ajeisg
pue Bpty peoiq d[, . 0,61 TOX Ioye ‘SIapunoI moj woyeg ‘peoy | Aren (uos) pue
‘T[EM SSA ON sem 11 “ON oN e o) 198LY,, “[[eqIO0] IO Te ‘S2X L961 20UIS uoped y& epTH ‘TS[EM
T8 12 SUION PIeY
o3 uo susIs ou Sem
aIoT[ ], "I2ASN], SUSIS
I Sem 150l pmod
no4 os pue ‘Furiiue
10 o1eS ® 1o yooyped
£ I0AST SBM 219}
---uado o128 v sAzmle
sem oIor pue ‘AemAue SIopTNOIL
pleY o} PUmoIe ‘soruord Suraey spueLy pue
aousy 1edoxd 2 Usaq ‘Gupyes ‘Suneem 10 3NEp aeisH aue]
Aarsel IDAST §,SIST]) 9SNED3q SpPIBEMTO ‘punore Suruuni “JosAwt Surrdg M |
*+*0} PET] I9AST ‘ONL, S0L61 91e] W01 ‘prety ul Sumys ‘so X smmoquie| w Ao789'T “TOPUI M

1002 oW ‘xvg uayda}s

proyf Suidvid worwg




9¢

Aeph Bop oy M sdays
suriS[Lg 10 POy osot dn Forrmoo [[eoal
StriB{Lg 01 SSOI0R op I, . SUOTOLYSAI

OlL 8¢ 0} POTI9S 219}

‘gospueld Aur qim
proty Suikeyd jootos

§S0I0E JUD[RM
' SBM I POSTUG000I

ToqUISTAI T STl

Funem
Fop atp 30 5ot wedo 9q 1 YSnoylv,, :
Tro) pue | [RUOISEO30 . 0} pasn pus ey o . “Bunrem Sop ayeIsy o) f
Amqoio( 103 Auo 18 0188 oY) STRaK pue ssoroe Supjem 9,61 uoyeg ‘Aepy | pue AgroroQg
‘TeeID mq ‘oN ON ON Ma] 358] O [OU(),, | 9161 9OUWS 105 3do0%9 ‘ON S0HIS SUTIS 9T ‘weyel)
I0]B] PUE
$.0861 PUe S.0L61 aeIsy
up naty pue ‘gred wojTeg Ul
TemBueLn, 50 ‘0£61 8LGT 20UWIS Se1sH
19880) 0561 punoIe Ul P[oyf SSOI0® ‘761 wolIRe “9S0[D 10880D
BN punoly Sunyresm S[[edy 99Ul weqqo)d 11 piae(

2007 {opy og woydazg pjayf Buidoyd nopog




LE

I STI00
A{snonunuoo | SRS} SPUAYSSM 1Y Jeam :
“(L00z) | ®0s Aiqeqoxd *** 91 BuIsn 1930110 “‘Surdgof
ST M juosaxd ordoad g Jo wmtrXe ‘[reqaooy Afureut Apuenbey 1L pue
TILf pue wqof J1e 18 suol ‘ON, oZ ON — 861 ¢ 01 dn oum ouo £Aue 18, ‘erouss ur spodg ‘s9 X, Hﬁo.h ‘I 3
" s101s 3708 m“u
SpUsLI] sy} pue 1o Surspoexd- - -s8op
SJIePISaI (8O0 ‘SPUaeam 1ot Supyresm sjdoad shepmmg
91 1e sowed [[BqI00] PUY ‘sIopUMOI 1930110 uo Ajzrenonred
J1 INOQE 391098 °N A18ursearout op 1no£ Jnq ‘pasn ssof 8,31 [ULIOJUT ** " ISTULINS ‘SpUoNeaM I8
saLe)) T 1JO TAMOI) SnoATE 5q 3, TBO 0L - pue IoJaIM 9T} UI ‘Spuateam ‘sgumy pue jooro | ojdoad Aqpesn | SOLIED 3P
op SUNSII)) | TAdS ISARU 9A] PUY 1T} {IMOLJIP AT9A ‘661 won 1e 91 osn o7doad og QT se ‘soured Tyeq Aqruey | ApuenboIy oymb | eumst) %
29 101Ae], A0 JO pIEST IoASU 9ARY I, | 3Q PNOM T ‘ONL, Asnonunuo)) | AUBUI S IOTINS o Ul'™",, ewzoyat 3snl Aqrensqy,, | ST I SO, Aoy ‘1014R],

2007 o g uaydais

S’

- S

p1a1f 233 fo asn o] fo Suissaupi SJUIPISIY

prayf Buidopd uoring




8¢

I2AST SEM IT ‘ON

20U - 0861

(sreak 77)
.DIaT] 1E1]} O] §59008 01 Sy sem
1eaq sAem]e e 10 g sdegrad — oydoad ‘Sunfem 8032
3I00JA o101 TOQUISUIAL | JO 30 & 9jmb SSUIAuIOs ‘Fop ot Furyem AToTe]Ie0 BLIB]A pUE
BLIBJA] PUE 19194 oN oN ON 1 s 18] §V,, ‘ordoad 91951 ‘sotaes [eg ‘sax,, | 19194 “OI00N

*QISTMOTIOS JO[Bar0al 107 31 950
Suruedo o1 wo 03 ogam ejdoad

cwerqord e sAem]e 1suf,, [Apoa1p PoY JTeq1003

ou ‘sak pres 9 pue ‘peol oY} Uo sem 2197 T, ot} SOO[I8A0 ISTOK] ‘Gurrerd ‘Bunedt

PAAT] O ‘pUSLY © “ISISEUIPES] *50107 £q T 19708 ‘G, — 92 INILM 1snf SoUIISTIOS,,

E-Tq| oY} PoYSE 9M ASS1MOD 0} ATBSS900U * 0ST 99 pnoM ssansg- - fereA e 29(I TIID

sox | pue1ded ‘9o

IO pUe 19134

€ se ‘Fummmisaq oW 1V,

A, —eoM Iommmy

qons — sHOS [[V,,

2007 4Dy “xog uaydalg

ppayf Budoyd uorvg




6¢

81 Aeg,, 0o Sur03

Page 61

*--paxe[al | YOIBU JOXOLID JUAO3P B SeM SIOpUmOI
orotm sem | oroty ofe sAep Mol Y U0 ‘o] ®
pIeien “gpIs 100mBYY) ST} gmoF Furpotos sAemie Suky ‘Surwomi
qeyos TO ‘SOt [00YOS | §,9I97) IOUIMS U, oo 17108 9oL [eryog pue
pUE UIIos oN ON ON | Ul ‘spremuo G861 ® SPD] USZOP © ISJUIM U] ‘reqioog SoX | UMIOS ‘pIELIED)
JAM0T 2191}
jou dn Sued
1B MOf[e v 8,019,
1. Op[nom sAepI[oY J00Y0Ss Ul ‘a1a}
9[qeISuod ar0ow ‘syrods ey, 1930 Summmx | 10A0 sAemye
. 1adoo) Teroads -+ ‘reqiooy Surhe[d pue ‘712q1003 o1, Aot}
oN A ‘oN,, yuosaid - 9861 ‘SpI (f “JUOTIONT 91} 1V Ao ‘s9X., ¢ ‘1odoo))

1007 o xog usydaiS

—

pro1f Suidoyd uopng



or

9peM ULSITY « ONG, U] ST IoUFeeMm o) Je) mou dnois fst
‘spmorpuy «ONL, -o5re] © 998 NOK Aep A10Aq "AEp L1042 2197}
131ed 01 =T ymaserd Suore 97040 T j1BY) URY} SI0UI TWOAF "0t O} Soured Sumeq SpE A\ TTISLIS]
‘SMaIpUy preqeq IoASU 019861 | 07 (97Ot AUBHI ON] (G ISTIUMS 10 Furxdg ‘Gui85of “sSop Sunjem Sok ‘etun ‘SMRIPTTY 10130
TWOOTEN ON | PJIL, ON 1 ‘ONG, woILg Jses] Je g1 03 dn,, [ooMm IONII A ‘7108 ** "TTeqI00] AUreuL,, S} IV, | THJOSTRIAl ‘SMaIpTY
Aq [Lep 1210
08 7 oty £10A9 TRIP[IO Z1-0] :ISWIUMS sosn [e1ousd ‘sonseutuis o YojeI
A1s | .prey o wo Fuikerd Apoqatios 3, USt 2197} ‘Jop oy Sunyjesm Surdsof 193210
NONTHUOD TeT] ISY)EoM JU209D UL *** A[9IRI A19A S 1], . So8e J0 XL 201U B OIJIII0] .
014 PIotI 83 quosord | yoom AToAd mo SUIOF SUTIOWIOS §,019L,, | PUE ‘[[2q100] JO SPBO} pue B SEAM uﬁoﬂ of
UL 30U ‘0N oo ® sour} Jo o[dnoo e [[eqi00f — ISJUIA |  SPEOY, — [[89100] “oNo1I) prae(] “Yord

— 5861

Of pue plae(g

2007 Sopy xog usydals

e

prayf Buidoyd uorwg




1y

ow Aq

€@

30 sAeY L
(paw31s
Aqrenzed

ST oS
se ) ATH ST
J0 JTeqaq uo
xeyg uoydss

1181 [81] DHn_..m
5q 3,upnoM
1780l

AMOT THTM

«S.0L61 =1e] =}

wioI] Aes pnom
1, "Jueredde

woaq sAem]e,,

" Aanoe
gont

101, Iojuim U
“Iouams

I j2oMm

B Q] moqy

. TIIE 191 Iopun
Teq ® | dn awoo [maIp(iyo] 298 p.nOX,,

" AU [200] 2 9q PInoys if,

- TUOT) SSIOIOXS PR 9IS} SPIsino s3op iy e}
01 pasn oY pue 9810 ISONEY) UL PIAL] 0G4

I90MEY)) S} TIOIJ I)SBUIj00YdSs B PR S,

Eeliphisisnl
[eoo] g8nox) pasmesio 1ods sAEPIjOY ISUITS
PasTuESIO JO Joom S[OTM B 9ABT 0] PIs()

Furyres Sop ‘sowed [eg

Amoads 01
9T 3. UP[OM
11mq ‘wayp
Ieoy UED T

(pay3is

Page 63

2007 {opy “xog uaydaig

prayf Buidvyd uopng



(4%

$OYIQI0JOTN TUILL ‘STBD PI[[ONTOD
orpqnd oowe: o8 ‘dumf{ uof ‘pues UL
3 pue mado Smkerd 9oyormd ‘(sdnoid rents pue
TROSIOMI) SI U908 posmuedio-mures) [reqioo] ‘Smssol
qeIoqa(] oA I8 ‘upfresm Sop ‘saTjIurey JO dnoi3 JUBYSYOMI)
pue Kaxyaf unpkioeas,, . punoe aousy ou B “IDIP]ID PUE WOUIOM TSW ‘9Tl sek geroqe(] %
o8100n) ON ‘ON | $.9121]], "0} pasu OU m"ouo& ‘ONL, Ayronuomod ‘[Ieqiyos ‘sIspunoy] ‘Alemyosqy | 981030 ‘Aogyor
ON] ‘UOISSTIIIa g8nomm Aem motp Surgsnd "9I101]} |
" Jo ApogAue mes 10A9U | ‘ON, ordoed Jo Suepems
OTEME T ] 18Tl -oouay oy ur sded snorrea B U90(q SABM]E S 8107,
“10A3 “[[E 1B 1108 g8nomy 11 To yuom ardosg,, "I9MA] “Jeam ISTULM
£ue 30 s1s0duis . S90uay ut 108 sAemfe nok ' T Yoo/ ISUUNS
ToART ANV MeS sde3 jo 1108 ot 3snf a1om sded 2061 1eord£y & wI o7 noqe punoIe syreq
ueaIo(] IOAQN, SUSIS ON ot Jeys seam " "morssardiur AN, o1y | — stoqumu 980y 190N | SuDory ‘soted Jreq ‘sSop SunflEmM SoX | Ue2I0(] TWoAR]
20} 010

1007 dopy xog usydais "

p1oyf Buidd uopvg

~—




(37

TOSTWIES
weg
pue ouo]

SISTOUIME]

=yl

Jeqy meas

I9A9T 94T ‘ONL,

*JURISTOD 1U09(

$.]] "SIepunor %,ﬁm

o1 Aymam3 31 sdnoid

w ‘meyo ‘dn o3 pnom
o -ordoad Sunok
1010 & 910/ 2191}
08e s1mok (7 "1 9sn

0] Pademoous sIam
9\ "OUTES 913 SSI]

10 S10JA P61 2OWS

snyd 0g

-moqe Fupym eydoad
210JA] “o1o1) o7doad
sAem]e — ISTUTNG
*JeT[} T} 210UL
TSN U {39

g opdoad o€ " 0T

s 1erp " ABp B 2AL
aghert ¢ 10 7 15891 1V,

soyqrojour wo sjdoad

‘goeds wado a1y Surkofos Fumrs
1snf ‘soypy w4y ‘Sunyyesm Sop Fos

“o[OLI0 ‘SaToTENI 1e[3oI [EqIO0]

«PeY o

O 3WOSUIOS
skemie
1souIye

5,919,
*Aprendal
pue

Apuanbaig,,

TOSUIES TES
puE 2sTmo ]

‘aT01SIOUIINE]

£007 fopy xog ueydais

prayf Budojd uozing




144

o
01 SS900E T03q SARM]Y
«{,QATISIORS -Gurouej 10T ‘wmo0198pay
2q no£ wed MOT] e sem yted oU T,
— e o] ooeds . Poxo0] ToASU SEM 9)ES A1doad 1e00] ‘Aq SeTIIALIOR 1 Sursn
, uodo S1q 1e913 o pue ‘sofoy sKemye | Suprods 10§ pasn [[om §.1], ordoad
A1en) (uos) Surgifrors pue | B UI A[9ANSI109S sem 21901, . ON (7 B} QIO :ISUIINg skemie
pue ep[rf | 158d TOATIp ARy Io)us Aotpt -ug1S B U22q IDAIN], yoam SOy s.atey | Aren (mos) pue
IONTBM sorjod oy, "ON | PIMOO MOF,, ON ON MO T[T} /96T THOLY,, ® 07 Te ST0JN (Iojulpy | ‘Aiapoe Sunrods ‘eqiood ‘s9x,, | EBPIH nuuwzm M
somred
.Boﬁm -somred A110ds Jo M
8107 .10 syrods Surdeyd
LJHesnoy 101 ...zm&o,& Kepung J0
srqrssodut weaq 1049U sotued uass o4 ‘T[eqI00]
S0, 50461 o3 20ms] sotes MOous I0] 910 JO soureS pue ** et oY orelsy
prey ot ur ofdoad uoss USnoy ‘ss9] oM IOJHIA | SBUI PUE 193OHD JO somred | ouey Sudg
ISpPULM, skemye 24 1, 5.0L61 y29M B 07 107 1940 Surod ye pue | wispo| S0
Kayse ISAST ‘ON ou ‘18A3N oy w01y T8k A19Ag TeT IO I[90M IOUIImS | 9JeiS 91} JJO SPL [EULION, ‘510 ‘S0X | IopuIp A97S9T

1007 Aoy xog usydsis

pjetf Supdod uorng




Sy

‘soruT) Auent s30p
Fuoyream ‘Surdwm(
o)) pue uodo oymb ‘ jidpues 08
Aqioro(q | omoAue Jo s1eme qu3tiep "guOoATE MO EB: ‘gL61 @ouls , 71 TR} I9MO] (IO AN | I90[OLI0 ‘SI[npe [ wijo) pue |
“wreyeIn) 00U, ] "ON ur SAeMY 995 1, 0PI ‘s1eok (€ IS8l o1 18A0 uozop ® :Furdg ToIp[Mo [eql00] ‘sek O Aqio10(7 ‘TUBURID)
.. OU “T[eoar
1 SB 10N}, :SUSIS [ ToTenIs
-SunmpAae ot pue
JO orem® SOATSSTUST Jasrepuea
jou _S,H [pIeg MM oses a1eIeqIap
sip 10,] [eueT 1R %ﬂooﬁom Aue 008 1,Up1P L, (spned
Surdg jo rou] potess i ur sdeS orom 1) gomyd
"puUnoI3 JuIsLI o e A9g T 2101 ‘Surousy 01 03 pue
01 Sunje[or sem | IS} 19AO J[e | SO UTEYD ATHO ot 2U0 SpUALI 1SIA
1 nq qussuoo | padurels ym3 | Sem It ‘TWOHIPUOD Kue je ()] TR} IO 101, ) 01 Aem 1B}
TopLIATN 9A®Y 0] TI29S SqIiIe} U WOt} 90WIS -+ -osuidropus 291] T[2 sBA ) J[em 0} pasn
Jjouosy 1,0p1p A9, | SIo S90UL] o1, pue ‘s,0861 ‘S.0L61 | ‘Aepung e Sureq, SoUINSUIOS joyo1 ‘Treqroo | T [uwegm] sox puae(] ‘19330D
e

1007 oy ‘xog usydals . prayf Surdoyd vorng



6160007

90060 09°8 .90 0.9.9.0.¢
RS

CICICHIHK AR K KX XA
X XXX ICI KK RKERR
:’\0,00’0’0.0’00000‘

APPENDIX D:
Plan showing land ownership

Jolisge of Agrcutiurs and HarlicuRure
. Piorticuliunst Unk)

Pond

King Gearge's Field

Land owned by Barton Court
Grammar School (title number K893888)

K
HERRELRRRLRAK

Hing George's Fiokd

Land owned by Barton Court

Grammar School (title number K781439)

Land owned by Chaucer Technology School ¢
(title number K753636)

- Miotment Gardens

.@ C'rowp copyright Apfii 2005. All rights reserved. Oignange, mSyrvay Licence number 10001 9238!

61 6000.3'(!0:1{13

157500

Scale 1:4500

Plan showing ownership of application site -
for illustrative purposes only
(for exact boundaries refer to
original title documents)

Page 68




APPENDIX E:
Copy of “regulation six” letter sent to
applicant (dated 29/05/08)

Environment and Waste

Dr. S. Bax
37 St. Augustine’s Road Invicta House
C anterbufy County Hall
Kent Maidstone
Kent Kent ME14 1XX
CT1 1XR | DX 123694 MAIDSTONE 6
Tel: 01622221628
Fax: 01622 221636
Direct Line: 01622 221628
Ask for: Melanie McNeir .
Fmail: mei‘la.nie.mcneir@kent‘ gav.uk
Date: 29" Mav 2008
QOur Ref: PROW//MM/595
Wehgite www.kent.gov.uk/countrysideaccess
Dear Dr. Bax,

Commons Act 2006 — section 15
Application to register land known as Barton Playing Fields at Canterbury as a new Town or

Village Green

. As required by Rggulation 6 of the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim
Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007, the County Council has been giving further consideration to
your application (and the objections thereto) and has now had the opportunity to seek Counsel’s advice

on the matter.

It is the County Council’s duty as registration authority under Regulation 6(3) not to reject an
application for the registration of land as a Town or Village Green without giving the applicant a
reasonable opportunity of dealing with the matters contained in the objection statements, as well as “any
other matter in relation to the application which dppears to the a

uthority to afford possible grounds for rejecting the application”.

[am Wﬁting to inform you that in‘light of the advice received from Counsel, there do appear to Officers
to be matters affording possible grounds for recommending to the Regulation Committee Member Panel
that your application be rejected, as follows: ' ‘

The starting point is to consider the statutory protection afforded to Town and Village Greens which is
contained within nineteenth century legislation. “The Inclosure Act 1857 (section 12) makes it a criminal
offence for any person to “...wilfully cause any injury or damage to any fence of any such town or
village green or land, or wilfully and without lawful authority lead or drive cattle or animal thereon, or
wilfully lay manure, soil, ashes, or rubbish, or other matter or thing thereon, or do any other act.
whatsoever to the injury of such town or village green or land, or to the interruption of the use or
enjoyment thereof as a place for exercise and recreation...” (emphasis added in bold). In addition, the
Commons Act 1876 (section 29) provides that “an encroachment on or inclosure of a town or village
green, also any erection thereon or disturbance or interference with or occupation of the soil thereof
which is made otherwise than with a view to the better enjoyment of such town or village green or

recreation ground, shall be deemed to be a public nuisance...”.

2

Linda Davies \“/} ‘\\,’

Divisional Director - \\/’Q &;
. N 7
Page 69 P

INVESTOR IN PEOPLE

NONRAT



. Divisional Director

In the present case; the use of the land as a school playing field by Barton Court School and Chaucer
Technology College (“the landowners”) would necessarily interrupt the use or enjoyment of the land as a
place for exercise or recreation and, were the'land to be registered as a Town or Village Green, such use
of the land by the landowners is likely to be a contravention of section 12 of the Inclosure Act 1857.
Furthermore, such use of the land by the landowners would not be with a view to the better enjoyment of
the land as a Town or Village Green and therefore might also constitute an offence under section 29 of
the Commons Act 1876.

The main authority in this respect is the case of R (Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire County
Council [2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin) which concerned an application to register a piece of land as a
Town or Village Green from which a hay crop had been taken during part of the material twenty-year
period. A copy of the judgement is enclosed for your reference.

In relation to the effect of the nineteenth century legislation, Mr. Justice Sullivan said this: “When
enacting the definition of “town or village green” in section 22(1) of the [Commons Registration] Act,
Parliament must be assumed to have been well aware of the restrictions that would be placed upon
newly created village greens by the nineteenth-century legislation. Against that background, it would be
surprising if Parliament had intended that a level of recreational use which was compatible with the use
of the land for agricultural activities (such as taking a hay crop) should suffice for the purposes of
section 22(1), since upon registration as a village green (if not after 20 years use) some, if not all, af
those lawful agricultural activities would become unlawful by virtue of sections 12 and 29”.

Turning to the matter of the concurrent use of the land by the local residents and the landowners, it was
held in the same case (at paragraph 82) that the recreational use of land by local residents was not “as of
right” unless it interrupted the landowner’s activities in such a manner, or to such an extent, that the
landowner should have been aware that the recreational users believed that they were exercising a right
to be there; it would not be reasonable to expect a landowner to resist the recreational use of the land so

. long as such use did not interféere with the landowner’s own use of his land.

It appears in this case that there may be a question regarding the continuity of recreational use of the

land by local inhabitants during the material period, particularly when the fields were in use for school
activities. Indeed, some of the local residents who have written in support refer to use ‘during the
summer holidays® and ‘outside of school hours, especially during the summer months at weekends'. One
resident also states ‘I have always respected the school’s priority use of the field and would not dream of
walking my dog if arny school activity was taking place’.

At paragTaph 85 of the Laing Homes case, it was held that * zf it was possible for the local inhabitants to

-establish the existence of a village green after 20-years use in such circumstances (because there had

been virtually no interruption of their recreational activities) the landowner would then be prohibited by
the nineteenth-century legislation [section 12 of the Inclosure Act 1857 and section 29 of the Commons
Act 1876] firom continuing to use his land, on an occasional basis, for any purpose which would
interrupt or interfere with the local inhabitants’ recreational use. I do not believe that Parliament could
have intended that such a user for sports and pastimes would be “as of right” for the purposes of
section 22 [of the Commons Registration Act 1965 — now replaced by section 15 of the C@rzg@\gﬂ& Act

Linda Davies

e
<<1~LL

HERZE

. \
Page 70 : ' 'L,\e,'

INVESTOR IN PEOPLE

R

9



N

2006]. It would not be “as of right”... because the local inhabitants would have appeared to the
landowner to be deferring to his right to use the land (even if he chose to do so for only a few days in the
year) for his own purposes”.

It is Counsel’s view that the reasoning in the Laing Homes case applies equally to the land subject to the
application in this particular case. The landowners’ use of the land during the material period for the
purposes of school playing fields was a use which conflicted with the use of the land as a place for
informal recreation by the residents of the locality. The advice received from Counsel is therefore that,
prima facie.at least, use by local inhabitants (and others) of the land comprised in your application
deferred to the primary use of the land by the landowners and hence was not “as of right” within the
meaning of the definition of “town or village green” contained within the Commeons Act 2006.

The County Council has also recently become aware (completely coincidentally and in relation to an .
entirely different matter) of an Inspector’s report following a Public Inquiry relating to an application to
register part of a golf course as a Village Green. It appears to the County Council that there may be
parallels to be drawn between this case and your application. Whilst some of the legal points raised in
the report have since been resolved by the House of Lords decision in Oxfordshire County Council v
Oxford City Council [2006] UKHL 23, [2006] 2 AC 674, the issues in relation to concurrent use remain
unchanged. A copy of the report is enclosed for your reference and your comments on this would be

welcomed.

The County Council takes the view that a period of six weeks would allow you a reasonable opportunity
to consider and investigate the above matters, take legal advice (if so desired), and produce any rebutting
evidence which you may have. I would therefore be grateful if you would accordingly let me have your
response to the points made above, and any additional evidence that you would like the County Council
to take into account when it next considers your application, no later than Friday 11" July 2008.

I you. find yourself unable to meet that deadline, please let me know at the earliest opportunity as it may

‘be possible to offer you a short extension. Ifby 1 1% July 2008 the County Council has not received
from you either your substantive response to this letter (or a written request for an extension of time to
complete your response) the County Council will proceed to further consider your application (and the
objections thereto) in accordance with Regulation 6 of the 1969 Regulations, on the basis of the
information and documents which have been supplied to it by the parties.

Ilook forward to hearing from you in due course.
Yours sincerely,

/"‘“-//\(/N —

Miss Melanie McNeir
Public Rights of Way and Commons Registration Officer

£ ™y
Linda Davies \“f {i,’
Divisional Director \\?. &l
Page 71 Wy <Y

INVESTOR IN PEOPLE



Village Green application no. 595. APPENDIX F:

Applicant’s response to “regulation six”
letter (dated 28/08/08)

Environment and Waste, Invicta House
County Hall

Maidstone Kent ME14 1XX -

L0 MAURUdL LUVO0

Dear Ms. McNeir, .
| Thank you for your letter of 29" May 2008 relating to my Village Green application
no. 595. I am most grateful to yoﬁr legal team for setting out the possible objections so
clearly, and offering me the opportunity to respond. On receipt of that letter I responded with
a few points by email, and this now is my more detailed response to the possible obstacles
your legal team carefully outlined. I also respond here to the Advice received from Ms. Lana
Wood in July.

1. As you kindly recommended, I have consulted with legal advisers, one a specialist solicitor
énd the other an academic legal authority who specialises in Land Law and the law on
Village Greens. I am pleased to report that they are both of the conclusion that for legal and
evidential reasons none of the possible objections which you set out in your letter, or which
Ms. Wood identifies, is in fact a material obstacle in law to registration of the land in
question, owing to points of law and evidence which I discuss in the appendix below. I also
consulted the Open Spaces Society on a number of points in my letter and they are in
agreement with our interpretation, as I shall explain below in greater detail in the appendix to

this letter.

2. We believe that once these points have been considered the next step could therefore be a
recommendation to the Committee to approve our appiication. In my view this should not in
fact be difficult, because your legal team and Ms. Wood have identified relatively few
problems with the application. You thoughtfully notify me of the fact that that KCC has an
obligation under Regulation 6(3) to tell me if there are any possible objections in any area to
my application, and since you have not mentioned other aspects of the application, nor
invited further comment on them, and have indicated to me that you think that further issues
are unlikely to emerge, I am éssuming that there will consequently be no obstacle or

objection to the majority of them, as follows:

1. | ‘Significant number’ — page 10 No 6bj ection registered or obstacle noted

2. | “Locality’ and local people — page 12 T No objection registered or obstacle noted

1
Page 72



Village Green application no. 595.

Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

Lawful sports and pastimes — page 14 No objection registered or obstacle noted

4. | ‘as of right’ (page 15 e‘é seq.) Points raised — discussed in appendix to
this letter

5. | without permission — page 18 No objection registered or obstacle noted

6. | without force — page 15 No objection registered or obstacle noted

7. | without secrecy — page 17 No objection registered or obstacle noted

8. | For at least twenty years - page 23 No objection registered or obstacle noted

3. In other words, I am pleased and grateful to see that your response is largely positive, since

your legal team have apparently concluded that in every key area of my application there are

no objections to be raised, with the sole exception being the issue of ‘as of right’.

4. Tn order efficiently to answer the points you raise in your letter and in Ms. Wood’s Advice,

I have set them out as five questions or issues, as follows. My full discussion is in the

appendix below, but I here set out a summary response for ease of reference:

Did the schools use the field in any
way similar to the agricultural use
in the Laing case (i.e. impeding
residents’ use for long periods)?

No. In their evidence the schools report only normal sport and
recreation. They refer to nothing remotely similar to extensive
agricultural use, a golf club or anything similar. The residents
(and the schools also) report no period when residents’ use was
obstructed in any significant way for any regular period of time.
(See section 3 below, page 14).

(By extension) Was the landowner
ignorant of the implicit claim by
local people to use the field?

No. There is ample evidence from the schools’ testimony itself
that the schools knew all along of people using the field ‘as of
right’ and implicitly claiming rights to it. (See section 4, page
18 below). However, they did nothing material about it.

Are playing fields excluded from
possible Village Green
registration? Would this fact then
prove an obstacle to registration? If
the land were registered as a
Village Green, would the schools
be inhibited from using the land for
sports and recreation as they have
done for 20 years and more?
Would the schools’ rights be
infringed?

No. Parliament specifically did not exclude playing fields from
possible registration as Village Greens. On the contrary, they
include them in their vision of such Greens. In the appendix
below I quote Baroness Hale’s example in the Law Lords ‘“Trap
Grounds® case which specifically includes mention of schools
sharing Village Greens without impediment. I also cite
government OFSTED inspection reports demonstrating that
many schools around the country already share registered
Village Greens for sports with no impediment or loss of
educational quality. This is an unequivocal demonstration that
there is 1o reason in law or in practice why the schools in this
case cannot do the same if the land is registered as a Village
Green. (See section 3, page 14 below). In addition, Lord
Hoffinan (also in Trap Grounds) determined that a) the correct
test is not that used in Laing, but how the land was actually
used in the 20 year period, and b) that landowners’ human
rights are not infringed by registration of a Village Green.
Examples from around the couniry show no legal or practical
impediment to schools using Greens for organised sports of any
kind.

4.

Do we need to consider the issue of
‘deferring’?

No. The reason for this is that in Sunningwell and Laing, and also
in the recent High Court case of Lewis, it is clear that in law we

Page %3



Village Green application no. 595.

)

Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

need to consider the matter from the point of view of the
landowners. In this case (see 2 above) there is ample evidence
from the landowners themselves that they knew about local
people’s use of the land and that they were thereby on notice of
local people’s claim of a right to use the land. They testify that
their use was regularly interrupted by local people claiming a
right over the land. In short, since the landowners knew about
the claim by local users, and did nothing about it, the issue of"
deferring is therefore irrelevant.

5. s there evidence that residents in
sufficient numbers  ‘deferred’
significantly to the schools’ use of
the land in a manner which renders
their use not ‘as of right’?

No. Given the point made above, I submit that the issue of |

deferring is not relevant in this case. However, if we accept for
the sake of argument Ms. Wood’s analysis, witnesses testify to
using - the field outside school hours, and she takes this as
evidence of deferring. However, Justice Sullivan in the Laing
High Court case specifically ruled that use of land outside
normal working hours is normal Village green use and that it is
unacceptable to require an applicant to provide evidence of use
at particular times. As the use in this case was typical of normal
Village Green use, so it cannot in law also be treated as
evidence of deferring. Furthermore, we do not know if they also
used the field within school hours.

In addition (again using Ms. Wood’s figures) 9 witnesses said that

they used the field at all times, and most significantly (a point
obscured in Ms. Wood’s analysis) a further 31 witnesses made
no mention of times of use at all. These witnesses are dismissed
by Ms. Wood as ‘equivocal’ but we submit that it is
unreasonable in law to ignore them, and that they should
properly be taken into account. I submit that this means that for
a total of 62 witnesses out of 64 (97%), there is no evidence in
law of deferring.

5. Each of these points is discussed in detail below. However, before we turn to it, I note that

Ms. Wood in her Advice refers to the possibility of requesting further information on two

other issues related to the question of ‘as of right’. She says that:

[26.] “There are other issues between the parties which are relevant to the question of
whether use of the land by local inhabitants was “as of right”: whether the land was
fenced during the relevant period and whether local inhabitants using the
application land were asked to leave when seen by P.E. staff from the schools, or
whether they were not. I do not consider those issues in this Advice. If the application
is not rejected at this stage, the evidence on these issues will have to be tested by
cross-examination of the witnesses for the Applicant and for the Objectors at a public

inquiry. [Emphasis added]

In principle we have no objection to a public enquiry, as we feel that we have a strong case to

present, but given the costs associated with that course of action I have attempted also to deal

with these two issues in the appendix below, since I suggest that the evidence already offered

is so convircing that it allows us to set aside these two possible issues without any public

enquiry being necessary.

6. The next stage, I suspect, is for your legal team to have the chance to consider the issues

again in the light of my advisers’ and my comments below, and to consult again with Ms.

Page374




Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, Avugust 2008

Wood or someone equally expert in this area. If, as my advisers believe, there is thereafter no
further obstacle, I would then hope that you might be able to recommend to the Regulation

Committee Member Panel that there are no legal grounds for my application to be rejected.

Once again I thank you all for your courtesy and efficiency in your correspondence with me,
and I am most grateful for your time and effort. | would be happy to answer any queries you
may have on any aspect of this letter or my application, but in the meantime, thank you for

your time and attention.

Dr. Stephen Bax _
encs. Appendices with detailed discussion of the suggestions raised by KCC and Ms.Wood

Page475



Village Green application no. 595. ' Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008
APPENDIX 1: Legal argument and evidence

Town or Village Green application no 595, relating to the land known as Barton Field,
Canterbury. '

Response by the applicant, Dr. Stephen Bax, to the points raised by KCC’s legal team in
their letter of 29™ May 2008

Contents:
PREAMBLE .ot eeeseeesists s sessebessseseeseseesssessbebsnstsasss st st st e st sb s s s s s s s R b 6
Section 1: VILLAGE GREENS, SCHOOLS AND ORGANISED SPORTS............... 6
~Section 2: VANDALISM AND ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ................................. 11
DISCUSSION OF THE POINTS IN YOUR LETTER ....ootiitirineeeeicniniinnenense 14
Section 3: VICTORIAN STATUTES AND LANDOWNERS’ RIGHTS.....ccoovevvenne 14
Section 4: RESIDENTS’ USE AND LANDOWNERS’ USE ..o e 18
Section 5: DEFERRING.....cccoreirereseeecressineseserissssssssessssonssssssnenssssasssssssssssssanssssses 27
Summary of the issue of defeITing ......cevirrimieiin i 37
Fencing and PE staff..; ................................................................................................. 39
A ViSION FOT ThE UL c.vververreevereeceereesereessesisre st s s sas st st s 40

Ms. Melanie McNeir, Case Officer.

Dear Ms. McNeir, .

Since some of the points which you mention revolve around the relationship between school
sports facilities and Village Greens, it will be useful to start by looking at the legal nature and
status of Village Greens in general before turning to look directly at each of the points you

make in your letter.

Page5 76



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

PREAMBLE

Section 1: VILLAGE GREENS, SCHOOLS AND ORGANISED SPORTS
7. A starting point is the authoritative Law Lords judgement known as the Trap Grounds
case' in which Baroness Hale of Richmond offers a convincing description of an actual

Village Green. I have emphasised some key points in her speech:

«129. Town and village greens are not just picturesque reminders of a by-gone age.
They are a very present amenity to the communities they serve. The village green in
Scorton, in the North Riding of Yorkshire, is a perfect example. ...... It is surrounded
by the old village houses, including the former vicarage, the two remaining pubs, the
shop, the village institute, and the 18th century building which was until recently the
old grammar school. It was and is the centre of the community. Both villagers and
orammar school boys played cricket there in the summer; archery contests were held
there: a bonfire was built for Guy Fawkes' Day; the fair and other events of Scorton
foast were held there every August; and all the villagers could walk and play games
upon it. It is just the sort of place that the Royal Commission had in mind when it
proposed the definition of a town or village green quoted by my noble and learned
friend, Lord Hoffmann, in paragraph 14 of his opinion.” [emphasis added]

8. You suggest in your letter that schools and residents cannot share land which has Village
Green status. Mr. Chris Wade, KCC’s Principal Case Officer, in an email to me of 9% June,

1

kindly elaborated on your team’s thinking in this area:

I would add that I have also, personally, taken the opportunity, whilst seeking
advice from two different Counsel on other village green matters, of raising
informally the issue of whether there were any circumstances in which land held as
a school playing field could be capable of registration as a village green. On both
occasions, the Barristers concerned were of the view that this is unlikely to have
been Parliament's intention in enacting village green registration legislation but the
outcome would be dependent on the facts of each case.

My legal advisers are surprised by Mr. Wade’s and his advisers’ approach, since in our view
there is no justification in law for excluding any type of land a priori from registration as a
Village Green. I phoned the Open Spaces Society and it is their view also that there is no
provision in statue for the sort of restriction which Mr. Wade’s advisers suggest. We recall
that among land registered as Village - greens are a car park, and also “some rocks at
Llanbadrig, Ynys Mon, which had been used by the inhabitants of the locality to moor boats
while engaged in the pastime of boating” (Lord Hoffinan, Trap Grounds, para 39). For this

! Judgments - Oxfordshire County Council (Respondents) v. Oxford City Council (Appellants) and
another (Respondent) (2005) and others HOUSE OF LORDS SESSION 2005-06 [2006] UKHL 25, on
appeal from[2005] EWCA Civ 175, available at:

http://www.publications.parliament.lﬂdpa/ 1d200506/1djudgmt/jd060524/0xf-1.htm

Page 97



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

reason my advisers suggest that it is wrong in law to assume that any kind of land is likely to
be excluded a priori from Village Green status, and that includes playing fields. This was
clearly also the Law Lords’ view in their extensive discussion of the nature of Village Greens

in Trap Grounds.

9, Furthermore, Baroness Hale’s own description of Village Greens in the Law Lords’
judgément, cited above, shows this view to be manifestly mistaken, since she explicitly
includes the shared use by a secondary school and local residents within her view of a Village
Green. At Scorton the school did in fact use the Green for organised sports for many years
together with residents’ recreational use. According to the Baroness this vision of a Village
Green “is just the sort of place that the Royal Commission had in mind when it proposed the
definition of a town or village green quoted by my noble and learned friend, Lord
Hoffinann.” None of the other Law Lords dissented from her description;

" 10. This shows that Parliament certainly did not think to exclude such shared use by schools

and residents from its definition of Village Greens, contrary to your legal team’s suggestion.
The description offered by Baroness Hale shows, on the contrary, that Greens can perfectly

well include harmonious shared use between a local secondary school and local residents,

- precisely because this has happened on typical Village Greens for centuries. We note that the

Green in Scorton has been used for cricket, for archery contests, it has been closed for annual
fairs (in fact lasting for four days), but most important for our purposes, it was shared

amicably for sports and recreation by the school and residents together for decades.

11. This is the kind of vision we have for the land in Canterbury with which this application
is-concerned. More importantly, this kind of shared use has already happened in Canterbury
for more than 20 years on the land in question, with both the schools and the residgnts using
the field for sport and recreation. In other words, we have evidence that such sharing of the
Jand is not only within Parliament’s definition and conception of a village green, but has also
been perfectly possible in practice here in Canterbury over the twenty year qualifying period

set by Parliament.

12. Besides Baroness Hale’s Law Lords definition of a Village Green shared by schools and
residents, we can adduce many other examples of similar harmonious shared use of Vlllage
Greens by schools and local communities. This also serves to contradict the view set out in
your letter and in Mr. Wade’s email. The website for OFSTED, the official government
inspection body for schools, offers for public view numerous official inspection reports

which demonstrate that schools up and down the country share Village Greens for their

Page778



Village Green application no. 595.

Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

sports, and that they do so with no loss of educational effectiveness. Examples include the

following:

Green, Tetsworth,
Oxfordshire

Tetswdfth Vi agé ”

regiétéred ,; Village
Green no. 46085

“Good use is made of the village hall, village green and local
sports centre for school events and physical education
sessions.”

“The governors, headteacher and staff, like the parents, value
highly the school’s well established traditions which sustain
the school at the hub of village life. Most traditions are linked
to key events throughout the year. Good examples are the
school sports’ day on the village green...”

Milburn, Cumbria

registered  Village
Green no. 63028

“The school is sited on the village green, on which the pupils
play.” (2006)

“In good weather, the school makes use of the village green
for games and athletics. (2001)

Eppleby, N.
Yorkshire

registered  Village

Green no. 42089

““the school makes use of the village green for sports”

Nether Heyford,
‘ Northamptonshire

registered  Village
Green no. 43051-6

“Staff are consistent in the way they interpret and apply the
behaviour policy and children are confident as they choose
what to do and move between the hall and supervised play on
the village green outside” :

This is a small sample of the many examples available, all of which demonstrate

unequivocally that with proper management there is no problem in law, or in practice, about

schools sharing Village Greens with residents and making use of Village Greens for

organised sports, and doing so effectively and without educational disadvantage.

13. T was especially surprised by the idea expressed in your letter that schools cannot share

Village Greens for sports with residents since I see from your KCC website that land at

Barham in Kent, very near Canterbury, was granted Village Green status by your committee

on 11% February of this year. The documentation on your website’ shows that the land is

known variously as the Green or as the Playing Field for Barham Primary School, as can be

seen by the accompanying map of the land from your website, which I reproduce here:

2 http://www.kent. gov.uk/NR/rdonlyres/3 EB939A2-9E92-4304-A215-

. F888FCA1D810/0/ vi}lage_green_barham.pdf

Page %9




Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

! R

The primary school is in fact across the road, and when I telephoned them they informed me
that although they have playing fields adjacent to their building, they also use this land
régularly as playing fields, as the legend on the map in the application shows, and even for
their sports day. Of course, the Barham case is different in various ways from the Canterbury
one, (for example the land is owned by the parish council and not by the school), and it
relates to a small village primary school, but since your Regulations Committee has
regisfered this playing field as a Village Green, and the land will continue to be used as a
school sports field, this again suggests that there can be no obstacle in principle to sharing
between schools and residents, and therefore no obstacle to registering land which is already

shared.

14. Perhaps organised school team Sports such as football and cricket would be difficult on a
Green? On the éontreuy, it is a part of the common idea of Village Greens (as Baroness
Hale’s account also makes clear) that they are normally used for organised sports such as
cricket, football and even archery. Lord Hoffman in Trap Grounds makes mention of Greens
used for horseracing, football, rounders and cricket (para 6). Indeed DEFRA’s official
memorandum on Village Greens laid before Parliament’ and intended to act as guidance to

local authorities, specifically allows for organised team sports, as well as ad hoc ones:

Town and village greens originally developed under customary law as areas of
land where local people indulged in lawful sports and pastimes and in so doing

established recognised vecreational rights. These rights typically included

organised or ad-hoc games, picnics, fétes and similar activities.

3 DEFRA: EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM TO THE COMMONS (REGISTRATION OF TOWN OR
VILLAGE GREENS) (INTERIM ARRANGEMENTS) ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2007 No. 457

Page’80



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008
15. We can in fact find numerous examples of registered Village Greens being used for such
formal organised sports. Frequently parts of a Green are even set aside for such sports, with

no legal conflict. Here are some examples of Village Greens used in such ways:

Wrea Green,
Lancashire

regiéféied Village

Green no. 33001

Cricket Club: “We play on the vil aée; green, cbmplete with
duck pond in one corner, and which is surrounded by the
school, pub, church, and shop”

Great Bentley,

registered Village

“The Village has its own Football club and Cricket Club with

Colchester, Green no. 21068 | their respective matches played on the green throughout the

Essex season.” (and also a Carnival and numerous fairs).

Wickham St | registered Village | “Wickham St Paul’s [Football club] also play on their village

Paul’s, Essex | Greenno. 21084 | green.” , .

Bovingdon registered Village | “Bovingdon Cricket Club is located on the village green in

Hertfordshire; | Greenno. 27086 | Bovingdon. .... the Club has secured a long-term lease on the
site. The Club fields three senior teams” .- :

Lyminge, registered Village | “Lyminge Community Football to be held at the Lyminge

Kent Green no. 32039 | Recreation Ground.... 3 Wednesday Soccer Leagues are being

(Recreation staged at the Lyminge Recreation Ground

Ground) .

Thornton Registered by the | “Today, the village green is the hub of village life, comprising

Hough Local  authority | a football pitch, cricket square and two tennis courts. A half

(no reg number) timbered, thatched sports pavilion is rented out to football and

cricket teams seasonally and the local school regularly uses
the village green for sporting activities.”

Ridgeway Registered 2005 On plans to use land as a skatepark, despite a village green

Grundy Park, application:

Cheshire .”head of planning John Groves said by-laws were not a

planning issue. Tennis courts and cricket nets had been held
by the courts as being compatible with village green status and
it was considered the skate facility could be viewed in this

way.

16. These examples offer a number of salient points highly relevant to the current application.
Tt can be seen, firstly, that official registered Village Greens can be used for a variety of
organised sports with no conflict wifh residents’ use, that they can be rented out, and even
leased to organised teams (see examples 4 and 5). A school is again mentioned (example 6).
Example 7 shows that they can be improved with the addition of new facilities; Ridgeway
Grundy Park in Cheshire was registered as a Village Green in.2005 and after that a skatepark
was built on it with no impediment. As Cheshire Council’s Head of planning said in that
regard, “Tennis courts and cricket nets had been held by the courts as being compatible with
village green status and it was considered the skate facility could be viewed in this way. " His

view was accepted and the skatepark was duly built.

Page ¥




Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

17. The suggestion in your letter and emails, therefore, that the schools in this case might be
impeded in their future sporting uses of the‘ﬁeld in question, and that therefore this might be
grounds for rejecting my application, is therefore undermined by these examples of
harmonious school use, as well as of extensive club and organised sporting use, on Village
Greens up and down the country. These examples demonstrate conclusively that there is no
legal or practical problem or impediment for a school to carry out all kinds of organised and

team sports to a high educational standard on a registered Village Green.

In addition, they show that landowners, once a Green is registered, can without any obstacle
improve the land by adding extra sporting facilities such as tennis courts, cricket nets,
skateparks and so on, and can even rent them out to sports clubs. They demonstrate that even

a full football or cricket league with numerous teams can be carried out on a Green with no

lawful or practical impediment, and that even potentially dahgerous sports such as archery
can be practised on a Green, obviously with appropriate safeguards. The point is that, as Lord
Hoffman noted in Trap Grounds [para 51]: “There has to be give and take on both sides”, and
his point is highly significant. These examples show that this kind of cooperation is perfectly

possible, indeed that it happens every déy all over the country.

18. For these reasons I submit that the suggestion in your letter and emails that registering the
land in this case as a Village Green would prevent the school from using the land in future for
sports and recreation, and that this might therefore render my application unacceptable, is
untenable in the light of numerous actual examples of registered Village Greens from around
the country, and in the light of the Law Lords discussion in Trap Grounds. We will consider

this in further detail below when we look at each part of your letter in turn.

Section 2: VANDALISM AND ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

19. The objectors have brought forward evidence of vandalism and antisocial behaviour, so it
is useful here to look at what this means for the application. To take one example, Mr Woods,
a longstanding governor of Barton Court School, mentioned in one school document én
unknown man whom he saw on the land in question, and who reportedly told him that he had |
been walking his dog on the land for years, that he had a right to do so, and did not intend to
stop. Teachers also report people interrupting school sports, and others report apparent acts of

vandalism to school property on the land.

20. We residents are as unhappy as the schools with vandalism and antisocial behaviour,
particularly as we live nearby 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, unlike the school staff and

many of the pupils! We will in future do everything we can to work with the schools against

Pagé]82



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

it. However it is important to note that such behaviour has nothing to do with Village Green
status, nor can it be taken into account in determining this application, for the following
reasons: |

1. We have no ev1dence at all that these people were local residents. The schools were
not able to produce any evidence to suggest this. We therefore have no idea or
evidence concerning who exaqtly they were or where they lived.

2. If someone is challenged by a landowner but continues to use the land, they may -
arguably thereafter be using ‘with force’ and not ‘as of right’. However, as noted
above, the landowners, despite ample opportunity to do so, did not produce any'
evidence that any of the people challenged did ever use the land again, since they had
no idea who they were. The schools did not report them to the police and no offender
was ever identified. No case of trespass ever even came to court, let alone to proof.
No repeat offenders are feported in the school evidence, certainly none who can be
identified as residents. '

3. Itisa commonplace in law that the crimes of one person should as far as possible not
be used to affect the rights of another. In his authoritative guide to Administrative
Law’, Wade categories the scope of unreasonableness in law and includes as
unreasonable ‘penalising the innocent’. In this case I submit that it would be unfair
and unreasonable to remove the rights of innocent local residents who used the field
without force because of the alleged bad behaviour of unknown people. Tl}e fact is
that there is no evidence that any local resident ever used the land by force, or was
ever challenged on the land. Testimony from all the local residents who made
statements and wrote letters demonstrates the truth of this. They were all specifically
asked if they had ever been told not to use the land or asked to leave, and not one of
them reported anything of the kind. |

4. Parliament has established the test for registering a village green to include evidence
of significant users from a locality ‘as of right” without force, secrecy or permission.
What Parliament did not do was insist also on other conditions such as that ‘no
vandalism or bad behaviour by persons unknown could ever have occurred on the,
land’, or that ‘nobody can have ever used the land in other ways’. I submit that it is
incorrect in law to add conditions for my application which Parliament did not

include, such as taking account of the alleged bad behaviour of unknown people.

4 H.W.R. Wade and C.F. Forsyth, Administrative Law, 7th and 9th edition, Oxford University Press,
2005. .

Pagelg3



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

21. This means, I submit, that so long as we can provide in the appiication sufficient evidence
of proper user of the right kind under the guidelines set out by Parliament, then the alleged
existence of any other users is irrelevant, especially as there is no evidence that any of them
was a resident of the parish. We believe that we have done so, with evidence of hundreds of
actual and observed users, residing all over the parish, over the whole qualifying period.
Incidentally, the land in question is now fenced off, but the local Police have informed me
personally at local Resident Association meetings that there are still regular acts of vandalism
on the field. Graham Hadler, a local resident, himself recently called the police when he saw
a fire had been started on the land. This demonstrates again that vandalism exists no matter
whether the land is a Village Green or not, or is fenced off or not, and is not therefore

relevant to the current application.

22. History of the Field

Before we turn to the details of your letter, it is useful to remind ourselves briefly of some of
the history of the field. To start with, we recall that both schools have other extensive pklaying
fields adjacent to their buildings, apart from this field. It should also be ﬁoted that because
both schools have these other extensive playing fields, and that one of them is even now
building a £20 million multisports centre, if this land were to be registered as a Village Green

it would leave them at no disadvantage in terms of sports facilities.

This was the reason why from the 1960s until the time of my application in 2007, the field in
question, between the two, was relatively unimportant to them. They did not need to use it
~ much. In the 1970s and early 1980s, before the qualifying period, the headmaster encouraged
locals to use it. Throughout the qualifying 20 year period the field was relatively ignored and
neglected. This point was evidenced in my previous documentation, not only by lack of
fencing, but for example by the fact that large chunks of the metal hut which is still on
Ordnance survey maps, but which was burned down in the 1990s, remained on the field for
all to see until 2008. This relative neglect and limited use of the field, and the accompanying
relaxed attitude on the part of the schools, continued for decades, right through until 2007.
Several of the residents testify to this. We recall the evidence of Lt Colonel John White in his

letter of 10™ February 2008:

“My wife have lived here for 24 years, since 1984, and for the first 11 years I
walked past the field four times nearly every day. I noticed that the schools made
very little use of the field on school days, and never at weekends or during the
long school holidays.... Following my retivement in 1995 we have both often
passed the field and its use has continued to be as before....[until the new
fence] ... [Users] have never been told, or seen any signs, that the field is for the

Pagé%4



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

exclusive use of the two schools, therefore naturally assuming that there was no
objection to [their use]. The ownership of the field was never made apparent. ”

The Garrard family say the same, reporting in their letter that “the field has been hugely
underused by the two schools”. This is a fair reflection of the situation. The evidence shows
that the schools cared little about the field because they used their other land for sports, and
5o used it minimally and looked after it minimally, and did nothing to stop other people using
it. As is clear from many residents’ letters, one consequence of this was that no-one had .any
idea that the field was even owned by the schools, with almost all of us thinking it was public
land perhaps belonging to a public body such as KCC. The relatively limited use and the

absence of any signs contributed to this impression.

This explains why the schools seemed so relaxed about the field, and also explains why they
“did not put up signs, or take action against trespassers. They knew of the residents’ use, but
were not bothered about it because they had a lot of land attached to their buildings which

was closer and easier to use. The result, I submit, was acquiescence in residents’ use.

DISCUSSION OF THE POINTS IN YOUR LETTER

With this background in mind, we will now turn to examine in more detail the points made in

your letter.

Section 3: VICTORIAN STATUTES AND LANDOWNERS’ RIGHTS
23. You start by discussing the 19® century legislation and its implications for Village
Greens, leading to discussion of what is called the Laing Homes case’. Within this context

you suggesf that:

“In the present case, the use of the land as a school playing field by Barton Court
School and Chaucer Technology College (“the landowners™) would necessarily
interrupt the use or enjoyment of the land as a place for exercise or recreation
and, were the land to be registered as a Town or Village Green, such use of the
land by the landowners is likely to be a contravention of section 12 of the
Inclosure Act 1857. Furthermore, such use of the land by the landowners would
not be with a view to the better enjoyment of the land as a Town or Village
Green and therefore might also constitute an offence under section 29 of the
Commons Act 1876.”

24. In this you depend on the Laing case, but my advisers note that your reference to Laing

fails to take proper account of Lord Hoffman’s later discussion of this issue in the Law Lords

? R (Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin)

Page‘]8‘5



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

in Trap Grounds [op.cit, sections 51 and 52 and 57]. It is clear in law that Hoffman’s
discussion ruled against the Laing judgemenﬁ in this resi)ect. I refer you to a discussion
offered by Philip Petchey QC, a recognised authority in this area, presented at the recent
seminar entitled: “Village Greens: Law. Evidence and Handling the Public Inquiry” at the
Chambers of Robin Purchas QC. Francis Taylor Building. The relevant section is reproduced
below in Appendix 2. We note the disclaimer at the end of Mr Petchey’s discussion, that itis
not meant to be comprehensive legal advice, but it is nonetheless a useful authoritative
-summary of cunjent‘thinldng. In paragraph 3 Mr Petchey is dismissive of the case you
propose regarding the ruling in Laing, saying that “we now know that it is wrong”, and cites
Lord Hoffiman to e'xplain why. In short, I submit that Mr. Petchey is correct in law and that it
would be incorrect in law to reject my application on the grounds of the Victorian statutes in

the ways you suggest.

25. Tn addition, in his judgement [Trap Grounds op.cit, sections 51 and 52] Lord Hoffman
demonstrates by reference to Fitch and Fitch® that the landowner already has legal safeguards
which allow him or her to continue to use the land in the ways which s/he used it prior to
registration, without fear of disruption by outsiders. If, say, an aggressive intruder in future
tried to disrupt a school match arguing that s/he had Village Green rights, then in Lord
Hoffman’s view the courts could use such precedents as Fitch and Fitch to protect the
schools’ rights. In short, Lord Hoffman’s view in this section also goes against your
suggestion that the schools would be unable to continue to pursue their normal spbrts
activities if the land were a Village Green, so this suggestion cannot in law be prejudicial to
my application. The schools could continue to use the field as they have for 20 years, with -

adequate legal protection for their right to do so.

26. A further reason why the suggestion in your letter is not tenable is the implied belief that
the Laing case sets a sort of automatic precedent to be used in every future case. This is not
what Justice Sullivan said in that judgement. He stressed that each case was to be considered
on its own evidence (73. “I readily accept that the question is one of fact and degree in each
case™), with the result that his judgement can be used to shed light on another case only if the
evidence of the use of each piece of land in question is fully evaluated and analysed to test
. whether in practice residents’ use of the field was disrupted. This your letter has
unfortunately not done. You simply offered the precedent without adducing any evidence

about this particular case.

6 Fitch v Fitch (1798) 2 Esp 543 ,as a sequel to Fitch v Rawling 2HB1393

Pagel86



Village Green appiication no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

This is an important point because, as Justice Sullivan made clear, even agricultural use per
se is not necessarily an obstacle to Village Green registration. For example grazing can be
acceptable in some cases [para 67]. It is a matter of degree aﬁd evidence. In this current case
there is simply nothing remotely comparable with the Laing Homes situation, with
agricultural use of the field closing it off with large industrial machinery for days at a time,
and therefore nothing to suggest that the parts of the Laing Homes case you refer to have any

relevance here at all. They cannot therefore be prejudicial to my application.

27. In any case, I submit that it is a mistake to draw on the Laing case (in which there was
significant disruptive agricultural activity closing the land for long periods, with the use of
large mdustnal machines) or indeed to draw on the Redcar case which you also mention,
(where there was an official golf club 0bv1ous to all) in order to make a comparison with a
completely different kind of situation, namely the activities of normal school sports and
recreation on land whose ownership status was not known to residents, who used it thinking
it was public land, and who used it without any sort of disruption for twenty years. I submit
that there is no iegal basis for using the Laing case, which was essentially about agricultural
use, as a precedent for such a markedly different situation. I submit that in fact the precedent
in Laing can only properly be used in cases of haymaking and other crops, or at least in cases
where there has been a significant annual or regular interruption in residents’ use, which is
not the case here.

In the Canterbury case there is no question of grazing, nor of haymaking, nor of any
other kind of activity which closed the field for lengthy periods, except perhaps for
occasional sports events such as are absolutely normal on any Village Green. If this sort of
activity were allowed to hinder my application we would be in the ridiculous position of
saying that normal sports and recreation cannot take place on the land owing to normal sports

and recreation, which would surely be improper in law..

Consistency

| 28. In my origiﬁal application: I drew attention to another TVG case in Kent, that of
Heartenoak Playing Fields, Hawkhurst, which has certain parallels with this current
application. There too, the Laing case was mentioned as a possible parallel, but your
Divisional Director dismissed this in her report to your Regulation Committee on 30th
November 2006, noting that none of the elements which had been significant in the Laing
case were of any relevance to the Hawkhurst case, mainly because in Laing the case had been
about a hay crop which had been taken for mote than half of the 20 year period. In

Hawkhurst none of this pertained.

‘ Page]é7



Village Green application no. 595. ‘ Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

I suggest that the same is true in this Canterbury case. I submit that if your legal team
are to be consistent in their judgements, they will apply the same logic to this case as they did
to the Heartenoak case, and determine that the elements of Laing to which you now refer

simply do not pertain in the current case.

Retrospective evidence versus prospective speéulation
29. For these reasons the suggestion in your letter in this regard is not, I submit, in any way
substantive in law as an obstacle to my application. If we simply look at how Village Greens '
around the country are actually used, we see that there can be no possible impediment to
these two schools in this case continuing with their normal sporting activities as théy have
done for twenty years without in any Way ‘interrupting’ normal recreation.

Tn fact this evidence of actual shared use over 20 years is the most significant factor of
all against your suggestion. After all, Parliament did not invite us to speculate on what a
landowner might do in future on a Village Green. They asked us instead to look at the past
twerty years and use that qualifying period as the basis for our judgement. The test was set to
be retrospective in nature and not prospective. Indeed Lord Hoffman in Trap Grounds makes
this very point, taking issue with Justice Sullivan’s judgement and drawing careful attention
to the importance of the 20 year refrospective qualifying rule. We can see this in the parts I

have emphasised in Lord Hoffman’s text quoted here:

57 ...*with respect to the judge [Justice Sullivan in Laing], I do not agree that the
low-level agricultural activities must be regarded as having been inconsistent with
use for sports and pastimes for the purposes of section 22 if in practice they were
not.”

'

Tn other words Lord Hoffman (the higher of the two authorities, of course) disagrees
with Justice Sullivan’s mere speculation, and prefers to use as his test the actual facts

about past use. He continues in the same vein:

“Nor do I follow how the fact that, upon registration, the land would become
subject to the 1857 and 1876 Acts can be relevant to the question of whether
there has been the requisite user by local inhabitants for upwards of 20 years

before the date of the application. “

Again, Lord Hoffman’s point is that we should look at “the requisite user by local
inhabitants for upwards of 20 years before the date of the application” as our sole
criterion for adjudication, and not speculate about other hypothetical possibilities. He

completes his point with reference to another case:

Page1§8



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

“ have a similar difficulty with paragraph 141 of the judgment of Judge Howarth
in Humphreys v Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council (unreported), 18 June
2004, in which he decided that acts of grazing and fertilising by the owner which,
in his opinion, would have contravened the 1857 and 1876 Acts if the land had
been & village green at the time, prevented the Jand from satisfying the section 22
definition.”

30. These may or may not be obiter dicta, and not central to the Law Lords’
judgement as a whole, but they are nonetheless telling, and eminently sensible, and should
not be ignored. Mr Petchey relied on them in his opinion reproduces in Appendix 2, and in
the recent High Court case of Lewis v Redcar’ (which I éhall refer to as Lewis) Mr Sullivan
accepted this (para 31). The point is that if there is evidence in practice of user of the
requisite kind, over the twenty year qualifying period set down by Parliament, this thereby in
itself demonstrates that there is no inconsistency between the landowner’s use and the
-rgside11ts’ use. The retrospective analysis is sufficient, and indeed is what Parliament set
down as the test. Therefore, as my legal advisers point out, it should not properly be replaced
by any speculation as to prospective uses. This shows the error in your statement that: “the
use of the land as a school playing field by Barton Court School and Chaucer Technology

College (“the landowners”) would necessarily interrupt the use or enjoyment of the land”.

I therefore submit that your suggestion that my application be rejected because of the

issue regarding Victorian statutes should be set aside.

Section 4: RESIDENTS’ USE AND LANDOWNERS’ USE

32. Your second point is as follows.  have highlighted some key phrases:

“Turning. to the matter of the concurrent use of the land by the local residents and
the landowners, it was held in the same case (at paragraph 82) that the recreational
use of land by local residents was not “as of right” unless it interrupted “the

landowner’s activities in such a manner, or 0 such an extent, that the landowner

should have been aware that the recreational users believed that they were

exercising a right to be there; it would not be reasonable to expect a landowner to

resist the recreational use of the land so long as such use did not interfere with the

Jandowner’s own use of his land.” [emphasis added]

R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council; [2008] WLR (D) 246

Page B9



Village Green application no. 595. _ Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

33. My advisers are clear that you here misconstrue Justice Sullivan’s intentions. Indeed in a
Village Green application at Croxley Green, Hertfordshire (to be considered in more detail
below) Ms. Wood herself, as the Inspector in that case, seems also to disagree with your

interpretation of this part of Justice Sullivan’s judgement.

The point here in Laing is not the relatively superficial issue of “interference’ with the
landowners® activities, so much as the fact that such interference serves notice to the
landowner of the residents’ implicit claims. My advisers point out that, as Justice Sullivan
makes clear several times, the key issue is how the landowner perceived the land and its use.
Citing Lord Hoffman, Justice Sullivan notes (para 78) that: “Under English Law the focus is
not upon how matters would have appeared to the person seeking to acquire the right by long
usage, but upon "how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the land" Again in
paragraph 82 Justice Sullivan notes that ‘the starting point is, "how would the matter have
appeared to Laings?' . Furthermore this is a salient point in the recent Lewis case®, where
Justice Sullivan again makes it clear that the key question is how would the matter have
appeared to landowner. (para 41) The nub of the matter is therefore “"how would the matter

have appeared to the schools?” and not interference per se.

34. This issue was certainly a crucial one in the Laing case because the landowners could
perhaps argue that they did not know that residents were effectively claiming a right over the
land through their pattern of use. However, this is quite different from the Canterbury case
for the simple reason that there is substan tial evidence here that the schools knew full well
about residents’ use of the field ‘as of right’ all along, even before the 20 year qualifying
period. Some of the evidence can be summarised here:

o We have the testimony of numerous residents that the schools knew of and tolerated,
and even encouraged residents’ use well before the qualifying 20 year period.

e Louise Garland, a former governor of the Chaucer School, testifies in her letter that
she used the land ‘as of right’ for recreation from the 1980°s onwards, as did her
children, and she then sat on the governing body for many years in the 1990s. It
would be ludicrous for the governing body to claim that they were not aware that
people were exercising use ‘as of right” when one of their own number te_,stiﬁes that
she herself, a local resident, had been doing so openly for many years.

e We have the evidence of Tanya Taylor from her days as a schoolgirl in the early

1990°s that teachers saw people training on the land during school time and even

8 R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council; [2008] WLR (D) 246

Page1@0



Village Green appli‘cation no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

praised their running, showing not only that their use interrupted the schools’ use but

that the schools were fully aware of such use and acquiesced in the runners’ rights to

use the land. This demonstrates unequivocally that the schools knew of the fact that

local people were using the land ‘as of right’ yet did nothing material about it,
, acquiescing in its use. .

o We have the head teacher of Chaucer school in the early 1990s openly

acknowledging in a letter that some local people acted as if they had rights over the

* land. He said that he would set up signs, but although he might have done so on the
main site, there is no evidence that he ever did so on the field in question.; This shows
incontrovertibly that the schools were ‘on notice’ that people were claiming rights,
yet they did nothing material about it in the case of this field, thereby acquiescing. (It
also shows again that this field was relatively neglected.)

e We see an official scilool document from Mr Woods, a longstanding governor of
Barton Court School, informing a school committee in the early 1990s that he had
met people on the land openly using it and claiming rights, such as the dog walker

" mentioned above, who said he had always walked there and would contmue to do so.
We do not know whether they were residents or not, so this is not evidence that
residents used the land ‘by force’, but that is beside the point: it appeared to the
schools that it was local people and that they were claiming rights over the land, yet
there is no evidence that they took any effective action about it. (This is reminiscent
again of the Heartenoak case, in which your Divisional Director determined that the
landowners had failed to assert ;ts rights, as landowner, over the land in question, or
to give any of the local residents “cause to question their right to use the playing
field.”)

o We also have a number of residents (myself included) reporting use of the field even
while the schools were using it, with no conflict, but simply ‘as of right’ quite
openly. Again, the schools knew this was happening and acquiesced in it.

o A letter from Mr. March, a PE teacher at Barton Court for 17 years reports people
coming onto the field during sports lessons and being ‘reluctant to move’. There is
no evidence that these were local residents, or that the same people ever came back,
but this shows once again that the schools Weré served notice of people using the
field as of right, and interrupting school use at the same time, but did nothing about
it. |

e Perhaps most telling is the evidence offered by Mr Sykes, Head of Facﬁlty, in his
letter. He has been teaching at Barton Court school for the full 20 years, and he

reports that ‘trespassérs’, as he calls them, use the field. His description is revealing:

Page201



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

“a day does not go by in the summer term when my colleagues and I do not
suffer harassment, verbal abuse and physical threats form [sic] trespassers
who seem to feel it is their ‘right’ to walk or cycle right through the middle
of a P.E. lesson or exercise their dogs on the fields”
I do not condone rudeness or aggression, but it is important to note two things: firstly
Mr Sykes does not say that these people are local residents and there is no evidence
that they were. Secondly, whoever they were, these people were clearly interrupting
the school’s use and thereby putting the school on notice that they were using the
field ‘as of right’. Mr Sykes is quite explicit about this, reporting that they “seem to
feel it is their ‘right’...”. He tells us also that this happens often — he has been here 20
years and he says this happens every day in the summer term — we note the use of the
present tense to indicate that it has always happened, and is not new. He does not
restrict his description to any one year, but is speaking generally. This considered
written evidence makes it very clear, in addition to the other evidence cited abové,
that the school has always been on notice that people are using the field ‘as of right’

and yet they did nothing material about it.

'35. In Laing and also in Lewis Justice Sullivan is at pains to say that the key issue is whether
the local peopie “interrupted’ the landpwner to the extent that the landowners must have
known of the local people’s claim to ‘rights over the land. All the evidence cited above,
- especially that from the schools themselves, makes it abundantly clear that the landowners
were frequently interrupted in their use of the land by local people and that they took from
this the understanding that those people were thereby claiming rights over the land. I have
cited the evidence of Mr Sykes. He has been at the school throughout the 20 year period, and
he is not a junior member of staff but the Head of Faculty. He tells us that in the summer the
school’s use of the land is interrupted every day — ‘not a day goes by’ without interruption.
He reports that the se people “seem fo feel it is their ‘right’ to walk or cycle right through the
middle of a P.E. lesson or exercise their dogs on the fields”, and he thereby tells us two
important things, a) that school activities were regularly interrupted, and b) that he takes this

as an implicit claim that they are asserting their right to be there.

I submit that is powerful and conclusive evidence, along with the other evidence adduced
above, that the landowners in this case were made fully aware, through the kind of
interruption and claim to ughts which Justice Sullivan considers significant, that locai people
were using the land in ways tantamount to 2 claim of rights. I submit that not only would a

reasonable landlord draw this conclusion, but that the schools in this case did in fact draw

Page2b2



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

that conclusion, and tell us so in their own testimony. The schools were therefore on notice to

do something about it if they wished to do so.

o Tt does not matter if these people were residents of the parish or not, since the point
here is that no métter who they were, the landowners had been put on notice that their
rights were being challenged, and furthermore the schools believed that it was local
people who were making that claim.. Tt cannot therefore be claimed that the
landowners in this case were not aware of these claims. However, they did not then

‘respond as they could have done, by setting up notices or by other significant means,
50 as to challenge the rights of these local people. As your Divisional Director put it
in the Heartenoak case, the landowners failed to give any of the local residents

“cause to question their right to use the playing field.”

36. In short, as my advisers point out, whereas the landowners in the Laing Homes case .
might have argued that they had no idea that residents were using the land ‘as of right’, no
such claim is credible in this current case. The evidence shows unequivocally that the
landowners were all along, as you put it in your letter, “aware that the recreational users
believed that they were exercising a right to be there”. They might not have accepted this
right if they had been asked directly, but the point is that in practice they acquiesced in this
use, and its associated claim to a right, by their failure to erect any signs at all and their
failure to prevent access by repairing the fence adequately or at all, or to take any other
notificatory action asserting their right. This demonstrates that the discussion of this
particular aspect of Laing in your letter is significantly different from the current case, and

does not have a bearing on it.

I submit that these facts, supported by explicit evidence, render the point from Laing

inadmissible as an obstacle to my application.

Croxley Green
37. A particularly relevant precedent in this area is the TVG application related to Croxley
Green, Hertfordshire, in which the inspector was Ms. Wood herself’. This was not a High

Court judgement, but it is nonetheless instructive. Since the Croxley Green case has close

? Report: In the Matter of an Application to Register land at Croxley Green, Hertfordshire as a Town or .
Village Green, REPORT of Miss LANA WOOD 21 September 2007 , Hertfordshire County Council.

Page:@S



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

parallels with the Canterbury case in this aspect (though not in all), and echoes what I have

argued above, it is worth quoting Ms. Wood’s report on this particular matter at length:

Other legal aspect of the “as of right” test
In respect of the requirement of “as of right” in its wider context, rehance is placed by

TfL/LUL [one of the objectors] on authorities [footnote here reads: They rely in
particular on Laing Homes in this context] which suggest that use of the land by

inhabitants has to be such that the landowner would be aware that users were asserting
a right to use his land for sport and pastimes and that a landowner would appreciate

the nature of the right being asserted.

The Applicants refer to the guidance given by Lord Hoffmann in Oxfordshire where
he held that Sullivan J. was incorrect in Laing Homes that low-level agricultural
operations by a landowner were inconsistent with an assertion of use as of right by
local inhabitants. At para.57, Lord Hoffmann held as follows: k

«_ No doubt the use of land by the owner may be relevant to the question of whether
he would have regarded persons using it for sports and pastimes as doing so “as of
right”. But, with respect to the judge, 1 do not agree that the low-level agricultural
activities must be regarded as having been inconsistent with use for sports and

pastimes if they were not.”

It follows therefore that where a landowner uses his land for llié own purposes but this

does not in fact interfere with the use made ofland by local inhabitants, it is not

correct to infer thereby that use by the local inhabitants was not as of right. [emphasis
added]

LUL/TIL [the objectors] refer to the invasive survey of parts of their land in 1993 (see
PR p.175). This is relied on as evidence that local inhabitants deferred to the

landowners actions and rely in that context on the Laing Homes decision (see Mr

Mjrnors submissions at para.64). This submission is wrong in fact and in law.
[emphasis added] '

So far as the facts are concerned, the evidence of A’s witnesses is that they do not

~ recall these short-lived operations or, if they did recall them, the operations did not

interfere with their use of the larid. Furthermore, those responsible for the survey (a)

avoided disturbing the open area of land (see PR p.181 (1* para on page) and (b)

Paged4



Village Green application no. 595. Dr-. Stephen Bax, August 2008

recorded user on the land while the operations were taking place (ibid.). There was

therefore, in fact, no interruption giving rise to a conflict between local inhabitants

and the actions of those instructed by the landowner. [emphasis added]

In law, the approach in Laing Homes must now be considered in light of Lord
Hoffmann’s guidance in Oxfordshire. If the invasive survey carried out by TfL/LUL
was not in fact inconsistent with use by local inhabitants there is no reason in law why
the activities should be regarded as inconsistent and therefore amount to evidence that
use was not as of right. The surveys done in 1993 here are the equivalent in fact and
law to the “low level agricultural activities” in Laing Homes which Lord Hoffmann

held were not to be regarded as inconsistent with use as of right.”

38. Ms. Wood recommended that the land (excei)t for one part of it which for other reasons
did not qualify) be registered as a Green, and indeed it was then registered. I would draw

attention to one key part of her reasoning here:

“It follows therefore that where a landowner uses his land for his own purposes but Llll_si

does not in fact interfere with the use made of land by local inhabitants it is not correct

to infer thereby that use by the local inhabitants was not as of right ....” [emphasis
added]

39, My advisers concur completely with Ms. Wood here that the issue is one of evidence, s0
that if we find that the landowners’ use does not interfere with residents’ use in fact, then it
follows that it is incorrect to infer that use by the latter was not as of right. Ms. Wood is here
arguing precisely as I did above (and as Mr Petchey did), also citing Lord Hoffiman. In your
_letter there has been no attempt to address the evidence to see what the facts were — you treat
fhis as a matter of simple principle. However, it is clear from the evidence (which we will
consider further below) that the schools’ use in fact did not interfere with residents’ use in

any way.

40. If we look into the Croxley Green judgement further, we note that Ms. Wood has usefully
set out the tests which can be used in such cases, and the main one for our purposes is her
-number 7:
7. The test is not whether the landowner’s conduct would be in breach of the
Victorian statutes but whether the landowner’s own use would prevent the
landowner from regarding recreational user by local people from being “as of

right” i.e. whether the landowner’s use was so_“low-level” that it could coexist-

Page 3y



Village Green application-no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

with use of the land for lawful sports and pastimes, S0 that he would not consider

that by making use of it he was preventing the local inhabitants from using it as of

right, or whether the land owner would perceive that_his use of the land was

inconsistent with its use by the local inhabitants for lawful sports and pastimes.
[emphasis added]

In general my advisers would agree w1th this, with one prov1so Ms. Wood refers to
‘recreational user by local people’ and ‘local inhabitants’ 1mp1ymg that this might refer
specifically to local residents, but it is important to note that this goes beyond what Justice

Qullivan and Lord Hoffman said. We note that TJustice Sullivan said:

82.Thus, the proper approach is not to examine the extent to which those using the land

* for recreational purposes were interrupted.by the landowner’s agncultural activities, but

to ask whether those using the fields for recreational purposes were interrupting Mr

Pennington’s agricultural use of the land in such a manner, or to such an extent, that

Laings should have been aware that the recreational users believed that they were

exercising a public right. If the starting point is, “how would the matter have appeared
to Laings?” it would not be reasonable to expect Laings to resist the recreational use of
their fields so long as such use did not interfere with their licensee, Mr Pennington’s use

of them, for taking an annual hay crop.

Lord Hoffman likewise refers to “persons using it for sports and pastimes”. In other words,
the landowner, the schools in this case, need not believe or know that the people using their
Jand are local residents. Any recreational users can in effect give notice that they are claiming

a right of use, no matter who they are or where they live.

With this proviso we can borrow Ms. Wood’s test in the Croxley Green case to make these
points:. _

a) we are in this point considering recreational users in general, not local inhabitants
specifically (since the landowner could. not reasonably be expected to tell the
difference)

b) the key point is whether the landowners could have been expected to be aware of
their claims of use

c) the interruption does not need to be total: it needs to be only ‘in such a manner, or to

such an extent,” as to make the landowner aware of that claim.

Page2§6



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

With this in mind we can see that in our case the schools were aware of users’ claims to use
‘as of right’ all along, with a teacher, a headmaster and a governor, for time periods covering
the whole 20 year period, even referring to the recreational users as using the field as if they
believed they had a right to use it. The school witnesses even use the word ‘right’ in their

testimony, showing that they realised the claim was for more than casual use.

In summary, it is clear from the evidence that the landowners’ use in Canterbury was of a
kind which certainly could coexist with residents’ use in the way which Ms. Wood describes
for Croxley Green. As I noted in my preamble above, the schools were very relaxed about the
field from the 1960s until around 2007, and because of their other extensive sports fields they
did not use it as much as now they might claim. We recall the evidence from Lt Colonel
White and the Garrards, cited above, that the schools have always used the field relatively
little. It is also clear from extensive residents’ testimony that they, and people they saw, used
the land frequently for all kinds of recreation. This would seem to conform to the description
offered by Ms. Wood in the Croxley case of a situation in which the two co- -existed together
am1cab1y for more than twenty years. The schools might not agree with the word ‘low-level
use’, but this is a matter of evidence — I submit that if their use was of a kind which did not
interfere with the residents’ use, as it clearly did not, then it was of a low enough level to fit

into the required definition.

We can see the truth of this also in what the landowners did not do. We have already seen
that the schools clearly knew all along of users using the land ‘as of right’, and now
acknowledge that in their testimony, but in practice the school authorities were very relaxed
about residents’ use throughout that time. Despite the protestations which emerged aﬁer» my

application, we need to remind ourselves that:

1. There is no evidence of anyone being ejected from the land.

9. There is no evidence of the police ever being called, even once in twenty years, o
deal with anyone on this land.
There is no evidence of any repeat offenders being identified.

4. There is no evidence of any resident being asked to leave the land. On the contrary,
of the 60 or more witnesses not one reports this ever happening in twenty years.

5. The schools have produced no evidence of ény formal procedures or policies for
dealing with intruders on the field.

6. There is no actual evidence of a consistent programme of fencing and fence
maintenance (e.g. letters, bills etc.).

7. There is no credible evidence of any signs or notices of any kind.

Page2§7



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

This must persuade any independent observer of the fact that there is clear evidence that the
landowners were on notice and well aware of the implicit claim to rights. Ms. Wood in the
Croxley Green case recommends that we consider whether “the land owner would perceive
that his use of the land was inconsistent with its use by the local inhabitants for lawful sports
and pastimes”. Surely if a landowner did seriously perceive this, then s/he would take some
action at some point in the twenty years. The very lack of action in this case, over a 20 year
period, is therefme most significant, and demonstrates that the landowners, even though they
knew full Well of the claim to a right to use the land, and had testified to regular interruptions,

acquiesced in residents’ use.

In short, although of course it has many differences, the Croxley Green judgement allows us
to apply the same reasoning in the current case, borrowing our main text from Ms. Wood’s
findings as the Inspector, but adding in what is relevant to our circumstances, to give this

conclusion:

If the [school sport and games] carried out by [the schools] [were] not in fact inconsistent
with use by local inhabitants there is no reason in law why the activities should be
regarded as inconsistent and therefore amount to evidence that use wés not as of right. The
[school sports and other activities] here are the equivalent in fact and law to the “low
level agricultural activities” in Laing Homes which Lord Hoffmann held were not to be

regarded as inconsistent with use as of right.

41. Since it is abundantly clear from the evidence that school activities were not in-fact
inconsistent with use by local inhabitants, since both continued throughout the 20 year period
perfectly amicably, partly becéuse of the relatively low level of school use, and despite the
schools testifying to knowing of the competing claim to 11ghts I submit that in this case also
that there is no reason in law to decide that user as not as of right, contrary to the suggestion

in your letter.

Section 5: DEFERRING
42. The last main point in your letter concerns the way in which residents used the land in
question, and asks whether they perhaps ‘deferred’ to the landowner. You offer the

- possibility that perhaps:

Page2§8



Village Green application no. 593. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

The landowners’ use of the land during the material period for the purposes of school
playing fields was a use which conflicted with the use of the land as a place for informal
recreation by the residents of the locality.

The advice received from Counsel is therefore that, prima facie at least, use by local
inhabitants (and others) of the land comprised in your application deferred to the
primary use of the land by the landowners and hence was not “as of right” within the
meaning of the definition of “town or village green” contained within the Commons Act
2006.

44. Tn the first place, as I have already noted, there is no evidence that the landowners’ use in
practice actually conflicted with the residents’ use. The only (alleged) conflicts were with
people whose identities we cannot know, and who cannot be germane to this case. Although
it is clear that the schobls knew about the use and the implicit and even explicit claim to
righté that this signified, they seemed to accept this and did not take any substantial action,
such as puttihg up signs, or taking legal action against the alleged intruders. The schools do
not identify any local residents in their evidence. In addition, in all of the testimony from
many legitimate residents of the parish there is no suggestion of conflict of these kinds. This
means that your first point, that the landowners’ use “was a use which conflicted with the
use of the land as a place for informal recreation by the residents of the locality.” was simply
1ot true in fact. To borrow Lord Hoffman’s word in the Trap Grounds case, there was “give
and take” on both sides and both pafties used it. The land in question is quite large, and this
means that T could perfectly well be running with my son in our usual place, in the mid
afternoon during school hours, while schoolchildren played cricket at the other end of the
field. I did not defer to them, but continued as of right, in fact believing I'had a right, and
without challenge. In short, while a prima facie assumption might be that such harmonious
shared use could not happen, the actual experience of the field over 20 years shows that in

fact it can, because on the whole it did.

With regard to your other points, since your letter drew on Ms. Wood’s advice, I shall

address these questions by looking in detail at her Advice itself.

45. Ms. Wood has, in section 22 of her advice, usefully set out a procedure for considering

the issues. If we look at point 6 of her procedure, we note that she says:

“Recreational user which defers to agricultural user is not “as-of right” because it
does not have the appearance to the landowner of the assertion of a right.” [ emphasis
added]

Page b



Village Green application no. 595. - Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

In this Ms. Wood agrees with what we said above, citing Justice Sullivan in Laing and in
Lewis, namely that the key factor to start with is “the appearance to the landowner”.
However, Ms. Wood looked only at the evidence which supported my application. She says
in section 27:

I have considered only the applicant’s evidence on-the relevant point, as to do so
avoids any necessity to resolve any conflict of evidence between the applicant’s
evidence and the objectors’ evidence

This is understandable, as it is an attempt to speed up the process. However, I suggest that it
would be more suitable to start with the evidence offered by the objectors, including the
evidence offered by the schools as summarised above, since from this we can see-that the

landowners were always on notice that other users were using the land ‘as of right’.

I have already submitted above that the landowners in this case knew, by their own
admission, that local users were using the land, interrupting their own activities on a regular
basis, and doing so in ways which suggested that they were claiming rights over the land.
They have told us so clearly in their own testimony. This means that we do not need to
investigate further any issues relating to deferring, since the issue of deferring is only
relevant in law, I suggest, if there is no other evidence of what the landowners knew or did

not know.

For these reason I submit that the remainder of the discussion about deferring is not relevant
in law and can and should properly be discarded. However, in order to take account of Ms.
Wood’s discussion in full, in case it should become of relevance later, I will consider it here

in more detail.

46. Firstly, I would say that we are very grateful to Ms. Wood for addressing the evidence in
such detail, and with such consideration, since we feel that it is only right that local residents’
views be taken into account as fully as possible. However, respectfully suggest that there is
scope for an even more comprehensive analysis, since not all the evidence presented has been
fully taken into account in her discussion. To take just one example which springs to mind,
she makes no mention in her discussion of the letter from Solihin and Sofiah Garrard of 11"

February in which they say:

“teachers from both Barton Court and Chaucer schools seemed quite happy for the family

to use the field even when they were taking games lessons at the same time”.

Page o



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

This is clear evidence that this family used the field at the same time as the schools, yet it
features nowhere in Ms. Wood’s analysis. For this reason we submit that there is scope for
further analysis of the evidence, and we would reserve the right to carry out or request such

an analysis if it would be beneficial in future.

47. My legal advisers have looked closely at Ms. Wood’s analysis and opinion, and they
note to start with that the position in law related to deferring is very unclear. Even Justice
Sullivan himself admitted as much in paragraph 72 of the recent Lewis judgement; saying: “It
does seem to me that the ambit of the deference principle is something which is not
determined” and he accordingly allowed that case to go to appeal. I submit therefore that if it
is decided, contrary to my submission above, that deferring is relevant to this case, then KCC
should await the clarification which will result from that appeal before deciding on this

application.

48. Nonetheless, my-advisers also note that Ms. Wood’s analysis seems not to take account of
an important part of the Laing ruling. Ms. Wood says in conclusion:

40. In my judgment the overwhelming majority of the evidence on behalf of the
applicant which referred to times of use suggested use during out of school hours
only.

I will respectfully suggest below that this is not a correct reading of the evidence, but
nonetheless she continues:

The evidence suggests that the majority of local residents’ use deferred to use of the
application land by the schools. Recreational user which defers to use by the
landowner is not user “as of right” because it does not have the appearance to the
landowner of the assertion of a right.

In short, Ms. Wood is treating evidence of use ‘outside school hours as in itself evidence of
deferring. My advisers consider, however, and I submit, that this fails to take account of a
key ruling in Laing. The relevant paragraphs are as follows. Mr George, for the claimant

is mentioned in paragraph 90:
[90] My George submitted that in an application for registration of a
village green under 5.22(1) it had to be shown:

a) that the use was sufficiently frequent throughout the day, as opposed

fo frequent at certain times and infrequent at others

However, Justice Sullivan comprehensively rejected this, as follows (eiﬁphasis added):

Page b1



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

94.1 do not accept the Claimant’s proposition (a)(above). It is not
suggested that it is supported by any authority, and it would appear to be
an attempt to impose a more onerous test than that set out-in the Ministry

of Defence and Sunningwell cases (above). The Inspector realised that the

level of use would vary, at different times of the day and on different days:.
“I have already acknowledged that some of the regular users had a
tendency to go on the land in the early mornings, the evenings or at

weekends, but this is by no means true of all users” (14.20).

95.1 accept Mr Morgan’s submission that since village green uses are, by
their very nature, leisure related, it would be most surprising if there was a
 requirement that lawful sports and pastimes should be carried on
sufficiently frequently throughout daylight hours at all times of the year.
Most recreational activities will, by their very nature, be enjoyed by the
local inhabitants outside normal working hours, at the weekend and
during the school holidays. Outdoor recreation is likely to be more
frequent in the summer than in the winter. A similar pattern of use
would have been expected on customary village greens. When the custom
was first established working hours would have been much longer, and the

time available for recreation on the village green correspondingly shorter.

* Itis clear that this ruling makes in unacceptable in law to require an applicant to show user at

particular times of day as opposed to other times of day. More specifically, Justice Sullivan

_rules (in the highlighted section) that typical village green use will take place outside of

normal working hours, in the evenings and at weekends.

Tn her Advice I respectfully submit that Ms. Wood is doing what Mr George in Laing did,
namely requiring evidence of use at particular times of day as opposed to others, whereas in
fact the use she has identified in her analysis is classic village green use according the Justice
Sullivan’s ruling. As such I submit that it is contrary to Justice Sullivan’s decision to treat
such natural village green use as Ms. Wood has identified as deferring. To put it another way,
it would not be reasonable for a landowner to view such use as deferring in itself, since it is

only to be viewed, according to Justice Sullivan, as a natural pattern of village green use.

47. Having considered the legal reasons why I submit that Ms. Wood’s analysis is not in fact

a material obstacle to my application, I will turn to her analysis itself. In the discussion below

Page 3102



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

I would reserve the right to question her interpretation of many of the witnesses’ intentions at
a later stage, should it be necessary, but for the sake of argument I will take Ms. Wood’s
analysis entirely at face value and consider her analysis and figures exactly as she has
presented them. I would only point out a few minor errors, as follows:

1. Ms. Wood offers 62 numbered witnesses in her table. However, she has two
witnesses both numbered 56, Swindley and Bothwell. If this is corrected, and my
own name added, the total should be 64. ‘

2. In her analysis a number of witnesses are repeated, giving the impression that there
are more voices in support of the point she is making than in fact there are. For
example, De Caires and Long are cited in both her sections 31 and 34, Hadler is
counted in both sections 34 and 36, Dee is counted in sections 31 and 38. I submit
that it is more balanced and fair to count each witness only once to give a true picture

of the balance of evidence.

For this reason I have revised the analysis only in these two ways, and I have then counted
the witnesses, following Ms. Wood’s analysis for the sake of argument. Here is the analysis

quoted directly from Ms. Wood’s Advice (column 1) with my count in columns 2 and 3:

31. The following witnesses referred to use at 8
weekends only: (1) Taylor and (2) De Caires;
(5) and (6) Dee; (9) Cooper; (26) Cogger; (43)
and (44) Long. The following witnesses
referred to their own use (before the relevant | 2
period) having taken place after school and at
the weekends: (24) and (25) Walker.

32. The following witnesses in their questionnaires ’ | 6 (excludes Wilson and
or interviews suggested daily use without Wade, owing to
specifying whether that use was during or after discussion in para 33)

school hours: (12) and (13) Pick; (14) and (15)
Andrews and (16) Wade (“all the time”); (21)
Hummerstone and (22) Samson; (31) Bery.
Wilson. : :

33. In her letter (16) Wade clarified that her 2
family’s use had taken place after school and
in the weekends and holidays. (31) Beryl
Wilson in her November 2007 letter stated “I
personally like to hear young people playing
football or cricket during the summer
evenings.” and expressed her hope “that you
will make this area accessible to the local

Page3203




Village Green application no. 595.

Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

residents out of school hours.” In her 12®
February 2008 letter she referred to use by her
children “during light summer evenings”.
Thus although both these witnesses had
referred to daily use in their questionnaires, in
my judgment it was clear from their letters that
the daily use referred to was outside school
hours only.

34.

(40) Denise and (41) David Young referred to
their family’s use of the land “along with other

local residents ... outside of school hours,

especially during the summer months at
weekends.”( (47) Ashdown’s children’s use
had been during the school summer holidays.(
(33) Dance and his partner and friends used the
playing field during “many out of school
hours”.( (2) de Caires referred to use by many
young people from the neighbourhood “at the
weekends and during the school holidays”.(
(46) Hadler states“In 1980 I started as a pupil
at the Geoffrey Chaucer School (now Chaucer)
and at this point first used the playing fields
out of school hours due to new friends on the
Barton Estate and in Querns Road.”( (43) Long
reports “My children regularly played football
and other sports after school and at weekends.
The field was invaluable to wus during
holidays”.( (53) Huw Kyffin states: “I have
lived in St Augustine’s Road since 1986 and
have regularly used the field myself for
recreation, as do many others in the area. I
know that the field [is] used by two local
schools — Chaucer Technology College and
Barton Court School as a playing field, but
there has always been access to the field and
use is made of it during those times when the
school is not using it.”

= 8, However, de Caires
(2) is repeated, Long (43)
is repeated
so this is counted as
6

35.

Two letter-writers when expressing their
opinion that the application land should remain
available for use by the public, qualified this
desire as referring to times when the land was
not required for use by the schools. (27) and
(28) Graham stated “We believe [the
application land] should remain accessible to
the public when it is not required exclusively
for use by Barton Court and Chaucer
Technology Schools” and (3) and (4) White

stated “The schools only use the field for a few

hours a week. It should be available at all
other times to the public, like sports grounds
elsewhere, e.g. Tonbridge.” In my judgment
these wishes as to the future were likely to
reflect what the letter-writers regarded as the
status quo before the fence was erected.

Page 14




Village Green application no. 595.

Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

36.

It is possible that the following two letter
writers intended to suggest that use occurred
during school hours: (46) Graham Hadler
wrote “The field has been used harmoniously
between the schools and residents for decades”
and (51) Mrs Lesley Long stated “The field
has for many years been open to local
residents’ families to use for recreation,
particularly at weekends and during school
holidays”, although in my judgment their
letters could also be read as referring only to
use outside school hours.

= 2. However, Hadler is
repeated, S0 this is
counted as

1

37.

The evidence of three witnesses suggests that
those witnesses used the application land at the
same time as it was being used by at least one
of the schools. (58) Mrs Garland states that
she used the application land before or at the
very beginning of the relevant period, when
she lived in nurses’ accommodation in St
Augustine’s Road (1984-1987) to picnic and
sunbathe, and reports that no-one told her that

she should not be there, even the teachers |

when the school was using the land. Dr Bax,
the applicant, states in his response to
objections that he used the field whenever he
went there whether or not the schools were
using it, simply because the field is so large
that one set of users does not disrupt other
users. It is not clear in either case whether the
witness used the land when it was being used

by both of the schools, or whether the witness

used one part of the field when one school was
using the other. Certainly Dr Bax’s evidence
tends to suggest the latter. I also note that Dr
Bax’s evidence contained in his response to

‘objections goes beyond the evidence contained

in his statement in support of the application
dated May 2007 (page 5) where he states that
the land is “used for recreation outside school
hours” and does not suggest that he has used
the land at the same time as the schools. (62)
Tanya Taylor is the only witness whose
evidence seems to be inconsistent with the
suggestion that her use deferred to use by the
schools to any extent. She states: “Sometimes
the schools used the field at the same time but
there was never any conflict. I was pupil of
both schools during the nineties and never
heard any complaints about the state of the
field or its use. In fact sometimes in P.E.
lessons teachers used to point out passer-by’s
good running technique or athletic progress.”
NO - another letter also

=3 (+ the Garrard

family whom she does
not mention)

However, Ms. Wood

did not mention the

Garrards, so I will

leave it as
3

38.

Two letter-writers specifically state that both
they and other local residents deferred to the

= 2. However, Dee is
repeated, so this is

Page’t05




Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

schools’ use of the application land in their use counted as

of the land: (5) Peter Dee writes: “the local
community has always recognised that the 1

schools have priority in the use of the area and
have never contested the exclusive needs for
privacy when school sports activities are
scheduled. ... My study window is within ten
metres of the new fence... and it is possible to
observe how well the local people have
enjoyed using the playing field outside school
‘hours. ... I have lived close to Barton Playing
Field for 32 years and have always enjoyed
free access in the evening, at weekends and
during school holidays because there has
always been a gate left unlocked until the last
two months.” (29) Tracey Filmer states: “The
field has always been open to the public and is
used for a variety of purposes after school
hours, at weekends and in school holidays.. A
have always respected the school’s priority use
of the field and would not dream of walking
my dog if any school activity was taking place.
I know this respect is shown by other members
of the community.”

TOTALS: 24 9

[Hence 33 unique witnesses in total are mentioned
and analysed by Ms. Wood]

39. The evidence of the other witnesses relied | This means that as there | 31 witnesses are down

upon by the applicant was equivocal as to are 64 witnesses, that as ‘equivocal’. But
when the use took place. leaves 31 whose evidence | equivocal could mean
is considered to be I used the land when I
‘equivocal’ wanted, with no regard
o to time’

In summary, using Ms. Wood’s own analysis there are 24 witnesses whom she considers to
have said they used the field outside working hours. (I would disagree with her interpretation
of these witnesses’ statements, and would note that none of them ruled out also using the
field within school hours. However, for the sake of argument let us persist with Ms. Wood’s
figures and analysis.) We should, I submit, include the 31 witnesses whom Ms. Wood
describes as ‘equivocal’, as it would be unreasonable and analytically incorrect to leave them
out completely, as that would give a ‘false positive’ in statistical terms. This means that of
the 64 witnesses we have here, 24 say they use the field outside of school hours, but the

overwhelming majority, 40 out of 64, (62.5%.) make no such statement or indication.

Page $66



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

This does not support the suggestion that the majority of users testify that they used the field
outside of school hours. It certainly does not support any claim that the majority of users
‘deferred’ to the schools — there is no evidence for that claim. On the contrary, it shows that
the majority of users (62.5%) do not testify that they used the field outside school hours, and

therefore make no explicit or implicit admission of any sort of deferring.

Ms. Wood suggested that “the overwhelming majority of the evidence on behalf of the

applicant which referred to times of use suggested use during out of school hours only.” [my

emphaszs] However, I submit that a full analysis should look not only at evidence which
‘referred to times of use’ (and indeed I am confused as to why Ms. Wood restricted her
analysis only to a part of the evidence), but it should look at all the evidence. If we do this we

see that, contrary to the inference drawn by Ms. Wood, we must of necessity conclude that:

“the overwhelming majority of the evidence on behalf of the. applicant did not suggest use
during out of school hours only. A minority of evidence suggested this (37.5%) but the clear
majority of evidence (62.5) suggested no such thing.”

The legal meaning of deferring
48. My advisers point out that the legal meaning of ‘deferring’ in these cases is still
contentious. However, they note that it must be something more than using land in a way

which is typical on actual Village Greens.

In the recent Lewis case, as we have noted above, Justice Sullivan himself said in paragraph
72 that: “It does seem to me that the ambit of the deference principle is something which is
not determined” and he accordingly allowed the case to go t0 appeal. We submit that in that
case Jeremy Pike QC was correct to state (para 63) that the interpretation of deference as
presented in Laing and in Lewis is incorrect in law since it fails to take account of Lord
Hoffman’s statements in Trap Grounds relating to ‘give and take’. We submit that in the
current case there is no evidence of deferring of any kind, with the possible exception of 2
witnesses, and that it is incorrect in law to treat normal village green use outside of school

hours, and other use such as is exhibited in this case, as deferring.

You kindly sent me the judgement related to the Recdar case. I submit that there are
important difference between this current case and the Redcar case. Firstly, in the Redcar

case the ownership of the land was known to local people, whereas in this case it was not. .

Page3t07



Village Green application no. 595. ' Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

Therefore 1 submit that any behaviour on their part could not have been owing to

acknowledgement of any right, since they did not know or suspect any such right.

Secondly, in the Redcar case the inspector, Mr Chapman, found that the residents admitted in
testimony that they knew of the Golf Club’s existence and as a consequence when someone
was playing they stopped accordingly — in other words they seemed to acknowledge in their
testimony that the Golf Club activity had a prior right. The first important point is that- Mr
Chapman, the Inspector, tested that evidence in great detail, reporting that “[t]his issue was
the subject of exhaustive evidence during the six day public enquiry”. He did not simply, at
the start of the enquiry, take the fact of stopping to be the deciding factor. Instead the
demdmg factor for him was admission by residents in their testimony of their acceptance of
the prior right of the golfers and the golf club. In that case, Mr Chapman, in the light of that

t{estimony, was JAusmﬂed in deciding that they had deferred.

51. This current case is therefore manifestly different from the Redcar one in these crucial
respects. Here in Canterbury, most residents did not even know that the schools owned the
land in question. It will be recalled that in my Response to Objectors (January 2008) I cited
written evidence from 16 residents showing that they did not know who owned the land, but
thought it was public, and genuinely believed that they had a right to use it for recreation. A
host of other residents could testify to the same — in fact I doubt if there is a single one, or
even a single teacher in either school, who actually knows the full ownership status of the
land even now. There wete (and are still) no signs or other indications to suggest ownership,

and we all know that the issue of ownership in this case is a muddy one.

This means that even if residents had changed their behaviour, for example by keeping out of
the way during a school match (and there is in fact no evidence of this), this could not
possibly be tantamount to deferring, since they did not know of or accept any prior right, and
therefore could not defer to it. They would be acting merely through plain common sense,

politeness or perhaps to avoid sudden physical pain.

52. In addition, as I have shown above the landowners in this case knew all along of local
‘people’s claim to rights over the land, but they did not take the necessary action to inform

local people to the contrary.

" Summary of the issue of deferrmg
56. Let me here summarlse my subrmssmns rega1dmg the issue of deferring. I submit the .

following:

Page 308



Village Green application no. 595. ) Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

b)

d

)

h)

In this case the evidence is overwhelming, from the testimony. of the schools
themselves and others, that the landowners’ use of the land was interrupted to the
extent that they knew of local people’s claim to rights to use the land.

The fact that the people who interrupted are unknown is immaterial — the key thing is

. “how it appeared to the landowners’. It is clear from their own testimony that it

appeared to the landowners that local people were constantly, regularly, every year
and every day in the sumumer, interrupting the landowners’ use and doing so in a -
manner which suggested that the local people had a right to do so.

For this reason the issue of deferring is irrelevant, since it was adduced in Laing and
Lewis only for its relevance to how things appeared to the landowners. Since in this
case we already know this, we need not seek further to look at possible deferring.

In any case, I submit that, following Laing, it is an error in law to treat use which is
predominantly outsidé of workirig hours as deferring, since the Laing ruling clearly
accepts that such use is normal village green use. Such use, 1 respectfully submit,
cannot also be considered as deferring.

I submit that the analysis offered by Ms. Wood is admirably detailed, but it omits
some important details énd interprets testimony in ways which I would seek in future
to revisit if this is needed.

I submit that where we are seeking to establish what the majority Or minority view '
was, it is correct in law to consider in our figures all the evidence and testimony, and
not to exclude that which is allegedly ‘equivocal’.

I submit that if we do so, the majority of witnesses (62.5%) do not offer any evidence
at all of using the field outside of school hours only, or of other acts of deferring. The
minority who did state that they used it outside of school hours did not say that they
exclusively used it at those times, and also they were using the field in normal village
green fashion, and not deferring.

I submit that it was impossible for residents in this case to defer, since they did not
know or acknowledge that anyone else owned the land or had any prior right to use

the Iénd. If they did not know this then they could not correctly be deferring.

57. T submit therefore, that in terms of all the possible objections which you have been kind

enough to bring to my attention, we can say three things:

a)’

“in all of the witness statements and other testimony, there is no substantive evidence

to support any of them;

Page 3909



Village Green application no. 595. ' Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

b) there is considerable legal argument to suggest that none of them is tenable or
relevant in law in regard to the current application;
c¢) there is considerable evidence already offered by residents and the schools

themselves to show that they are not sustainable in fact.

Fencing and PE staff

58. Ms. Wood, in paragraph 26 of her Advice, raised the possibility of further investigatiﬁg
the two issues of a) the fencing and b) whether local inhabitants using the application land
were asked to leave when seen by P.E. staff from the schools, so I will briefly comment on

these issues:

59: Fencing: In my March submission (entitled Part 3, Final summary) I summarised the
discussion over the fencing and suggested that there was no evidence that there was ever in
the whole 20 year period fencing which prevented access, and that iﬁ any case there is
substantial evidence that users accessed the field by meéns of open gates. I noted that Mr

Slater, on behalf of the schools. conceded the fact that
“Tt is true that fencing of itself does not necessarily indicate ownership or prohibition”

M Slater tried to argue that there was complete fencing around the site all the time, contrary
to the evidence of many witnesses. I would draw attention to a statement by Mr. R Sykes,
whom we recall was a senior member of staff at Barton Court and had been there fbr twenty
years. He said in his written submission:

“Open access to the field has prevented Barton Court from being able to ‘marage’ the

site e?ﬂectii/ely”

This shows conclusively that the situation laid out in my previous evidence is accepted by the
school staff — namely that the fields were openly accessible, as can be seen by his phrase
‘open access’, and his complaint about it. This again undermines Mr Slater’s official stated
position that “two people who have long connections with the school are quite able to
confirm that there wa& complete fencing”. Mr Sykes has been intimately involved in the
school day by day for twenty years (unlike Mr Slater, who is a governor) and to him the

situation was one of ‘open access’, and not complete fencing.
I submit that given this written evidence concerning the fencing from the objectors

themselves, along with the other evidence adduced in my previous submissions, there would

be no benefit in reopening this issue, on paper or in a costly public hearing.

Page 3910



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

60. PE staff and local residents: Ms. Wood also considers that it might be useful to revisit the
issues of “whether local inhabitants using the application land were asked to leave when seen
by P.E. staff from the schools”. I am confused about this since in the testimony of 64 people
not one witness testifies to beiﬁg asked even once by PE staff or any other school staff to
leave the field in the whole 20 year period. It may be that school staff told some people to
leave but even if this is so we have no idea who these people were, and no evidence that they

were local.

I submit that the evidence is strong that local residents were not told to leave the field by any
school staff in the whole 20 year period. In my interviews I specifically asked the question,

and every respondent said they had never been asked to leave the field.

I submit therefore that it would not be necessary to reopen this issue at public enquiry, since I
do not see how any evidence could be so strong as to overcome the weight of 64 resident
witnesses. Of course, as I said above, I am not averse to a public enquiry if KCC feel it would
be useful. However, as things stand I submit that the evidence in favour of my application is

so such that this case does not need any such further investigation.

61. For the reasons set out in this letter and appendices, therefore, I would request that your
legal team, in consultation with Ms. Wood or someone of similar standing in this area,
réconsider the possible objections‘ put forward in your letter. If as I submit, my application
has therefore met all legal requirements, I would then request that ybu recommend to the
Regulation Committee Member Panel that there is no legal impedimeﬁt to my application

being approved, so we can move forward to registration.

A vision for the future

62. In my view this case is a surprisingly straightforward one in comparison with most of the
many Town or Village Green applications I have come across. Here we have a piece of land
which was bought with public money for public recreation in the 1940s. The Cricket
Meadow, as it was called, was bought “for the purposes of public walks and pleasure

grounds”, and although it was then given over to schools in the 1960s, it simply continued to

be used by the pubhc of parish for recreation and sport just as on any normal Village Green.
It had, after all, been used in this way perhaps for hundreds of years. The schools, having
their own sports fields, treated this land as surplus to requirements, and although they used it A
now and again, and they saw that others used it, and took no substantive action to prevent or
challenge them, not even putting up signs nor seeking in any other substantive way to

advertise their ownership or to prohibit or hinder access, or in any other way to assert their

Page 401 1



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

rights and to oppose the rights of local people. For more than twenty years, then, many
people in the parish community, in significant numbers, used the land amicably and to the

mutual benefit and enjoyment of all, for lawful sport and recreation.

For me this is exactly the kind of case which Parliament had in mind when it set out its
legislation on registering Village Greens. It is the kind of shared use which Kent County
Council should surely encourage and promote. It has been shown that there is no impediment
in law or in practice to registering school playing fields as a Village Green, and indeed if the
land is registered the schools have a legal right to continue to use it for those purposes, and
can take action against anyone who prevents them, as Lord Hoffman has made clear. It is .
furthermore the aim of local residents, both individually and through the local Residents
Associations, to work with the schools to ensure not only shared use but also shared
responsibility in all aspects of the field’s maintenance and preservation as a place for

organised and ad hoc sports and recreation.

For legal reasons, therefore, but also for the sake of community, for the sake of public health
and welfare, I invite KCC to approve my application to make this land a Village Green and
therefore safeguard it as a place for continuing sport and recreation for the whole community.
I would be pleased to offer any further information, evidence or discussion should that be

needed. Meanwhile, thank you for your time and kind attention.

Dr. Stephen Bax
August 2008

Page4li2



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

APPENDIX 2: Opinion of Philip Petchey QC to 2008 Seminar on
Village Greens: Law, Evidence and Handling the Public InQuiry: Chambers of Robin Purchas ;
OC. Francis Taylor Building

DUAL USE OF LAND SOUGHT TO BE REGISTERED AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE
GREEN

Philip Petchey

1. There were not wanting at the time people to say that the argument in Laing' and
followed in Humphreys v Rochdale MB C? was back to front. Let me just begin by reminding you
what that argument was: ‘

65. Moreover, section 12 makes any act "to the interruption of the use or enjoyment [of a village
green] as a place for exercise and recreation ... " a criminal offence. Whatever may be the
position in relation to those customary rights which had been established by 1857, where
haymalking and recreational use were able to coexist, no such rights can have been established
after the enactment of section 12. If a village green is established, any other use involving acts
which would interrupt its use for enjoyment and recreation are effectively prohibited It is difficult
to see how the various steps that are necessary to gather a hay crop (as opposed to mowing grass
to keep it short and useable for recreational purposes) could be said not to amount to such an
interruption. '

66. Section 29 of the 1876 Act, to which the Inspector did not refer, makes any effective
agricultural use of a village green more difficult. The erection of fencing ( "inclosure "), or a
shelter or water trough ("any erection ") to facilitate the use of the land for grazing would be
prohibited, as would ploughing and reseeding("disturbance or interference ... with the soil"). The
occupation of the soil for the purpose of taking a grass crop, involving the steps described by Mr
Pennington (above), would not be myith a view to the better enjoyment of [the] village green "
and would thus be deemed to be a public nuisance.

67. My George submitted that the words "without lawful authority” in section 12 were a
recognition that pre-existing commoners’ rights of grazing would continue, and were not an
acknowledgement of the landowner's right to graze cattle on a village green. I agree with the
Inspector (14.45) that section 12 permits the landowner (or his tenant or licensee) "to place his
cattle on the green at least in any manner which is not incompatible with the village green
rights". I further agree that

1. ~ LeR (Laing Homes Limited) v. Buckinghamshire County Council [2004] 1
P and CR 36. ) .
2. 2. Unreported, 18 June 2004, Judge Howarth.

1

42Page 113



Viliage Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

"he converse would be that [even after 1857) village green rights can be established in
circumstances where there happens to be some lawful, and compatible, grazing ...". Given the
restrictions imposed by sections 12 and 29 (above) such grazing would have to be very low
key indeed (as was the case in Sunningwell) in order to be lawful and compatible with the
establishment of village green rights.

68. For the reasons set out above I do not agree with the Inspector's conclusion that village
green rights can be established where land is being used for the growing and cutting, drying,
baling etc of a hay crop. The Inspector refers at the end of para 14.45 to "hay cutting”. The
occupation of land for the purpose of "hay cutting" is not to be equated with grass cutting. The
former is no different in principle to the harvesting of any other crop. Insofar as the latter is
carried out "with a view to the better enjoyment of [the) village green " as such, it will not be a
public nuisance under .29, nor will it be a criminal offence under section 12. When enacting
the definition of "town or village green" in section 22(1) of the Act, Parliament must be
assumed to have been well aware of the restrictions that would be placed upon newly created

" village greens by the nineteenth-century legislation. Against that background, it would be

surprising if Parliament had intended that a level of recreational use which was compatible
with the use of the land for agricultural activities (such as taking a hdy crop) should suffice for
the purposes of section 22(1), since upon registration .. as a village green (if not after 20 years
use) some, if not all, of those lawful agricultural activities would become lawful by virtue of
sections 12 and 29. Moreover, the prospect of improving the land agriculturally, by fencing, or
by ploughing or re-seeding, would be lost.

2. So section 12 and section 29 are incompatible with use of land for agriculture as it was being practised at
the time of the application (taking a hay crop). If the land had become a town or village green, those
uses would have to stop. Therefore (essentially as a matter of law) because Laing had continued to take a

hay crop at the time when the use relied upon was taking place, the use relied

2

Pdde 114



Village Green application no. 595. , Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

upon could not be taken as suggesting to them that local people were asserting a

public right’.

3. But if the argument is back to front, it is not demonstrably wrong on that
account. However we now know that it is wrong. In the Trap Grounds case’,

Lord Hoffmann said:

57. There is virtually no authority on the effect of the Victorian legislation. The
1857 Act seems to have been aimed at nuisances (bringing on animals or dumping
rubbish) and the 1876 Act at encroachments by fencing off or building on the
green. But I do not think that either Act was intended to prevent the owner from
using the land consistently with the rights of the inhabitants under the principle
discussed in Fitch v Fitch 2 Esp 543. This was accepted by Sullivan J in R (Laing
Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire County Council /2004J 1 P&CR 573,588. In that
case the land was used for "low level agricultural activities" such as taking a hay
crop at the same time as. it was being used by the inhabitants for sports and
pastimes. No doubt the use of the land by the owner may be relevant to the
question of whether he would have regarded persons using it for sports and
pastimes as doing "as of right". But, with respect to the Jjudge,

I do not agree that the low-level agricultural activities must be regarded as
having been inconsistent with use for sports and pastimes for the purpose of
section 22 if in practice they were not. :

Nor do I follow how the fact that, upon registration, the land would become
subject to the 1857 and 1876 Acts can be relevant to the question of whether
there has been the requisite user by local inhabitants for upwards of 20 years
before the date of the application. ‘

I have a similar difficult with para 141 of the judgment of Judge Howarth in
Humphreys v Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council (unreported) 18 June 2004,
in which he decided the acts of grazing

3. Looking a the matter, as Sunningwell explained was appropriate, from the point of view of the
landowner: see R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1
AC 335 at pp 353H-353G ..

4. le Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council and Robinson [2006] 2 AC 674.

4 Page 115



Village Green application no. 595. : Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

and fertilising by the owner which, in his opinion, would have contravened the 1857 and 1876
Acts if the land had been a village green at the time, prevented the land from satisfying section 22
definition (emphasis supplied). >

4. It is easier to understand the second highlighted sentence than the first. The point
about the first sentence surely is that looked at with a narrow fbcus, sports and pastimes are
entirely inconsistent with the taking of a hay crop - the children making dens in the long grass will
get in the way of the hay cutting machines. Looked at with a broad focus, the two activities are '
entirely compatible - the hay cutting on t'he land involves 1 day out of 365 in a year. Similarly, as
regards the cattle. One cannot play football on an area where there is a herd of cows grazing. But

they will not be grazing there all the time. It's common sense, really. 6

5. Look now at that part of Lord Hoffinann's judgment in the Trap Grounds case
dealing with the rights that are established ﬁnder section 10:

50. In my view, the rational construction of section 10 is that land registered as a town or village
green can be used generally for sports and pastimes. It seems to me that Parliament must have
thought that if the land had to be kept available for one form of recreation, it would not matter a
great deal to the owner where it was used for others as well. This would be in accordance with
the common law, under which proof of a custom to play one kind of game gave rise to a right to
use the land for other games: see the Surmingwell case [2000J 1 AC 335, 35 74-C.

5. Atparagraph 57.

6. It is hard to avoid the feeling on reading Laing that in his judgment Sullivan J was trying very hard to fmd a way of holding
that 38 acres of lightly used development land had not become a town or village green. Commonsense cuts two ways in- this sort
of context. If Sullivan J had striven less hard, he would have had to determine the human rights point. Who knows where that
would have led. And perhaps Parliament would have been reluctant to enact the Commons Act 2006 if the registration of the land
at Widmer End had been upheld. ’

4?’age 116



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

51. This does not mean that the owner is altogether excluded from the land. He still
has the right to use it in any way which does not interfere with the recreational rights
of the inhabitants. There has to be give and take on both sides. Fitch v Fitch (J 797) 2
Esp 543 was a sequel to Fitch v Rawling 2 H BI 393, in which the custom of playing
cricket on land at Steeple Bumpstead had been established. The evidence was that
the defendants had trampled the grass which the owner had mowed. thrown the hay
about and mixed some of it with gravel. Heath J said at p544:

"The inhabitants have aright to take their amusement in a lawful way. It is supposed,
because they have such a right, the plaintiff should not allow the grass to grow; there
is no foundation in law for such a position. The rights of both parties are distinct, and
may exist together. If the inhabitants come in an unlawful way, or not fairly, to
exercise the right they claim of amusing themselves, or to use it in an improper way,
they are not justified under the custom pleased ... "

52. The judge, at p545, asked the jury to decide "whether the defendant had entered
the close in the fair exercise of a right, or in an improper way" and the jury found for
the plaintiff.

6. Whiéh brings us to playing fields. Take a large comprehensive school with limited money'fo
pay for security where am and pm - out of school hours - people regularly walk their dogs on the playing

field. They never come into conflict with the school's own use - the School uses the pitches every day.

7. Is this potentially a village green? Does it matter that the predominant use is the school's? In a
case where use by local people does predominate, does that trump the school's use? Obviously while the
land remains as a playing field the users can co-exist, but this will not be the case if there is a proposal to

develop it for housing.

The short point is that following the Trap Grounds case I think that it is impossible to argue that any

use that is significant (i.e. not de minimis) that is
End of Page 5

not village green use automatically defeats a village green application. Thereon in, it becomes more

difficult. [......Turns to other matters]

Disclaimer Notice: this oral presentation including answers given in any question and answer session
("the presentation") and this accompanying paper are intended for general purposes only and should not
be viewed as a comprehensive summary of the subject matters covered. Nothing said in this presentation
or contained in this paper constitutes legal or other professional advice and no warranty is given nor
liability accepted for the contents of the presentation or the accompanying paper. Philip Petchey and

Plge 117



Village Green application no. 595. Dr. Stephen Bax, August 2008

Francis Taylor Building will not accept responsibility for any loss suffered in consequence of reliance on
- information contained in the presentation or paper.

Algage 118



	Agenda
	3 Application to add two public footpaths at Grasmere Pastures, Whitstable to the Definite Map of Public Rights of Way
	Appendix A Grasmere Pastures

	4 Application to register land known as Barton Playing Field, Canterbury as a new Town Green
	Item A Barton Playing Field


